### SKTF ENTERPRISES INC Form 10QSB November 14, 2002

# U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-QSB

[X] QUARTERLY REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2002

[ ] TRANSITION REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from \_\_\_\_\_ to \_\_\_\_.

COMMISSION FILE NUMBER: 000-49688

SKTF ENTERPRISES, INC. (Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

1059 E. SKYLER DRIVE
DRAPER, UTAH
84020
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

REGISTRANT'S TELEPHONE NUMBER, INCLUDING AREA CODE (801) 361-7644

Check whether the issuer (1) filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or  $15\,\text{(d)}$  of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the past 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes X No

APPLICABLE ONLY TO ISSUERS INVOLVED IN BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDINGS DURING THE PRECEDING FIVE YEARS

Check whether the registrant filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Section 12, 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act after the distribution of securities under a plan confirmed by a court. Yes\_\_\_\_ No\_\_\_\_

APPLICABLE ONLY TO CORPORATE ISSUERS

State the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's classes of

common equity, as of the latest practicable date. As of November 5, 2002, there were 6,044,750 shares of common stock issued and outstanding.

# TRANSITIONAL SMALL BUSINESS DISCLOSURE FORMAT (check one):

Yes No X

#### SKTF ENTERPRISES, INC.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

#### PART I

Item	1	Financial Statements							
Item	2	Management's Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operations							
		PART II							
Item	1	Legal Proceedings							
Item	2	Changes in Securities and Use of Proceeds							
Item	3	Defaults Upon Senior Securities							
Item	4	Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders							
Item	5	Other Information							
Item	6	Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K							
		2							

PART I

This Quarterly Report includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"). These statements are based on management's beliefs and assumptions, and on information currently available to management. Forward-looking statements include the information concerning possible or assumed future results of operations of the Company set forth under the heading "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition or Plan of Operation." Forward-looking statements also include statements in which words such as "expect," "anticipate," "intend," "plan," "believe," "estimate," "consider" or similar expressions are used.

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. They involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. The Company's future results and shareholder values may differ materially from those expressed in these forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned not to put undue reliance on any forward-looking statements.

ITEM 1 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# SKTF ENTERPRISES, INC. (A FLORIDA DEVELOPMENT STAGE CORPORATION)

#### BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS	09/30/02
Cash	\$ 21,889
Total Assets	\$ 21,889 ======
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY	
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	\$ -
Commitments and contingencies (See Note 4)	_
Shareholders' equity: Preferred stock, \$0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized;. No shares issued or outstanding at September 30, 2002	-
Common stock, \$0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; . 6,044,750 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2002	6 <b>,</b> 045
Additional paid in capital	50,480 (34,636)
Total shareholders' equity	21,889
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity	\$ 21,889 ======

The accompanying notes and accountant's report are an  $\$ integral  $\$ part  $\$ of  $\$ these statements.

4

# SKTF ENTERPRISES, INC. (A FLORIDA DEVELOPMENT STAGE CORPORATION)

### STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

	THREE MONTHS ENDED 09/30/02	THREE MONTHS ENDED 09/30/01	NINE MONTE ENDED 09/30/02		
Revenue	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -		
Costs and expenses - Organization costs	\$ 4,667	\$ 11,408 	\$ 13,892		

Net Loss	\$	(4 <b>,</b> 667)	\$	(11,408)	\$	(13,892
	===		==		==	
Net loss per share available to common stockholders						
Basic and Diluted	\$	(0.00)	\$	(0.00)	\$	(0.00
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding.		6,013,000		6,007,416	6	,013,000

The accompanying notes and accountant's report are an  $\$ integral  $\$ part  $\$ of  $\$ these statements.

5

# SKTF ENTERPRISES, INC. (A FLORIDA DEVELOPMENT STAGE CORPORATION)

### STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

		STOCK	ADDITIONAL	DEFICIT ACCUMULATED	
	SHARES PAR VALUE		PAID-IN CAPITAL	DURING DEVELOPMENT	
Founder stock, \$0.0001 per share, issued April 20, 2001	6,000,000	\$ 6,000	\$ (5,400)	Ş	
Common stock, \$0.10 per share, issued August 8, 2001	12,000	12	1,188		
Common stock, \$0.10 per share, issued August 24, 2001 Contributed capital-services	1,000	1	99 14 <b>,</b> 199		
Net loss				(27 <b>,</b> 74	
Balance, December 31, 2001	6,013,000		\$ 10,086		
Contributed capital-services			2 <b>,</b> 569	(7,19	
Balance, March 31, 2002	6,013,000		\$ 12,655		
Contributed capital-services			1,440	(2,03	
Balance, June 30, 2002			\$ 14,095		
Common stock, \$1.00 per share issued September 30, 2002 Contributed capital-services Net loss	31,750	32	31,718 4,667	(4,66	
Balance, September 30, 2002	6,044,750	\$ 6,045			
		=========		========	

The accompanying notes and accountant's report are an integral part of these statements.

6

# SKTF ENTERPRISES, INC. (A FLORIDA DEVELOPMENT STAGE CORPORATION)

### STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

	МО	NINE MONTHS 09/30/02		INCEPTION 03/27/01 THROUGH 09/30/01		CEP /27 ROU /30
Cash flows from operating activities -						
Net loss	\$	(13,892)	\$	(11,716)	\$	(34
used in operating activities		8,676		6,856		22
Changes in assets and liabilities - Increase in payables		(4,645)		2,960		
Cash used in operating activities		(9,861)		(1,900)		(11
Cash flows from investing activities		- -		_ 		
Cash flows from financing activities - Proceeds from issuance of common stock		31,750		1,900		33
Cash provided by financing activities		31,750		1,900		33
Net increase in cash		21 <b>,</b> 889 -		_ _		21
Cash, end of the period		21,889		-	\$	21

Supplemental information -

No amounts were paid for interest or taxes during the period.

The accompanying notes and accountant's report are an integral part of these statements.

7

SKTF ENTERPRISES, INC.

(A FLORIDA DEVELOPMENT STAGE CORPORATION)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## 1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

NATURE OF OPERATIONS. The Company incorporated in Florida on March 27, 2001. The fiscal year end of the Company is December 31. Planned principal operations of the Company have not yet commenced; activities to date have been limited to forming the Company, developing its business plan, and obtaining initial capitalization. Initially, the Company will focus its efforts to develop, market and distribute branded and licensed headwear targeting niche markets. The Company plans to focus on high-end events such as, the World Series, the Super Bowl, the Indianapolis 500, the Republican and Democratic National Conventions, and others.

PRINCIPLES OF ACCOUNTING. The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

SHARES ISSUED IN EXCHANGE FOR SERVICES. The fair value of shares issued in exchange for services rendered to the Company is determined by the Company's officers and directors, as there is currently no market for the Company's stock. As of September 30, 2002, no shares have been issued for services.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS. The Company includes cash on deposit and short-term investments with original maturities less than ninety days as cash and cash equivalents in the accompanying financial statements.

ORGANIZATION COSTS. Organization costs, primarily professional fees, of approximately \$34,636 have been charged against operating income.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 2, "Accounting for Research and Development Costs." As of September 30, 2002, no costs had been incurred.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION. In accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," (FAS 123), the Company has elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," (APB 25) and related interpretations in accounting for its employee stock option plans. Under APB 25, if the exercise price of the Company's employee stock options equals or exceeds the fair value of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation is recognized. As of September 30, 2002, no options had been issued for services.

INCOME TAXES. The Company has made no provision for income taxes because of financial statement and tax losses since its inception. A valuation allowance has been used to offset the recognition of any deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty of future realization. The use of any tax loss carryforward benefits may also be limited as a result of changes in Company ownership.

## 1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS. The Company considers all liquid interestearning investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Short-term investments generally mature between three months and six months from the purchase date. All cash and short-term investments are classified as available for sale and are recorded at market using the specific identification method; unrealized gains and losses are reflected in other comprehensive income. Cost approximates market for all classifications of cash and short-term investments; realized and unrealized gains and losses were not material.

NET LOSS PER COMMON SHARE. Basic loss per common share (Basic EPS) excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net loss available to common shareholders (the numerator) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding (the denominator) during the period. Diluted loss per common share (Diluted EPS) is similar to the computation of Basic EPS except that the denominator is increased to include the number of additional common shares that would have been outstanding if the dilutive potential common shares had been issued. In addition, in computing the dilutive effect of convertible securities, the numerator is adjusted to add back the after-tax amount of interest recognized in the period associated with any convertible debt. The computation of Diluted EPS does not assume exercise or conversion of securities that would have an anti-dilutive effect on net loss per share. All potential common shares are anti-dilutive; therefore, Basic EPS equals Diluted EPS.

## 2. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

FOUNDERS' STOCK. The Company issued 6,000,000 shares of common stock on April 20, 2001 for cash totaling \$600.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION. The Company did not issue nor did it recognize stock-based compensation from Inception, March 27, 2001, through September 30, 2002.

PRIVATE PLACEMENT MEMORANDUM. On June 1, 2001, the Company began offering 100,000 shares of common stock at \$0.10 per share pursuant to a Private Placement Memorandum. All proceeds from the offering are to be used for pre-incorporation expenditures, consulting fees and working capital. Through September 30, 2002, a total of 13,000 shares were sold for \$1,300 cash.

REGISTERED OFFERING. On September 30, 2002, the Company sold 31,750 shares of common stock for \$1.00 per share, totaling \$31,750. Proceeds were used to pay back advances and to establish working capital.

STOCK OPTION PLAN. The Company's Board and shareholders approved a Stock Option Plan, effective June 1, 2001. The plan limits the aggregate number of shares available to 600,000. Each award under the plan will be evidenced by a Stock Purchase Agreement; each agreement will establish the vesting requirements and the maximum term of the options granted. As of September 30, 2002, no options had been granted.

CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL. The Company's president elected to forego a salary during the early developmental stages. Additionally, he does not charge the Company for the use of his home office. The Company estimates the value of these services, since inception, at \$3,400 and has recorded contributed capital and the related organizational expense in the accompanying financial statements.

The Company's corporate counsel has elected to provide professional services to the Company free of charge; however, the Company must reimburse him for all out

of pocket costs. The value of contributed services, since inception, determined based on hours incurred, were \$19,475 and has been recorded as organizational costs (and contributed capital) in the accompanying financial statements.

9

### 3. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

LEGAL SERVICES. The Company has engaged a shareholder as its corporate counsel. All out of pocket costs are billed as incurred; billings to date total \$1,485. See "Contributed Capital" and "Stockholder Loans and Advances" for more information about transactions with the Company's corporate counsel.

STOCKHOLDERS LOANS AND ADVANCES. From time to time, certain Company stock holders loan or advance monies to the Company. Loans bear interest at rates established at the time of the loan; advances bear no interest. While these loans and advances have no maturity dates, they are expected to be repaid as early as practicable. At September 30, 2002, all monies advanced by the Company's corporate counsel had been repaid.

## 4. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES, RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

GOING CONCERN CONTINGENCY. The Company has minimal capital resources presently available to meet obligations that normally can be expected to be incurred by similar companies, and with which to carry out its planned activities. These factors raise doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. Management is seeking additional equity financing to fund planned operations; management believes actions currently being taken provide the opportunity for the Company to continue as a going concern. However, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain such financing. The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

## 5. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company's outstanding offering was closed subsequent to September 30, 2002.

10

### ITEM 2 MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLAN OF OPERATION

The Company recently closed a public offering of up to \$1,000,000 pursuant to a Form SB-2 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. A total of 31,750 shares of our common stock were sold under the offering, which subsequently closed. Following completion of the offering, for at least the next quarter, management anticipates that SKTF will engage in very little business activity, will not hire any employees, and will not enter into any material contracts. As a result, our cash requirements will be minimal, related only to the cost of maintaining the company in good standing. Our two primary shareholders, Mr. Berg and Mr. Lebrecht, have agreed to advance funds to us to fund these minimal cash requirements that cannot otherwise be covered by the proceeds from the offering.

Management has identified a market maker file an application to list our securities on the OTC Bulletin Board.

Although we had hoped to offer products focused on the 2002 Winter Olympics, we did not take any steps to obtain the necessary licenses or

manufacture the products to do so, and did not successfully market any products at that event. During the fourth quarter of this year, we will develop a timetable of steps to be taken in order offer products for future events.

It is not anticipated that current management will be paid a salary during the  $\mbox{next}$  twelve  $\mbox{months}.$ 

Management does not anticipate that we will engage in any material product research and development because we will negotiate for the acquisition of licenses to manufacture and sell products that are already in existence.

Management does not anticipate that we will purchase a plant or significant equipment because we will enter into agreements with existing hat and clothing manufacturers to manufacture the products.

Management anticipates that over the next twelve months we will hire up to five full-time employees to oversee a temporary sales force at each location where we will sell our products. The temporary sales people will either be paid a commission based on sales, or will be paid an hourly wage plus a commission based on sales, depending on applicable laws at that location. The temporary sales people will not be offered benefits.

Our financial statements have been prepared assuming we will continue as a going concern. Because we have not generated any revenues to date and have minimal capital resources, our auditors included an explanatory paragraph in their report raising substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. We have not identified any critical accounting issues.

11

PART II

ITEM 1 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

None.

ITEM 2 CHANGES IN SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

On September 30, 2002, SKTF's offering as registered on Form SB-2 automatically terminated. On October 3, 2002, Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 was filed with the SEC terminating the offering and de-registering the 968,250 unsold shares in the offering. SKTF sold 31,750 shares in the offering at \$1.00 per share, resulting in net proceeds to SKTF of \$31,750, all of which was used for general working capital purposes and to pay legal and accounting expenses.

ITEM 3 DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

There have been no events that are required to be reported under this Item.

ITEM 4 SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

There have been no events that are required to be reported under this Item.

ITEM 5 OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 6 EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a) Exhibits

99.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted

Pursuant to Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

None.

SIGNATURES

In accordance with the requirements of the Exchange Act, the registrant caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

SKTF ENTERPRISES, INC.

Dated: November 12, 2002

/s/ Carl M. Berg

Carl M. Berg President, Director, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer

12

rate swap of \$3.1 million (\$1.9 million after tax) and environmental and other contingencies of \$1.1 million (\$0.7 million after tax) in fiscal 2009. (3) Includes executive retirement costs of \$2.9 million (\$1.8 million after tax), lower of cost or market charge of \$2.7 million (\$1.6 million after tax), restructuring charges of \$1.1 million (\$0.7 million after tax) and asset impairments of \$0.2 million (\$0.12 million after tax) in fiscal 2008. (4) In October 2009, we consummated an exchange offer to acquire all our 2.125% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2024 in an exchange for cash and 14.0 million shares of our common stock. (5) Adjusted to reflect the 1-for-5 Reverse Stock Split effected on March 5, 2010. (6) Fiscal 2008 includes 53 weeks of operating activity.

#### **Table of Contents**

### Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

#### **OVERVIEW**

We are one of North America s largest integrated manufacturers and marketers of metal products for the nonresidential construction industry. We provide metal coil coating services and design, engineer, manufacture and market metal components and engineered building systems primarily for nonresidential construction use. We manufacture and distribute extensive lines of metal products for the nonresidential construction market under multiple brand names through a nationwide network of plants and distribution centers. We sell our products for both new construction and repair and retrofit applications.

Metal components offer builders, designers, architects and end-users several advantages, including lower long-term costs, longer life, attractive aesthetics and design flexibility. Similarly, engineered building systems offer a number of advantages over traditional construction alternatives, including shorter construction time, more efficient use of materials, lower construction costs, greater ease of expansion and lower maintenance costs.

We use a 52/53 week year with our fiscal year end on the Sunday closest to October 31. As a result, our fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 included an additional week of operating activity.

We assess performance across our business segments by analyzing and evaluating (i) gross profit, operating income, and whether or not each segment has achieved its projected sales goals, (ii) non-financial efficiency indicators such as gross profit per employee, man hours per ton of steel produced and shipped tons per day. In assessing our overall financial performance, we regard return on adjusted operating assets, as well as growth in earnings, as key indicators of shareholder value.

### Fiscal 2010 Overview

In fiscal 2010, the market was much worse than fiscal 2009 which was the worst year for nonresidential construction in 50 years. In fiscal 2010, the market was down 24% to 635 million square feet of new construction starts as reported by McGraw-Hill. From the top of the last cycle in fiscal 2007, nonresidential new construction starts measured in square feet are down 62.4%. In the near term, these unprecedented low levels of demand are creating challenges for us to obtain the levels of volume and prices to allow us to generate historical margins of profitability. As a result, our fiscal 2010 profitability, while improved over fiscal 2009, continues to be below historical levels.

Despite the challenges in the market, we shipped about the same amount of tonnage in fiscal 2010 as we did in fiscal 2009. This is an important indicator that we have maintained or even enhanced our market leadership and this has occurred in each of our business segments. Our market leadership is the direct result of our business strategy, as well as the effects of this protracted downturn on some of our competitors. Several small regional fabricators of steel buildings have either closed or have reorganized their businesses to continue as providers of services, but without the manufacturing capability. Additionally, over the past several years, there has been considerable consolidation amongst the larger manufacturers of pre-engineered metal buildings and several coatings services and components manufacturers have shut down.

NCI stands to be a strong beneficiary of these structural changes in our industry when the markets recover, because of our leadership positions and our ability to serve a much larger marketplace with significantly lower infrastructure costs. We are beginning to see some positive macro indicators on the horizon. The American Institute of Architects (AIA) September billing index finally crossed the line into positive territory for the first time in 32 months though it was back on the negative side in October 2010. The commercial and industrial sector of the index, which until fiscal

2009 and 2010 accounted for 70% of our business, has had six consecutive months of growth, scoring above 50. In addition, beginning in mid-October 2010, we have experienced an increase in quoting activity and we have noted an increase in the proportion of commercial and industrial work in our backlog. As this sector has been significantly impacted over the last two years, we have aggressively moved into sectors such as energy, mining, agriculture, government and local institutional market that have been relatively active.

32

#### **Table of Contents**

### **Industry Conditions**

Our sales and earnings are subject to both seasonal and cyclical trends and are influenced by general economic conditions, interest rates, the price of steel relative to other building materials, the level of nonresidential construction activity, roof repair and retrofit demand and the availability and cost of financing for construction projects.

The nonresidential construction industry is highly sensitive to national and regional macroeconomic conditions. One of the primarily challenges we face in the short term is that the United States economy is currently undergoing a period of slowdown and unprecedented volatility which, beginning in the third quarter of 2008, has reduced demand for our products and adversely affected our business. In addition, the tightening of credit in financial markets over the same period has adversely affected the ability of our customers to obtain financing for construction projects. As a result, we have experienced decreases in and cancellations of orders for our products, and the ability of our customers to make payments has been adversely affected. Similar factors could cause our suppliers to experience financial distress or bankruptcy, resulting in temporary raw material shortages. The lack of credit also adversely affects nonresidential construction, which is the focus of our business. The graph below shows the annual nonresidential new construction starts, measured in square feet, since 1968 as complied and reported by McGraw-Hill:

Source: McGraw-Hill

In assessing the state of the metal construction market, we rely upon various industry associations, third-party research, and various government reports such as industrial production and capacity utilization. One such industry association is the Metal Building Manufacturers Association (MBMA), which provides summary member sales information and promotes the design and construction of metal buildings and metal roofing systems. Another is McGraw-Hill Construction Information Group, which we review for reports of actual and forecasted growth in various construction related industries, including the overall nonresidential construction market. McGraw-Hill Construction s nonresidential construction forecast for calendar 2010, published in October 2010, indicates an expected reduction of 18% in square footage and a decrease of 10% in dollar value as compared to the prior calendar year. In calendar 2011, the forecast is expected to increase, with an increase of 4% in dollar value in 2011 compared to 2010. Additionally, we review the AIA survey for inquiry and

33

### **Table of Contents**

billing activity for the industrial, commercial and institutional sectors. AIA s Architectural Billing Index published for October 2010 indicated that both billings levels and inquiries were modestly positive compared to October 2009.

Another challenge we face both short and long term is the volatility in the price of steel. Our business is heavily dependent on the price and supply of steel. For the fiscal year ended October 31, 2010, steel represented approximately 70% of our costs of goods sold. The steel industry is highly cyclical in nature, and steel prices have been volatile in recent years and may remain volatile in the future. Steel prices are influenced by numerous factors beyond our control, including general economic conditions domestically and internationally, competition, labor costs, production costs, import duties and other trade restrictions.

The monthly CRU North American Steel Price Index, published by the CRU Group, increased 2.6% from October 2009 to October 2010 but was 36% lower in October 2009 compared to October 2008. Steel prices increased rapidly and steeply during the first half of calendar 2008, and then began a rapid and precipitous decline in the fall of calendar 2008. In 2009, steel prices continued their decline at a precipitous rate until July 2009 when steel prices began to increase. This unusual level of volatility has negatively impacted our business. In the first two quarters of fiscal 2009, we recorded a \$40.0 million charge to cost of sales to adjust certain raw material inventory to the lower of cost or market because this inventory exceeded our estimates of net realizable value less normal profit margins. Our sales volume was significantly lower than previously anticipated and raw material prices had declined more rapidly than expected. Some customers delayed projects in an effort to wait and see how low steel prices would fall. For additional discussion of steel prices, see Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

As a result of the market downturn in 2008 and 2009, we implemented a three phase process to resize and realign our manufacturing operations. The purpose of these activities was to close some of our least efficient facilities and to retool certain of these facilities to allow us to better utilize our assets and expand into new markets or better provide products to our customers, such as insulated panel systems. As a result of the implementation of this three phase restructuring plan, we are realizing an annualized fixed cost savings compared to fiscal year 2008 in the amount of approximately \$120 million. We have incurred facility closure costs from fiscal 2008 to fiscal 2010 of \$20.3 million through October 31, 2010 related to the three phase restructuring plan and do not expect to incur significant additional costs under the plan.

We do not have any long-term contracts for the purchase of steel and normally do not maintain an inventory of steel in excess of our current production requirements. However, from time to time, we may purchase steel in advance of announced steel price increases. We can give no assurance that steel will remain available or that prices will not continue to be volatile. While most of our contracts have escalation clauses that allow us, under certain circumstances, to pass along all or a portion of increases in the price of steel after the date of the contract but prior to delivery, for competitive or other reasons we may not be able to pass such price increases along. If the available supply of steel declines, we could experience price increases that we are not able to pass on to the end users. A deterioration of service from our suppliers or interruptions or delays that may cause us not to meet delivery schedules to our customers. Any of these problems could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. For additional discussion please see Item 1. Business Raw Materials, Item 1A. Risk Factors We rely on a few major suppliers for our supply of steel, which makes us more vulnerable to supply constraints and pricing pressure, as well as the financial condition of those suppliers, Liquidity and Capital Resources Steel Prices and Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk Steel Prices.

### 2009 Recapitalization Plan and Refinancing Transaction

On October 20, 2009, we issued and sold to the CD&R Funds an aggregate of 250,000 Preferred Shares for an aggregate purchase price of \$250.0 million. The Preferred Shares are convertible into shares of our Common Stock, and, as of October 31, 2010, the Preferred Shares represented 69.4% of our voting power and Common Stock on an

as-converted basis.

As of November 1, 2009, the Preferred Shares were convertible into 39.2 million shares of Common Stock, at an initial conversion price of \$6.3740 (as adjusted for the Reverse Stock Split). However, as of

34

### **Table of Contents**

November 1, 2009, only approximately 1.8 million shares of Common Stock were authorized and unissued, and therefore the CD&R Funds were not able to fully convert the Preferred Shares. To the extent the CD&R Funds opted to convert their Preferred Shares, as of November 1, 2009, their conversion right was limited to conversion of that portion of their Preferred Shares into the approximately 1.8 million shares of Common Stock that were currently authorized and unissued. Upon previous action taken by the independent, non-CD&R board members, on March 5, 2010, we effected the Reverse Stock Split at an exchange ratio of 1-for-5. As of that date, the Preferred Shares accrued for and held by the CD&R Funds were fully convertible into 41.0 million Common Shares. As a result, we recorded an additional beneficial conversion feature charge in the amount of \$230.9 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2010 related to the availability of shares of Common Stock into which the CD&R Funds may convert their Preferred Shares. In addition, we recorded an additional \$19.4 million beneficial conversion feature charge in fiscal 2010 related to dividends that have accrued and are convertible into shares of Common Stock. In addition, we expect to recognize additional beneficial conversion feature charges on paid-in-kind dividends to the extent that the Preferred Shares are accrued and the stock price is in excess of \$6.37. Our policy is to recognize beneficial conversion feature charges on paid-in-kind dividends based on a daily dividend recognition and the daily closing stock price of our Common Stock.

Dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock are payable, on a cumulative daily basis, as and if declared by our board of directors, at a rate per annum of 12% of the sum of the liquidation preference of \$1,000 per Preferred Share plus accrued and unpaid dividends thereon or at a rate per annum of 8% of the sum of the liquidation preference of \$1,000 per Preferred Share plus any accrued and unpaid dividends thereon if paid in cash on the dividend declaration date on which such dividends would otherwise compound. Members of our board of directors who are not affiliated with the CD&R Funds, have the right to choose whether such dividends are paid in cash or in-kind, subject to the conditions of the Amended Credit Agreement and ABL Facility which either limit our ability to pay cash dividends until the first quarter of fiscal 2011 under the Amended Credit Agreement and October 20, 2010 under the ABL Facility. In addition, our Amended Credit Agreement currently restricts the payment of cash dividends to 50% of cumulative earnings beginning with the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, and in the absence of accumulated earnings, cash dividends and other cash restricted payments are limited to \$14.5 million in the aggregate during the term of the loan.

At October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, we had Preferred Shares outstanding of 272,503 and 250,000, respectively. In addition, at October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, we had accrued but unpaid cash dividends and Preferred Stock dividends with a value of \$4.2 million and \$1.0 million, respectively. As of October 31, 2010, the outstanding Preferred Shares, including accrued but unpaid dividends, were convertible into 44.3 million shares of common stock. As of October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, the aggregate liquidation preference plus aggregate accrued dividends of the Convertible Preferred Stock was \$282.5 million and \$251.0 million, respectively.

Simultaneously with the closing of the Equity Investment, we took the following actions (together with the Equity Investment, the Recapitalization Plan ):

we entered into the Amended Credit Agreement (the Amended Credit Agreement ), which was due to mature on June 18, 2010, by repaying approximately \$143 million in principal amount of the approximately \$293 million in principal amount of the term loans then outstanding and amending the terms and extending the maturity of the remaining \$150 million balance of the term loans. The term loan requires quarterly principal payments in an amount equal to 0.25% of the principal amount of the term loan outstanding as of the last day of each calendar quarter and a final payment of approximately \$136.3 million in principal at maturity on April 20, 2014. However, we made a mandatory prepayment on the Amended Credit Agreement in May 2010 in connection with our refund received resulting from the carry back of the 2009 net operating loss. As a result, we are not required to make the quarterly principal payments for the remainder of the term loan, except as required by the mandatory prepayment provisions. On December 3, 2010, we made an optional prepayment in the amount of \$2.4 million which effectively deferred our leverage ratio covenant until at least the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012.

### **Table of Contents**

we entered into the ABL Facility pursuant to a loan and security agreement, with a maximum available amount of up to \$125 million which has an additional \$50 million incremental credit facility. The ABL Facility replaces the revolving credit facility and letters of credit subfacility under our Credit Agreement, which expired on June 18, 2009. The ABL Facility has a maturity of April 20, 2014 and includes borrowing capacity of up to \$25 million for letters of credit and up to \$10 million for swingline borrowings. On December 3, 2010, we finalized an amendment of our ABL Facility that reduces the unused commitment fee from 1% or 0.75% based on the average daily balance of loans and letters of credit obligations outstanding to an annual rate of 0.5%, reduces the effective interest rate on borrowings, if any, by nearly 40% or 175 basis points and relaxes the prohibitions against paying cash dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock to allow, in the aggregate, up to \$6.5 million of cash dividends or other payments each calendar quarter, provided certain excess availability conditions or excess availability conditions and a fixed charge coverage ratio under the ABL Facility are satisfied.

we completed the Exchange Offer to acquire the \$180 million of our then-outstanding Convertible Notes for an aggregate combination of \$90.0 million in cash and 14.0 million shares of Common Stock.

The refinancing of our term loan and our entry into the revolving credit facility are further described in Debt Amended Credit Agreement and Debt ABL Facility below.

### **RESULTS OF OPERATIONS**

The following table presents, as a percentage of sales, certain selected consolidated financial data for the periods indicated:

	October 31, 2010	Fiscal year ended November 1, 2009	November 2, 2008
Sales	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
Cost of sales	80.4	77.6	75.0
Lower of cost or market adjustment		4.1	0.2
Asset impairments	0.1	0.7	0.0
Gross profit	19.5	17.6	24.8
Selling, general and administrative expenses	21.9	21.8	15.9
Goodwill and other intangible asset impairments		64.5	
Restructuring charge	0.4	0.9	0.1
Change in control charges		1.2	
Income (loss) from operations	(2.8)	(70.8)	8.8
Interest income	0.0	0.0	0.0
Interest expense	(2.0)	(3.0)	(1.8)
Debt extinguishment and refinancing costs	( <b>0.0</b> )	(10.1)	
Other (expense) income, net	0.2	0.2	(0.1)
Income (loss) before income taxes	(4.6)	(83.7)	6.9
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	(1.5)	(5.9)	2.7

Net income (loss) (3.1)% (77.8)% 4.2%

### SUPPLEMENTARY BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

We have aggregated our operations into three reportable segments based upon similarities in product lines, manufacturing processes, marketing and management of our businesses: metal coil coating; metal components; and engineered building systems. All business segments operate primarily in the nonresidential construction market. Sales and earnings are influenced by general economic conditions, the level of

36

#### **Table of Contents**

nonresidential construction activity, metal roof repair and retrofit demand and the availability and terms of financing available for construction.

Products of all our business segments use similar basic raw materials. The metal coil coating segment consists of cleaning, treating, painting and slitting continuous steel coils before the steel is fabricated for use by construction and industrial users. The metal components segment products include metal roof and wall panels, doors, metal partitions, metal trim, insulated panels and other related accessories. The engineered building systems segment includes the manufacturing of main frames, Long Bay® Systems and value-added engineering and drafting, which are typically not part of metal components or metal coil coating products or services. The reporting segments follow the same accounting policies used for our Consolidated Financial Statements.

We evaluate a segment sperformance based primarily upon operating income before corporate expenses. Intersegment sales are recorded based on standard material costs plus a standard markup to cover labor and overhead and consist of: (i) hot-rolled, light gauge painted, and slit material and other services provided by the metal coil coating segment to both the metal components and engineered building systems segments; (ii) building components provided by the metal components segment to the engineered building systems segment; and (iii) structural framing provided by the engineered building systems segment to the metal components segment.

Corporate assets consist primarily of cash but also include deferred financing costs, deferred taxes and property, plant and equipment associated with our headquarters in Houston, Texas. These items (and income and expenses related to these items) are not allocated to the business segments. Unallocated expenses include interest income, interest expense, debt extinguishment and refinancing costs and other (expense) income. Segment information is included in Note 22 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following table represents total sales, external sales and operating income attributable to these business segments for the periods indicated (in thousands, except percentages):

	2010	%	2009	%	2008	%
Total sales:						
Metal coil coating	\$ 181,874	21	\$ 169,897	18	\$ 305,657	17
Metal components	415,857	48	458,734	47	715,255	41
Engineered building systems	490,746	56	538,938	56	1,109,115	63
Intersegment sales	(217,951)	(25)	(202,317)	(21)	(367,287)	(21)
Total net sales	\$ 870,526	100	\$ 965,252	100	\$ 1,762,740	100
External sales:						
Metal coil coating	\$ 65,240	7	\$ 53,189	6	\$ 96,957	6
Metal components	328,077	38	389,132	40	600,010	34
Engineered building systems	477,209	55	522,931	54	1,065,773	60
Total net sales	\$ 870,526	100	\$ 965,252	100	\$ 1,762,740	100
<b>Operating income (loss):</b>						
Metal coil coating	\$ 16,166		\$ (99,689)		\$ 29,312	
Metal components	26,791		(130,039)		82,102	
Engineered building systems	(18,438)		(389,007)		108,152	
Corporate	(49,106)		(64,583)		(64,619)	

Edgar Filing: SKTF ENTERPRISES INC - Form 10QSB

Total operating income (loss) Unallocated other expense	\$ (24,587) (15,620)		\$ (683,318) (124,391)	\$ 154,947 (33,663)
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$ (40,207)		\$ (807,709)	\$ 121,284
		37		

### **Table of Contents**

### RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR FISCAL 2010 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2009

Consolidated sales decreased by 9.8%, or \$94.7 million for fiscal 2010, compared to fiscal 2009. This decrease resulted from lower relative sales prices in our metal components and engineered building systems segments, partially offset by a slight 0.4% increase in external tonnage volumes. Higher tonnage volumes in the metal coil coating and engineered building systems segment in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009 were driven by increased market share for such products compared to the prior year notwithstanding a 24.9% decrease in low-rise nonresidential (less than 5 stories) square-footage starts, as reported by McGraw-Hill for fiscal 2010 compared to the prior year.

Consolidated cost of sales decreased by 6.6%, or \$49.1 million for fiscal 2010, compared to fiscal 2009. Gross margins were 19.5% for fiscal 2010 compared to 17.6% for fiscal 2009. During fiscal 2009, we recorded a \$40.0 million inventory adjustment to adjust the carrying amount on certain raw material inventory to the lower of cost or market because this inventory exceeded our current estimates of net realizable value less normal profit margins, which accounted for 4.1% of the reduction in the gross margin percentage in the prior year. In addition, asset impairment charges in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009 decreased \$5.2 million primarily as a result of a \$6.3 million asset impairment charge in fiscal 2009 related to plant closures in our restructuring plan which impacted both our engineered metal buildings and metal components segments. The decrease in asset impairment charges accounted for 0.5% of the improvement in gross margin percentage in fiscal 2010.

Metal coil coating sales increased by 7.0%, or \$12.0 million to \$181.9 million in fiscal 2010, compared to \$169.9 million in the prior year. Sales to third parties for fiscal 2010 increased by 22.7% to \$65.2 million from \$53.2 million in the prior year, primarily as a result of a 8.5% increase in external volume, a shift in product mix from tolling revenue for coating services to package sales of coated steel products and a 2.1% increase in sales prices. Generally, package sales of coated steel products contribute lower margin dollars per ton as a percentage of revenue, compared to toll processing sales. Package sales include both the toll processing services and the sale of the steel coil while toll processing services include only the toll processing service performed on the steel coil already owned by the customer. In addition, there was a \$0.1 million decrease in intersegment sales for fiscal 2010 compared to the prior year. Metal coil coating third-party sales accounted for 7.5% of total consolidated third-party sales in fiscal 2010 compared to 5.5% in fiscal 2009.

Operating income (loss) of the metal coil coating segment increased to income of \$16.2 million in fiscal 2010 compared to a loss of \$(99.7) million in the prior year, primarily due to goodwill and other intangible asset impairments of \$99.0 million in the prior year and an \$8.1 million charge to adjust inventory to lower of cost or market in the same period in the prior year. In addition, there was a \$8.9 million increase in gross profit in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009 primarily due to lower costs as a result of increased material utilization and improved fixed cost absorption with higher volumes.

Metal components sales decreased 9.3%, or \$42.9 million to \$415.9 million in fiscal 2010, compared to \$458.7 million in the prior year. Sales were down compared to prior year due to a 13.8% decrease in external tons shipped and lower sales prices. Sales to third parties for fiscal 2010 decreased \$61.1 million to \$328.1 million from \$389.1 million in the prior year. The remaining \$18.2 million represents an increase in intersegment sales. These results were primarily driven by lower steel prices, reduced demand and increased competition in the market resulting from the general weakness of nonresidential construction activity in fiscal 2010. Metal components third-party sales accounted for 37.7% of total consolidated third-party sales in fiscal 2010 compared to 40.3% in fiscal 2009.

Operating income (loss) of the metal components segment increased to income of \$26.8 million in fiscal 2010, compared to a loss of \$(130.0) million in the prior year. This \$156.8 million increase resulted from charges related to goodwill and other intangible asset impairment of \$147.2 million in the same period in the prior year, a \$17.2 million adjustment to inventory at the lower of cost or market in the same period in the prior year, a \$0.8 million decrease in

restructuring charges and \$0.6 million decrease in asset impairment charges. In addition, the increase in operating income was the result of a \$5.0 million decrease in selling and administrative expenses. These reductions were comprised of a \$1.8 million decrease in wage, benefit and temporary labor costs resulting from the reduced workforce and cost reduction programs implemented during

38

#### **Table of Contents**

the prior year, a \$1.5 million decrease in bad debt expense and a \$1.0 million decrease in healthcare costs as a result of a reduction in claims, partially offset by a \$0.6 million increase in general liability claims. These improvements were partially offset by a \$14.0 million decrease in gross profit due to decreased volumes and declines in relative sales prices noted above.

Engineered building systems sales decreased 8.9%, or \$48.2 million to \$490.7 million in fiscal 2010, compared to \$538.9 million in the prior year. This decrease resulted from lower sales prices, partially offset by a 4.4% increase in external tons shipped. Sales to third parties for fiscal 2010 decreased \$45.7 million to \$477.2 million from \$522.9 million in the same period in the prior year. The remaining \$2.5 million represents a similar decrease in intersegment sales. These results were driven by lower steel prices, reduced overall demand and increased competition in the market resulting from the general weakness of nonresidential construction activity in fiscal 2010. Engineered building systems third-party sales accounted for 54.8% of total consolidated third-party sales in fiscal 2010 compared to 54.2% in fiscal 2009.

The operating loss of the engineered building systems segment decreased to \$(18.4) million in fiscal 2010 compared to \$(389.0) million in the prior year. This \$370.6 million improvement resulted from prior year charges related to goodwill and other intangible asset impairments of \$376.4 million, a \$14.7 million adjustment in inventory to the lower of cost or market, a \$4.4 million decrease in restructuring charges, a \$3.4 million decrease in asset impairment charges, and a \$1.1 million environmental remediation charge. In addition, the decrease in operating loss was the result of a \$12.8 million decrease in selling and administrative expenses that resulted from a \$6.4 million decrease in wage, benefit and temporary labor costs due to a reduced workforce and cost reduction programs implemented during the prior year, a \$3.7 million decrease in healthcare costs as a result of a reduction in claims, a \$1.5 million decrease in professional services and a \$0.9 million decrease in marketing and advertising costs, partially offset by a \$1.4 million increase in other various costs. These improvements were partially offset by a \$40.3 million decrease in gross profit due to declines in relative sales prices and volumes noted above.

Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses, consisting of engineering, drafting, selling and administrative costs, decreased to \$190.9 million in fiscal 2010, compared to \$210.8 million in the prior year. The decrease in selling and administrative expenses was primarily due to a \$9.4 million decrease in wage, benefit and temporary labor costs due to a reduced workforce and cost reduction programs implemented during the prior year. The remaining decrease was the result of a \$4.3 million decrease in healthcare costs as a result of a reduction in claims, a \$1.9 million decrease in professional services, a \$1.2 million decrease in franchise and sales tax, a \$1.1 million decrease in bad debt expense and a \$0.9 million decrease in marketing and advertising costs, partially offset by a \$1.4 million increase in other various costs. As a percentage of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses were 21.9% for fiscal 2010 as compared to 21.8% for fiscal 2009.

Consolidated goodwill and other intangible asset impairment in fiscal 2009 was \$622.6 million. No impairments were recorded in fiscal 2010. The prior year s impairment impacted all of our reporting segments and was the result of the reduction of our future cash flow projections in the first quarter of fiscal 2009 due to the outlook of a worsening condition in the nonresidential construction industry and the result of reconciling our segment fair values to our publicly traded market capitalization.

Consolidated restructuring charges decreased to \$3.5 million in fiscal 2010, compared to \$9.1 million in the prior year. This decrease was primarily related to the closing of six of our engineered building systems manufacturing plants in the prior year. The purpose of these activities was to close some of our least efficient facilities in light of current demand levels and to retool certain of these facilities to allow us to better utilize our assets and expand into new markets or better provide products to our customers.

Consolidated change in control charges for fiscal 2009 in the amount of \$11.2 million included \$9.1 million in share-based compensation expense from the accelerated vesting of our stock incentive plans upon the change in control of our Company. We also incurred a \$1.5 million charge in fiscal 2009 related to a new director and officer insurance policy upon the majority change of our board of directors. No amounts were recorded in fiscal 2010.

39

### **Table of Contents**

Consolidated interest expense decreased by 38.7% to \$17.9 million for fiscal 2010, compared to \$29.2 million for the prior year. In fiscal 2009, we recorded \$8.4 million for the accretion of the discounted carrying value of the Convertible Notes to their face amount. In addition, we recorded a \$3.1 million charge to interest expense in fiscal 2009 related to our interest rate swap contract. In connection with our 2009 refinancing, we concluded the interest rate swap agreement was no longer an effective hedge, based on the modified terms of the Amended Credit Agreement which includes a 2% LIBOR floor. As a result, in 2009 we have reclassified to interest expense the remaining deferred losses previously recorded to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). In addition, interest expense decreased in fiscal 2010 due to a reduction of our outstanding debt as a result of our refinancing in October 2009. These decreases were partially offset by higher interest rates associated with the variable portion of our outstanding debt.

Consolidated debt extinguishment and refinancing costs were income of \$0.1 million in fiscal 2010, compared to an expense of \$97.6 million in the prior year. These costs related to our refinancing which was completed on October 20, 2009. The costs incurred in fiscal 2009 primarily consisted of \$85.3 million related to debt extinguishment of our Convertible Notes, \$6.4 million related to payments to non-creditors on the modification of our Credit Agreement and \$4.8 million related to our abandoned plan for potential pre-packaged bankruptcy.

Consolidated benefit for income taxes decreased to a benefit of \$(13.3) million for fiscal 2010, compared to a benefit of \$(56.9) million for prior year. The decrease was primarily due to a \$767.5 million decrease in pre-tax losses. The effective tax rate for fiscal 2010 was a benefit of 33.2% compared to a benefit of 7.0% in the prior year. The increase in the effective tax rate benefit was predominantly due to non-deductible goodwill impairment costs which reduced the effective tax rate by 27.0% in the prior year and the non-deductible premium on the retirement of our Convertible Notes which reduced the effective tax rate by 4.1% in prior year.

Consolidated Convertible Preferred Stock dividends and accretion increased to \$34.1 million for fiscal 2010 compared to \$1.2 million in the prior year and related to \$31.4 million of paid and accrued dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock which accrues and accumulates dividends on a daily basis. The dividend rate accrued during such period was 12% per annum.

Consolidated Convertible Preferred Stock beneficial conversion feature increased to \$250.3 million for fiscal 2010 compared to \$10.5 million in the prior year and related to the beneficial conversion feature on the Convertible Preferred Stock because it was issued on October 20, 2009 with an initial conversion price \$6.3740 (as adjusted for the Reverse Stock Split) and the closing stock price per Common Share just prior to the closing of the equity investment by the CD&R Funds (further described in Liquidity and Capital Resources Convertible Preferred Stock ) was \$12.55 (as adjusted for the Reverse Stock Split). As a result of the Reverse Stock Split on March 5, 2010, the contingencies related to the 41.0 million shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Preferred Shares were resolved. We recorded an additional beneficial conversion feature charge in the amount of \$230.9 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2010 related to the availability of shares of Common Stock into which the CD&R Funds may convert their Preferred Shares. In addition, we recorded an additional \$19.4 million beneficial conversion feature charge in fiscal 2010 related to dividends that have accrued and are convertible into shares of Common Stock. In addition, we expect to recognize additional beneficial conversion feature charges on paid-in-kind dividends to the extent that the Preferred Shares are accrued and the stock price is in excess of \$6.37.

Diluted loss per common share decreased to a loss of \$(17.07) per diluted share for fiscal 2010, compared to a loss of \$(171.18) per diluted share for the prior year. The decrease in the diluted loss per share was predominantly due to a \$451.3 million decrease in net loss applicable to shares of our Common Stock resulting from the factors described above in this section. In addition, the weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding increased by 13.8 million due in large part to the Exchange Offer. In connection with the Exchange Offer, we issued 14.0 million shares of Common Stock. In addition to the Exchange Offer, our 2009 refinancing transaction included the issuance of \$250 million of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock which required the use of the two-class method in determining

diluted earnings per share for fiscal 2010, but did not increase the weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding. At October 31, 2010,

40

#### **Table of Contents**

the Preferred Shares were convertible into 44.3 million shares of Common Stock. In addition, the Convertible Preferred Stock and the unvested restricted Common Stock related to our Incentive Plan do not have a contractual obligation to share in losses; therefore, no losses were allocated in both periods presented. These participating securities will be allocated earnings when applicable.

### RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR FISCAL 2009 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2008

Consolidated sales for fiscal 2009 decreased 45.2%, or \$797.5 million, from fiscal 2008. This decrease resulted from a 37.9% decrease in external tonnage volumes, partially offset by higher relative sales prices as a result of higher steel costs in the engineered building systems and metal components segments. Lower tonnage volumes in all three of our segments in fiscal 2009 compared with fiscal 2008 were driven by reduced demand for such products which is affirmed by the 42.2% reduction in low-rise nonresidential (less than 5 stories) square-footage starts as reported by McGraw Hill during fiscal 2009 compared with fiscal 2008.

Consolidated cost of sales decreased by 43.4% for fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008. Gross margins were 17.6% for fiscal 2009 compared to 24.8% for the prior fiscal year. During fiscal 2009, we recorded a \$40.0 million inventory adjustment, which accounted for 4.1% of the reduction in the gross margin percentage, to adjust the carrying amount on certain raw material inventory to the lower of cost or market because this inventory exceeded our current estimates of net realizable value less normal profit margins. Although we took steps to reduce our variable and fixed costs throughout the year, margins decreased across all three segments due to increased price competition and allocation of fixed costs over substantially reduced sales. In addition, we recorded a \$6.3 million asset impairment charge, which accounted for 0.7% of the reduction in gross margin percentage, for certain assets primarily within the engineered building systems segment and at our corporate operations.

Metal coil coating sales decreased 44.4%, or \$135.8 million to \$169.9 million in fiscal 2009, compared to \$305.7 million in the prior fiscal year. Sales to third parties for fiscal 2009 decreased 45.1% to \$53.2 million from \$97.0 million in the prior fiscal year as a result of a 16.1% decrease in external tonnage volumes, a 19.9% decrease in sales prices, and a shift in product mix from package sales of coated steel products to toll processing revenue for coating services. These results are primarily driven by reduced demand and increased competition in the market resulting from the general weakness of nonresidential construction activity in fiscal 2009. In addition, there was a \$92.0 million decrease in intersegment sales during fiscal 2009 compared with fiscal 2008, which represents a 44.1% reduction in intersegment volume. Metal coil coating third-party sales accounted for 5.5% of total consolidated third-party sales in both fiscal 2009 and 2008.

Operating income (loss) of the metal coil coating segment decreased in fiscal 2009 to a loss of \$(99.7) million, compared to income of \$29.3 million in the prior fiscal year primarily due to goodwill and other intangible asset impairments of \$99.0 million, an incremental \$5.4 million charge to adjust inventory to lower of cost or market, and a remaining \$26.3 million decrease in gross profit due to the declines in volumes and relative sales prices discussed above. The gross margins were lower primarily due to lower relative sales prices than in the prior year, a 16.1% decrease in tonnage volumes on sales to third parties compared to the prior year, and a 38.5% decrease in intersegment tonnage sold compared to the prior year. In addition, operating income in fiscal 2008 included an out of period pretax charge of \$0.9 million to correct work-in-process standard costs.

Metal components sales decreased 35.9%, or \$256.5 million to \$458.7 million in fiscal 2009, compared to \$715.3 million in the prior fiscal year. Sales were down primarily due to a 30.5% decrease in external tons shipped compared to the prior year. Sales to third parties for fiscal 2009 decreased \$210.9 million to \$389.1 million from \$600.0 million in the prior fiscal year. The remaining \$45.6 million represents a similar decrease in intersegment sales. These results are primarily driven by reduced demand and increased competition in the market resulting from the general weakness of nonresidential construction activity in 2009. Metal components third-party sales accounted

for 40.3% of total consolidated third-party sales in fiscal 2009 compared to 34.0% in fiscal 2008.

Operating income (loss) of the metal components segment decreased in fiscal 2009 to a loss of \$(130.0) million, compared to income of \$82.1 million in the prior fiscal year. This \$212.1 million decrease

41

### **Table of Contents**

resulted from charges related to goodwill and other intangible asset impairments of \$147.2 million, a \$17.2 million inventory lower of cost or market adjustment, a \$0.3 million increase in restructuring charges, and a remaining \$60.4 million decrease in gross profit due to the declines in volumes and relative sales prices noted above, all partially offset by a \$13.7 million decrease in selling and administrative expenses. We have recorded restructuring charges of \$1.3 million in fiscal 2009 related to the closure of one of our manufacturing plants compared to restructuring charges of \$1.0 million in fiscal 2008 to exit our residential overhead door product line. The \$13.7 million decrease in selling and administrative expenses was primarily due to a \$10.2 million decrease in wage and benefit costs due to lower headcount and incentive compensation and across the board decreases in other various expenses in response to the lower levels of business activity.

Engineered building systems sales decreased 51.4%, or \$570.2 million to \$538.9 million in fiscal 2009, compared to \$1.11 billion in the prior fiscal year. This decrease resulted from a 52.1% decrease in external tons shipped, partially offset by slightly higher average sales prices. Sales to third parties for fiscal 2009 decreased \$542.8 million to \$522.9 million from \$1.07 billion in the prior fiscal year. Intersegment sales decreased by \$27.3 million compared to fiscal 2008. These results are primarily driven by reduced demand, increased competition in the market, and the impact of the significant rise in steel prices in the second half of fiscal 2008 that declined throughout fiscal 2009. Engineered building systems third-party sales accounted for 54.2% of total consolidated third-party sales in fiscal 2009 compared to 60.5% in fiscal 2008.

Operating income (loss) of the engineered building systems segment decreased in fiscal 2009 to a loss of \$(389.0) million, compared to income of \$108.2 million in the prior fiscal year. This \$497.2 million decrease resulted from charges related to goodwill and other intangible asset impairments of \$376.4 million, restructuring charges of \$7.4 million in fiscal 2009, a \$14.7 million inventory lower of cost or market adjustment, an incremental \$4.2 million asset impairment charge and a remaining \$136.9 million decrease in gross profit due to the declines in volumes and relative sales prices noted above, partially offset by a \$42.4 million decrease in selling and administrative expenses. The \$42.4 million decrease in selling and administrative expenses was primarily due to a \$40.9 million decrease in wage and benefit costs and temporary labor costs due to lower headcount and lower incentive compensation and across the board decreases in other various expenses in response to the lower levels of business activity.

Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses, consisting of engineering, drafting, selling and administrative costs, decreased to \$210.8 million in fiscal 2009 compared to \$280.7 million in the prior fiscal year. The decrease in selling and administrative expenses was primarily due to a \$59.3 million decrease in wage and benefit costs and temporary labor costs due to lower headcount and lower incentive compensation. We also had a \$2.9 million decrease in executive retirement costs due primarily to accelerated vesting of certain restricted stock grants of former executives upon retirement in fiscal 2008. The remaining decrease was the result of a \$2.5 million decrease in pre-tax share-based compensation costs, a \$2.2 million decrease in bad debt expense, a \$1.7 million decrease in travel and entertainment costs, a \$1.6 million decrease in advertising costs and decreases in other various expenses due to managed lower levels of activity. As a percentage of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses were 21.8% for fiscal 2009 compared to 15.9% for fiscal 2008.

Consolidated goodwill and other intangible asset impairment was \$622.6 million in fiscal 2009 compared with no amount recorded in the prior fiscal year. This increase impacted all three of our reporting segments and was the result of the reduction of our future cash flow projections in the first quarter of fiscal 2009, our lowering projected cash flows and implementing Phase III of our restructuring plan in the second quarter of fiscal 2009.

Consolidated restructuring charge increased to \$9.1 million in fiscal 2009 compared with \$1.1 million in the prior year s period. This increase was primarily related to our plan to close six of our engineered building systems manufacturing plants. The purpose of these closures was to rationalize our least efficient facilities and to retool certain of these facilities to allow us to better utilize our assets and expand into new markets or better provide products to our

customers. Included in the prior year was a \$1.0 million charge related to the plan to exit our residential overhead door product line which is included in our metal components segment.

42

### **Table of Contents**

Consolidated change in control charges for fiscal 2009 in the amount of \$11.2 million related primarily to \$9.1 million in share-based compensation expense upon the accelerated vesting of our stock incentive plans upon the change in control of our Company. We also incurred a \$1.5 million charge related to a new director and officer insurance policy upon the majority change of our board of directors.

Consolidated interest income for fiscal 2009 decreased by 63.8% to \$0.4 million, compared to \$1.1 million for the prior fiscal year. This decrease was primarily due to lower interest rates on our cash balances during fiscal 2009 compared to the prior fiscal year.

Consolidated interest expense for fiscal 2009 decreased by 10.2% to \$29.2 million, compared to \$32.6 million for the prior fiscal year. Lower market interest rates reduced the interest expense associated with the variable portion of our outstanding debt, partially offset by a \$3.1 million charge related to our interest rate swap contract. In connection with our 2009 refinancing, we concluded the interest rate swap agreement was no longer an effective hedge, based on the modified terms of the Amended Credit Agreement which includes a 2% LIBOR floor. As a result, we have reclassified to interest expense the remaining deferred losses previously recorded to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Consolidated provision for income taxes for fiscal 2009 decreased to a benefit of \$(56.9) million, compared to a provision of \$48.0 million for the prior fiscal year. The decrease was primarily due to a \$929.0 million decrease in pre-tax earnings (loss). The effective tax rate for fiscal 2009 was 7.0% compared to 39.6% for the prior fiscal year. This decrease was primarily due to non-deductible goodwill impairment costs and the non-deductible premium on the retirement of our Convertible Notes.

Consolidated debt extinguishment and refinancing costs for fiscal 2009 were \$97.6 million and related to our refinancing, which was completed on October 20, 2009. These costs primarily consisted of \$85.3 million related to debt extinguishment of our Convertible Notes, \$6.4 million related to payments to non-creditors on the modification of our Credit Agreement, \$4.8 million of costs related to our abandoned plan for pre-packaged bankruptcy.

Consolidated convertible preferred stock dividends and accretion for fiscal 2009 was \$1.2 million and related primarily to \$1.1 million of accrued dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock which accrues and accumulates on a daily basis and was accrued for the last thirteen days of fiscal 2009 at the 12% paid in-kind rate.

Consolidated convertible preferred stock beneficial conversion feature for fiscal 2009 was \$10.5 million and related to the beneficial conversion feature on the Convertible Preferred Stock because it was issued with a conversion price of \$6.3740 per common share equivalent and the closing stock price per common share just prior to the execution of the Equity Investment was \$12.55. Because only 1.6 million of the potentially 39.2 million common shares, if converted, are authorized and unissued at November 1, 2009, only \$10.5 million of the beneficial conversion feature is recognized in fiscal 2009.

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share for fiscal 2009 decreased to a loss of \$(171.18) per diluted share, compared to earnings of \$18.49 per diluted share for the prior fiscal year. The decrease was primarily due to an \$835.8 million decrease in net income (loss) applicable to common shares resulting from the factors described above. In addition, the weighted average number of common shares outstanding increased by 0.5 million due to the completion of our Convertible Notes exchange offer in the last month of our fiscal year. In connection with the exchange offer, we issued 14.0 million common shares. In addition to the Convertible Notes exchange offer, our 2009 refinancing transaction included the issuance of \$250 million of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock which required the use of the two-class method in determining diluted earnings per share, but did not increase the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. The Convertible Preferred Stock will be convertible into 39.2 million common shares and will only be included in the weighted average common shares outstanding under the if-converted method which is

required when it results in a lower earnings per share than determined under the two-class method.

43

#### **Table of Contents**

### LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

### General

On October 31, 2010, we had working capital of \$147.6 million compared to \$140.5 million at the end of fiscal 2009, a \$7.1 million increase. The increase in working capital during fiscal 2010 was due in large part to an increase in inventory as a result of historically low inventory levels at the end of fiscal 2009 and decreases in accrued liabilities. Our cash and cash equivalents decreased \$13.0 million to \$77.4 million at October 31, 2010 compared to \$90.4 million at November 1, 2009. The decrease in cash resulted from \$13.3 million of cash used in investing activities and \$6.0 million of cash used in financing activities, partially offset by \$6.3 million of cash provided by operating activities. The cash used in investing activities related to \$14.0 million used for capital expenditures predominantly related to the purchase of an idle facility for our metal coil coating segment, a new insulated panel system facility and computer software. The cash used in financing activities was related to \$15.4 million of note payable and term loan payments, partially offset by a \$10.1 million release in restricted cash. The cash provided by operating activities was impacted by a \$6.6 million increase in working capital and non-current assets and \$12.9 million in cash provided by operations.

We invest our excess cash in various overnight investments which are issued or guaranteed by the federal government.

### Debt

We have an Amended Credit Agreement (the Amended Credit Agreement ) which includes \$150 million in term loans. The term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement will mature on April 20, 2014 and, prior to that date, will amortize in nominal quarterly installments equal to 0.25% of the principal amount of the term loan then outstanding as of the last day of each calendar quarter. However, we made a mandatory prepayment on the Amended Credit Agreement in May 2010 in connection with our tax refund received resulting from the carry back of the 2009 net operating loss. As a result, we are not required to make the quarterly principal payments for the remainder of the term loan, except as required by the mandatory prepayment provisions. At October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, amounts outstanding under our Amended Credit Agreement were \$136.3 million and \$150.0 million, respectively.

In addition to our Amended Credit Agreement, we have an ABL Facility which allows aggregate maximum borrowings of up to \$125.0 million. Borrowing availability on the ABL Facility is determined by a monthly borrowing base collateral calculation that is based on specified percentages of the value of qualified cash, eligible inventory and eligible accounts receivable, less certain reserves and subject to certain other adjustments. The ABL Facility has a maturity of April 20, 2014 and includes borrowing capacity of up to \$25 million for letters of credit and up to \$10 million for swingline borrowings. At October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, our excess availability under the ABL Facility was \$73.8 million and \$70.4 million, respectively. There were no amounts outstanding under the ABL Facility at both October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009. In addition, at October 31, 2010, letters of credit totaling approximately \$8.1 million were outstanding under the ABL Facility. There were no letters of credit outstanding under the ABL Facility at November 1, 2009. On December 3, 2010, we finalized an amendment of our ABL Facility that reduces the unused commitment fee from 1% or 0.75% based on the average daily balance of loans and letters of credit obligations outstanding to an annual rate of 0.5%, reduces the effective interest rate on borrowings, if any, by nearly 40% or 175 basis points and relaxes the prohibitions against paying cash dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock to allow, in the aggregate, up to \$6.5 million of cash dividends or other payments each calendar quarter, provided certain excess availability conditions or excess availability conditions and a fixed charge coverage ratio under the ABL Facility are satisfied.

Capital Structure. On October 20, 2009 (the Closing Date ), we closed the \$250 million Equity Investment. As a result of the Equity Investment, the CD&R Funds own 250,000 shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, representing

approximately 68.4% of the voting power and common stock of the Company on an as-converted basis. Simultaneously with the closing of the Equity Investment,

44

### **Table of Contents**

we entered into the Amended Credit Agreement (the Amended Credit Agreement ), which was due to mature on June 18, 2010, by repaying approximately \$143 million in principal amount of the approximately \$293 million in principal amount of the term loans then outstanding and amending the terms and extending the maturity of the remaining \$150 million balance of the term loans. The term loan requires quarterly principal payments in an amount equal to 0.25% of the principal amount of the term loan outstanding as of the last day of each calendar quarter and a final payment of approximately \$136.3 million in principal at maturity on April 20, 2014. However, we made a mandatory prepayment on the Amended Credit Agreement in May 2010 in connection with our refund received resulting from the carry back of the 2009 net operating loss. As a result, we are not required to make the quarterly principal payments for the remainder of the term loan, except as required by the mandatory prepayment provisions. On December 3, 2010, we made an optional prepayment in the amount of \$2.4 million which effectively deferred our leverage ratio covenant until at least the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012.

we entered into the ABL Facility pursuant to a loan and security agreement, with a maximum available amount of up to \$125 million which has an additional \$50 million incremental credit facility. The ABL Facility replaces the revolving credit facility and letters of credit subfacility under our Credit Agreement, which expired on June 18, 2009. The ABL Facility has a maturity of April 20, 2014 and includes borrowing capacity of up to \$25 million for letters of credit and up to \$10 million for swingline borrowings. On December 3, 2010, we finalized an amendment of our ABL Facility that reduces the unused commitment fee from 1% or 0.75% based on the average daily balance of loans and letters of credit obligations outstanding to an annual rate of 0.5%, reduces the effective interest rate on borrowings, if any, by nearly 40% or 175 basis points and relaxes the prohibitions against paying cash dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock to allow, in the aggregate, up to \$6.5 million of cash dividends or other payments each calendar quarter, provided certain excess availability conditions or excess availability conditions and a fixed charge coverage ratio under the ABL Facility are satisfied.

we completed the Exchange Offer to acquire the \$180 million of our then-outstanding Convertible Notes for an aggregate combination of \$90.0 million in cash and 14.0 million shares of Common Stock.

Amended Credit Agreement. The Company s obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement and any interest rate protection agreements or other permitted hedging agreement entered into with any lender under the Amended Credit Agreement are irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several basis by each direct and indirect domestic subsidiary of the Company (other than any domestic subsidiary that is a foreign subsidiary holding company or a subsidiary of a foreign subsidiary). Our obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement and the permitted hedging agreements and the guarantees thereof are secured pursuant to a guarantee and collateral agreement, dated as of October 20, 2009, made by the Company and other grantors (as defined therein), in favor of the term loan administrative agent and term loan collateral agent, by (i) all of the capital stock and other equity interests of all direct domestic subsidiaries owned by the Company and the guarantors, (ii) up to 65% of the capital stock of certain direct foreign subsidiaries of the Company or any guarantor (it being understood that a foreign subsidiary holding company or a domestic subsidiary of a foreign subsidiary will be deemed a foreign subsidiary) and (iii) substantially all other tangible and intangible assets owned by the Company and each guarantor, including liens on material real property, in each case to the extent permitted by applicable law. The liens securing the obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement, the permitted hedging agreements and the guarantees thereof are first in priority (as between the Amended Credit Agreement and the ABL Facility) with respect to stock, material real property and assets other than accounts receivable, inventory, associated intangibles and certain other specified assets of the Company and the guarantors. Such liens are second in priority (as between the Amended Credit Agreement and the ABL Facility) with respect to accounts receivable, inventory, associated intangibles of the Company and certain other specified assets of the guarantors.

The Amended Credit Agreement contains a number of covenants that, among other things, limit or restrict our ability to dispose of assets, incur additional indebtedness, incur guarantee obligations, prepay other indebtedness, make dividends and other cash restricted payments, create liens, make investments, make acquisitions, engage in mergers, change the nature of our business and engage in certain transactions with affiliates.

45

## **Table of Contents**

The Amended Credit Agreement has no financial covenants until October 20, 2011, at which time the maximum consolidated leverage ratio of net indebtedness to EBITDA is 5 to 1. This ratio steps down by 0.25 each quarter until October 28, 2012 at which time the maximum ratio is 4 to 1. The ratio continues to step down by 0.125 each quarter until November 3, 2013, to a ratio of 3.5 to 1, which remains the maximum ratio for each fiscal quarter thereafter. We will, however, not be subject to this financial covenant with respect to a specified period if certain prepayments or repurchases of the term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement are made in the specified period. Based on our prepayments made through October 31, 2010, the leverage ratio covenant has been effectively deferred until at least the third quarter of fiscal 2012. Net indebtedness is defined as consolidated debt less the lesser of cash or \$50 million. At October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, our consolidated leverage ratio was 5.36 and 2.25, respectively. On December 3, 2010, we made an optional prepayment in the amount of \$2.4 million which effectively deferred our leverage ratio covenant until at least the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012. We expect to make additional prepayments on our Amended Credit Agreement in fiscal 2011.

Term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement may be repaid at any time, without premium or penalty but subject to customary LIBOR breakage costs. We also have the ability to repurchase a portion of the term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement, subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement. In addition, the term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement are subject to mandatory prepayment and reduction in an amount equal to:

the net cash proceeds of (1) certain asset sales, (2) certain debt offerings and (3) certain insurance recovery and condemnation events;

50% of annual excess cash flow (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) for any fiscal year ending on or after October 31, 2010, unless a specified leverage ratio target is met; and

the greater of \$10.0 million and 50% of certain 2009 tax refunds received by the Company resulting from the carry back of the 2009 net operating loss received by the Company.

We made a mandatory prepayment on the Amended Credit Agreement in May 2010 in connection with our refund received resulting from the carry back of the 2009 net operating loss. An additional \$13.3 million in principal amount of the term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement was classified as current portion of long-term debt in our Consolidated Balance Sheet at November 1, 2009 as a result of this expected mandatory prepayment. As a result, we are not required to make the quarterly principal payments for the remainder of the term loan, except as required by the mandatory prepayment provisions.

Term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement bear interest, at our option, as follows:

- (1) Base Rate loans at the Base Rate plus a margin, which for term loans is 5% until October 30, 2011. After that date, the margin fluctuates based on our leverage ratio and shall be either 5% or 3.5%. As of the first fiscal quarter commencing January 30, 2012, the margin in each case increases by 0.25% per annum on the first day of each fiscal quarter unless the aggregate principal amount of term loans outstanding under the Amended Credit Agreement in the immediately preceding fiscal quarter of the Company has been reduced by \$3,750,000 (excluding scheduled principal amortization payments), less any prior reductions not previously applied to prevent an increase in the applicable margin, and
- (2) LIBOR loans at LIBOR (having a minimum rate of 2%) plus a margin, which for term loans is 6% until October 30, 2011. After that date, the LIBOR-linked margin fluctuates based on our leverage ratio and shall be either 6% or 4.5%. As of the first fiscal quarter commencing January 30, 2012, the margin in each case increases by 0.25% per annum on the first day of each fiscal quarter unless the aggregate principal amount of term loans outstanding

under the Amended Credit Agreement in the immediately preceding fiscal quarter of the Company has been reduced by \$3,750,000 (excluding scheduled principal amortization payments), less any prior reductions not previously applied to prevent an increase in the applicable margin. At October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, the interest rate on our Amended Credit Agreement was 8.0%.

46

#### **Table of Contents**

Overdue amounts will bear interest at a rate that is 2% higher than the rate otherwise applicable. Base rate is defined as the highest of (i) the Wachovia Bank, National Association prime rate, (ii) the overnight Federal Funds rate plus 0.5% and (iii) 3.0% and LIBOR is defined as the applicable London interbank offered rate (not to be less than 2%) adjusted for reserves.

ABL Facility. On December 3, 2010, we finalized an amendment of our ABL Facility that reduces the unused commitment fee from 1% or 0.75% based on the average daily balance of loans and letters of credit obligations outstanding to an annual rate of 0.5%, reduces the effective interest rate on borrowings, if any, by nearly 40% or 175 basis points and relaxes the prohibitions against paying cash dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock to allow, in the aggregate, up to \$6.5 million of cash dividends or other payments each calendar quarter, provided certain excess availability conditions or excess availability conditions and a fixed charge coverage ratio under the ABL Facility are satisfied.

The obligations of the borrowers under the ABL Facility are guaranteed by the Company and each direct and indirect domestic subsidiary of the Company (other than any domestic subsidiary that is a foreign subsidiary holding company or a subsidiary of a foreign subsidiary) that is not a borrower under the ABL Facility. The obligations of the Company under certain specified bank products agreements are guaranteed by each borrower and each other direct and indirect domestic subsidiary of the Company and the other guarantors. These guarantees are made pursuant to a guarantee agreement, dated as of October 20, 2009, entered into by the Company and each other guarantor with Wells Fargo Foothill, LLC, as administrative agent.

The obligations under the ABL Facility, and the guarantees therefore, are secured by a first priority lien on our accounts receivable, inventory, certain deposit accounts, associated intangibles and certain other specified assets of the Company and a second priority lien on the assets securing the term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement on a first-lien basis.

The ABL Facility contains a number of covenants that, among other things, limit or restrict our ability to dispose of assets, incur additional indebtedness, incur guarantee obligations, engage in sale and leaseback transactions, prepay other indebtedness, modify organizational documents and certain other agreements, create restrictions affecting subsidiaries, make dividends and other cash restricted payments, create liens, make investments, make acquisitions, engage in mergers, change the nature of our business and engage in certain transactions with affiliates.

Under the ABL Facility, a Dominion Event occurs if either an event of default is continuing or excess availability falls below certain levels, during which period, and for certain periods thereafter, the administrative agent may apply all amounts in the Company s, the borrowers and the other guarantors concentration accounts to the repayment of the loans outstanding under the ABL Facility, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement. In addition, during such Dominion Event, we are required to make mandatory payments on our ABL Facility upon the occurrence of certain events, including the sale of assets and the issuance of debt, in each case subject to certain limitations and conditions set forth in the ABL Facility. If excess availability under the ABL Facility falls below certain levels, our ABL Facility also requires us to satisfy set financial tests relating to our fixed charge coverage ratio.

The ABL Facility includes a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of one to one, which will apply if we fail to maintain a specified minimum level of borrowing capacity. At October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, our fixed charge coverage ratio was 1.01 and 1.78, respectively.

Loans under the ABL Facility bear interest, at our option, as follows:

(1) Base Rate loans at the Base Rate plus a margin. The margin was 3.50% through April 30, 2010 and thereafter ranges from 3.25% to 3.75% depending on the quarterly average excess availability under such facility, and

(2) LIBOR loans at LIBOR plus a margin. The margin was 4.50% through April 30, 2010 and thereafter ranges from 4.25% to 4.75% depending on the quarterly average excess availability under such facility.

47

#### **Table of Contents**

On December 3, 2010, we finalized an amendment of our ABL Facility that, among other items, reduces the effective interest rate on borrowings, if any, by nearly 40% or 175 basis points. As a result, Base Rate loans bear interest at the Base Rate plus a margin of 1.50% to 2.00% depending on the quarter average excess availability under such facility. LIBOR loans bear an interest at the Base Rate plus a margin of 2.50% to 3.0%.

#### Convertible Preferred Stock Dividends

As a result of certain restrictions on dividend payments in our Amended Credit Agreement and ABL Facility, the dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock for each quarter of fiscal 2010, with the exception for the December 15, 2010 payment, were paid in-kind at a pro rata rate of 12% per annum. On December 15, 2010, we paid the \$5.55 million Convertible Preferred Stock dividend in cash at a pro rata rate of 8% per annum. The determination of cash payment versus payment in-kind or PIK of the Convertible Preferred Stock dividends hereafter will be made each quarter adhering to the limitations of our Amended Credit Agreement and ABL Facility as well as the Company s intermediate and long term cash flow requirements. Our Amended Credit Agreement currently restricts the payment of cash dividends to 50% of cumulative earnings beginning with the fourth quarter of 2009, and in the absence of accumulated earnings, cash dividends and other cash restricted payments are limited to \$14.5 million in the aggregate during the term of the loan.

#### Cash Flow

We periodically evaluate our liquidity requirements, capital needs and availability of resources in view of inventory levels, expansion plans, debt service requirements and other operating cash needs. To meet our short- and long-term liquidity requirements, including payment of operating expenses and repaying debt, we rely primarily on cash from operations. However, we have recently, as well as in the past, sought to raise additional capital.

We expect that, for the next 12 months, cash generated from operations will be sufficient to provide us the ability to fund our operations, provide the working capital necessary to support our strategy and fund planned capital expenditures of approximately \$18 million for fiscal 2011 and expansion when needed. We expect to receive between \$12 million and \$13 million in fiscal 2011 related to a federal income tax refund for current losses carried back to 2008.

We have used available funds to repurchase shares of our Common Stock under our stock repurchase program though we have no intention to repurchase shares in the near-term. Although we did not purchase any Common Stock during fiscal 2010 under the stock repurchase program, we did withhold shares of restricted stock to satisfy tax withholding obligations arising in connection with the vesting of awards of restricted stock related to our 2003 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan.

Our corporate strategy seeks potential acquisitions which provide additional synergies in our metal coil coating, metal components and engineered building systems segments. From time to time, we may enter into letters of intent or agreements to acquire assets or companies in these business lines. The consummation of these transactions could require cash payments and/or issuance of additional debt.

The Company may from time to time repurchase or otherwise retire the Company s debt and take other steps to reduce the Company s debt or otherwise improve the Company s financial position. These actions may include open market debt repurchases, negotiated repurchases, other retirements of outstanding debt and opportunistic refinancing of debt. The amount of debt that may be repurchased or otherwise retired, if any, will depend on market conditions, trading levels of the Company s debt, the Company s cash position, compliance with debt covenants and other considerations. Affiliates of the Company may also purchase the Company s debt from time to time, through open market purchases or other transactions. In such cases, the Company s debt may not be retired, in which case the Company would continue

to pay interest in accordance with the terms of the debt, and the Company would continue to reflect the debt as outstanding in it is consolidated balance sheet.

48

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Steel Prices

Our business is heavily dependent on the price and supply of steel. Our various products are fabricated from steel produced by mills to forms including bars, plates, structural shapes, sheets, hot-rolled coils and galvanized or Galvalume®-coated coils. The steel industry is highly cyclical in nature, and steel prices have been volatile in recent years and may remain volatile in the future. Steel prices are influenced by numerous factors beyond our control, including general economic conditions, domestically and internationally, the availability of raw materials, competition, labor costs, freight and transportation costs, production costs, import duties and other trade restrictions. We believe the CRU North American Steel Price Index, published by the CRU Group since 1994 appropriately depicts the volatility in steel prices. See Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk Prices. During fiscal 2010 and 2009, steel prices fluctuated significantly due to market conditions ranging from a high point on the CRU Index of 182 to a low point of 140 in fiscal 2010 and fluctuated significantly from a high point on the CRU Index of 187 to a low point of 112 in fiscal 2009. Rapidly declining demand for steel due to the effects of the credit crisis and global economic slowdown on the construction, automotive and industrial markets has resulted in many steel manufacturers around the world cutting production by closing plants and furloughing workers throughout 2009. Steel suppliers such as US Steel and Arcelor Mittal are among these manufacturers who have cut production and some steel suppliers have been cautious to increase capacity in 2010 during the slow economic recovery. Given the anticipated additional domestic market capacity and generally low inventories in the industry, we believe steel prices will be moderately higher, on average, in fiscal 2011 as compared with prices we experienced during fiscal 2010.

Although we have the ability to purchase steel from a number of suppliers, a production cutback by one or more of our current suppliers could create challenges in meeting delivery schedules to our customers. Because we have periodically adjusted our contract prices, particularly in the engineered building systems segment, we have generally been able to pass increases in our raw material costs through to our customers. Because the metal coil coating and metal components segments have shorter lead times, they have the ability to react to steel price increases closer to the time they occur without revising contract prices for existing orders. For additional discussion please see Item 1A. Risk Factors.

We rely on a few major suppliers for our supply of steel and may be adversely affected by the bankruptcy, change in control, financial condition or other factors affecting those suppliers. During fiscal 2010, we purchased approximately 36% of our steel requirements from two vendors in the United States. No other vendor accounted for over 10% of our steel requirements during fiscal 2010. Due to unfavorable market conditions and our inventory supply requirements, during fiscal 2010, we purchased insignificant amounts of steel from foreign suppliers. Limiting purchases to domestic suppliers further reduces our available steel supply base. Therefore, announced production cutbacks, a prolonged labor strike against one or more of our principal domestic suppliers, or financial or other difficulties of a principal supplier that affects its ability to produce steel, could have a material adverse effect on our operations. Furthermore, if one or more of our current suppliers is unable for financial or any other reason to continue in business or to produce steel sufficient to meet our requirements, essential supply of our primary raw materials could be temporarily interrupted and our business could be adversely affected. However, alternative sources, including foreign steel, are currently believed to be sufficient to maintain required deliveries. For additional information about the risks of our raw material supply and pricing, see Item 1A. Risk Factors.

#### **NON-GAAP MEASURES**

Set forth below are certain non-GAAP measures which include adjusted operating income (loss), adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per common share and adjusted EBITDA. Such measurements are not prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and should not be construed as an alternative to reported results determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Management believes the use of such non-GAAP measures on a consolidated and business segment basis

assists investors in understanding the ongoing operating performance by presenting the financial results between periods on a more comparable basis. In addition, certain financial covenants related to our Amended Credit Agreement and ABL Facility are based on similar non-GAAP measures. The

49

### **Table of Contents**

non-GAAP information provided is unique to the Company and may not be consistent with the methodologies used by other companies.

The following tables reconcile adjusted operating income (loss) to operating income (loss) for the periods indicated (in thousands):

	For the Three Months Ended October 31, 2010 Engineered										
	Metal Coil Coating	_	Metal aponents	Building Systems		C	orporate	Consolidated			
Operating income (loss), GAAP basis Asset impairments	\$ 3,754	\$	8,820 221	\$	(3,859)	\$	(12,489)	\$	(3,774) 221		
Restructuring charges Pre-acquisition contingency adjustment			95		1,533 178				1,628 178		
Adjusted operating income (loss)	\$ 3,754	\$	9,136	\$	(2,148)	\$	(12,489)	\$	(1,747)		

	For the Three Months Ended November 1, 2009(1) Engineered											
	Metal Coil Coating		Metal mponents	Bu	ilding stems	C	Corporate		solidated			
Operating income (loss), GAAP basis Change of control charges Asset impairments	\$ 6,037	\$	13,557	\$	515 347	\$	(23,803) 11,168	\$	(3,694) 11,168 347			
Restructuring charges Environmental and other contingency adjustments			74		1,469 1,115		21		1,564 1,115			
Adjusted operating income (loss)	\$ 6,037	\$	13,631	\$	3,446	\$	(12,614)	\$	10,500			

		J	For the Yo		anded Octo Igineered	ber	31, 2010			
	Metal Coil Coating	Metal Components		Building Systems		C	orporate	Consolidated		
Operating income (loss), GAAP basis Asset impairments Restructuring charges	\$ 16,166	\$	26,791 147 510	\$	(18,438) 923 3,022	\$	(49,106)	\$	(24,587) 1,070 3,532	
Pre-acquisition contingency adjustment			310		178				178	

Adjusted operating income (loss) \$ 16,166 \$ 27,448 \$ (14,315) \$ (49,106) \$ (19,807)

For the Year Ended November 1, 2009
Engineered

			Engineereu			
	Metal Coil Coating	Metal Components	Building Systems	Corporate	Consolidated	
Operating income (loss), GAAP basis	\$ (99,689)	\$ (130,039)	\$ (389,007)	\$ (64,583)	\$ (683,318)	
Goodwill and other intangible asset						
impairment	98,959	147,239	376,366		622,564	
Lower of cost or market charge	8,102	17,152	14,732		39,986	
Change in control charges				11,168	11,168	
Asset impairments		714	4,368	1,209	6,291	
Restructuring charges	103	1,306	7,440	203	9,052	
Environmental and other contingency						
adjustments			1,115		1,115	
Adjusted operating income (loss)	\$ 7,475	\$ 36,372	\$ 15,014	\$ (52,003)	\$ 6,858	

50

### **Table of Contents**

(1) Amounts have been retrospectively adjusted as a result of the adoption, effective November 2, 2009, of ASC Subtopic 470-20, *Debt with Conversion and Other Options*.

The following tables reconcile adjusted diluted loss per common share to loss per diluted common share and adjusted loss applicable to common shares to loss applicable to common shares for the periods indicated (in thousands):

	Fiscal Th						
	$\mathbf{E}_{1}$	nded		Fiscal Year Ended			
	ober 31, 2010		rember 1, 009(1)	Oc	tober 31, 2010	No	vember 1, 2009
Net loss per diluted common share, GAAP basis(2) Goodwill and other intangible asset impairment	\$ (1.01)	\$	(17.66)	\$	(17.07)	\$	(171.18) 136.26
Debt extinguishment and refinancing costs	(0.01)		16.01				21.70
Lower of cost or market adjustment							5.85
Convertible preferred stock beneficial conversion							
feature	0.23		1.78		13.73		2.39
Change of control			1.16				1.56
Restructuring charge	0.05		0.12		0.12		1.27
Asset impairments	0.01		0.01		0.03		0.88
Gain on embedded derivative					(0.03)		
Interest rate swap			0.32				0.43
Pre-acquisition contingency adjustment	0.01				0.01		
Environmental and other contingency adjustments			0.12				0.16
Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per common share	\$ (0.72)	\$	1.86	\$	(3.21)	\$	(0.68)

		ree Months	T. 187	T 1 1
	October 31, 2010	November 1, 2009(1)	October 31, 2010	ear Ended November 1, 2009
Net loss applicable to common shares, GAAP				
basis(2)	\$ (18,556)	\$ (104,688)	\$ (311,227)	\$ (753,633)
Goodwill and other intangible asset impairment				599,966
Debt extinguishment and refinancing costs	(163)	94,925	(49)	95,559
Lower of cost or market adjustment				25,773
Convertible preferred stock beneficial conversion				
feature	4,242	10,526	250,294	10,526
Change of control		6,880		6,880
Restructuring charge	1,058	716	2,296	5,576
Asset impairments	144	35	696	3,875
Gain on embedded derivative	(4)		(609)	
Interest rate swap		1,893		1,893
Pre-acquisition contingency adjustment	116		116	

Environmental and other contingency adjustments 687

Adjusted net income (loss) applicable to common

\$\text{shares} \\$ (13,163) \\$ 10,974 \\$ (58,483) \\$ (2,898)

- (1) 2009 amounts have been retrospectively adjusted as a result of the adoption, effective November 2, 2009, of ASC Subtopic 470-20, *Debt with Conversion and Other Options*, and ASC Subtopic 260-10, *Earnings per Share*.
- (2) Adjusted to reflect the 1-for-5 Reverse Stock Split effected on March 5, 2010.

51

The following table reconciles adjusted EBITDA to Net income (loss) for the periods indicated (in thousands):

						T	railing 12
	Quarter nuary 31, 2010	-	2nd Quarter May 2, 2010	d Quarter August 1, 2010	n Quarter ctober 31, 2010		Months ctober 31, 2010
Net loss	\$ (10,486)	\$	(7,656)	\$ (3,299)	\$ (5,436)	\$	(26,877)
Add:							
Depreciation and amortization	7,521		7,480	7,457	7,309		29,767
Consolidated interest expense,							
net	4,507		4,670	4,392	4,258		17,827
Provision for taxes	(5,779)		(5,536)	(221)	(1,794)		(13,330)
Non cash charges:							
Stock based compensation	801		1,403	1,374	1,375		4,953
Asset impairments (recovery)	1,029		(116)	(64)	221		1,070
Embedded derivative	(919)		(4)	(7)	(7)		(937)
Pre-acquisition contingency							
adjustment					178		178
Cash restructuring charges	524		829	551	1,628		3,532
Transaction costs	174				(250)		(76)
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ (2,628)	\$	1,070	\$ 10,183	\$ 7,482	\$	16,107

						Tr	ailing 12
	t Quarter bruary 1, 2009	2nd Quarter ay 3, 2009	3rd Quarter August 2, 2009	No	n Quarter vember 1, 2009(1)		Months vember 1, 2009
Net income (loss)	\$ (529,981)	\$ (121,571)	\$ 2,607	\$	(101,851)	\$	(750,796)
Add:							
Depreciation and							
amortization	8,324	8,436	7,586		7,640		31,986
Consolidated interest							
expense, net	6,623	6,168	6,487		9,578		28,856
Provision for taxes	(34,861)	(16,382)	1,825		(7,495)		(56,913)
Non cash charges:							
Stock based compensation	1,372	1,177	1,241		1,045		4,835
Goodwill and intangible							
impairment	517,628	104,936					622,564
Asset impairments							
(recovery)	623	5,295	26		347		6,291
	29,378	10,608					39,986

Edgar Filing: SKTF ENTERPRISES INC - Form 10QSB

Lower of cost or market					
charges					
Cash restructuring charges	2,479	3,796	1,213	1,564	9,052
Transaction costs		629	401	107,718	108,748
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 1,585	\$ 3,092	\$ 21,386	\$ 18,546	\$ 44,609

<sup>(1)</sup> Amounts have been retrospectively adjusted as a result of the adoption, effective November 2, 2009, of ASC Subtopic 470-20, *Debt with Conversion and Other Options*, and ASC Subtopic 260-10, *Earnings per Share*.

#### **OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS**

As part of our ongoing business, we do not participate in transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities (SPEs), which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. As of October 31, 2010, we were not involved in any unconsolidated SPE transactions.

#### **CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS**

The following table shows our contractual obligations as of October 31, 2010 (in thousands):

	Payments due by period										
		Less than	4-5	More than							
Contractual Obligation	Total	1 year	1-3 years	years	5 years						
Total debt	\$ 136,305	\$	\$	\$ 136,305	\$						
Interest payments on debt(1)	51,924	14,630	28,918	8,376							
Convertible Preferred Stock dividend(2)	320,495	21,869	49,295	57,758	191,573						
Operating leases	9,749	4,565	3,236	889	1,059						
Other purchase obligations(3)	9,606	5,631	3,975								
Projected pension obligations(4)	10,730		2,860	3,170	4,700						
Other long-term obligations(5)	911	402	428	81							
Total contractual obligations	\$ 539,720	\$ 47,097	\$ 88,712	\$ 206,579	\$ 197,332						

- (1) Interest payments were calculated based on rates in effect at October 31, 2010 for variable rate obligations.
- (2) We have the option to pay dividends required by our Convertible Preferred Stock in cash or paid in-kind beginning in fiscal 2011. For simplicity, we have assumed cash dividends of 8% will be paid until the Convertible Preferred Stock can be either called by us or put to us by the CD&R funds on the tenth anniversary of the Closing Date. However, if at any time after the 30 month anniversary of the Closing Date, the trading price of the common stock of the Company exceeds 200% of the initial conversion price (as defined in the Certificate of Designation) for each of 20 consecutive trading days, the dividend rate (excluding any applicable adjustments as a result of a default) will become 0.00%.
- (3) Includes various agreements for steel delivery obligations, gas contracts, transportation services and telephone service obligations. In general, purchase orders issued in the normal course of business can be terminated in whole or part for any reason without liability until the product is received. Steel consignment inventory from our suppliers does not constitute a purchase commitment and are not included in our table of contractual obligations. However, it is our current practice to purchase all consignment inventory that remains in consignment after an agreed term. Consignment inventory at October 31, 2010 is estimated to be approximately \$14 million.
- (4) Amounts represent our estimate of the minimum funding requirements as determined by government regulations. Amounts are subject to change based on numerous assumptions, including the performance of the assets in the

plan and bond rates.

(5) Includes contractual payments and projected supplemental retirement benefits to or on behalf of former executives.

### CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

Our insurance carriers require us to secure standby letters of credit as a collateral requirement for our projected exposure to future period claims growth and loss development which includes incurred but not reported, or IBNR, claims. For all insurance carriers, the total standby letters of credit are approximately \$10.8 million and \$12.1 million at October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, respectively.

53

#### **Table of Contents**

#### CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, which require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those estimates that may have a significant effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Our significant accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements. The following discussion of critical accounting policies addresses those policies that are both important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and require significant judgment and estimates. We base our estimates and judgment on historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

*Revenue recognition.* We recognize revenues when all of the following conditions are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the price is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. Generally, these criteria are met at the time product is shipped or services are complete. Provisions are made upon the sale for estimated product returns. Costs associated with shipping and handling our products are included in cost of sales.

Insurance accruals. We have a self-funded Administrative Services Only ( ASO ) arrangement for our employee group health insurance. We purchase individual stop-loss protection to cap our medical claims liability at \$250,000 per claim. Each reporting period, we record the costs of our health insurance plan, including paid claims, an estimate of the change in incurred but not reported ( IBNR ) claims, taxes and administrative fees, when applicable, (collectively the Plan Costs ) as general and administrative expenses and cost of sales in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. The estimated IBNR claims are based upon (i) a recent average level of paid claims under the plan, (ii) an estimated lag factor and (iii) an estimated growth factor to provide for those claims that have been incurred but not yet paid. We have deductible programs for our Workers Compensation/Employer Liability and Auto Liability insurance policies, and a self-insured retention (SIR) arrangement for our General Liability insurance policy. The Workers Compensation/Employer Liability deductible is \$500,000 per occurrence. The Auto Liability deductible is \$250,000 per occurrence. The General Liability has a self-insured retention of \$350,000 per occurrence. For workers compensation costs, we monitor the number of accidents and the severity of such accidents to develop appropriate estimates for expected costs to provide both medical care and indemnity benefits, when applicable, for the period of time that an employee is incapacitated and unable to work. These accruals are developed using third-party estimates of the expected cost for medical treatment, and length of time an employee will be unable to work based on industry statistics for the cost of similar disabilities, to include statutory impairment ratings. For general liability and automobile claims, accruals are developed based on third-party estimates of the expected cost to resolve each claim, including damages and defense costs, based on legal and industry trends, and the nature and severity of the claim. Accruals also include estimates for IBNR claims, and taxes and administrative fees, when applicable. This statistical information is trended by a third-party actuary to provide estimates of future expected costs based on loss development factors derived from our period-to-period growth of our claims costs to full maturity (ultimate), versus original estimates.

We believe that the assumptions and information used to develop these accruals provide the best basis for these estimates each quarter because, as a general matter, the accruals have historically proven to be reasonable and accurate. However, significant changes in expected medical and health care costs, negative changes in the severity of previously reported claims or changes in laws that govern the administration of these plans could have an impact on the determination of the amount of these accruals in future periods. Our methodology for determining the amount of health insurance accrual considers claims growth and claims lag, which is the length of time between the incurred date and processing date. For the health insurance accrual, a change of 10% in the lag assumption would result in a financial impact of \$0.4 million.

*Share-Based Compensation.* Under ASC Topic 718, *Compensation - Stock Compensation*, the fair value and compensation expense of each option award is estimated as of the date of grant using a Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing formula. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility of our stock over a

54

#### **Table of Contents**

preceding period commensurate with the expected term of the option. The expected volatility considers factors such as the volatility of our share price, implied volatility of our share price, length of time our shares have been publicly traded, appropriate and regular intervals for price observations and our corporate and capital structure. The forfeiture rate in our calculation of share-based compensation expense is based on historical experience and is estimated at 10% for our non-officers and 0% to 10% for our officers. The risk-free rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. Expected dividend yield was not considered in the option pricing formula since we historically have not paid dividends and have no current plans to do so in the future. We granted 1.8 million options during the fiscal year ended October 31, 2010. There were no options granted during the fiscal years ended November 1, 2009 and November 2, 2008.

The compensation cost related to these share-based awards is recognized over the requisite service period. The requisite service period is generally the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award.

Our option awards and restricted stock awards are subject to graded vesting over a service period, which is typically four years. We recognize compensation cost for these awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award. In addition, certain of our awards provide for accelerated vesting upon qualified retirement. We recognize compensation cost for such awards over the period from grant date to the date the employee first becomes eligible for retirement.

*Income taxes.* The determination of our provision for income taxes requires significant judgment, the use of estimates and the interpretation and application of complex tax laws. Our provision for income taxes reflects a combination of income earned and taxed in the various U.S. federal and state, Canadian federal and provincial as well as Mexican federal jurisdictions. Jurisdictional tax law changes, increases or decreases in permanent differences between book and tax items, accruals or adjustments of accruals for tax contingencies or valuation allowances, and the change in the mix of earnings from these taxing jurisdictions all affect the overall effective tax rate.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we must consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We consider all available evidence in determining whether a valuation allowance is required. Such evidence includes the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities and projected future taxable income in making this assessment, and judgment is required in considering the relative weight of negative and positive evidence. At October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, we had a full valuation allowance in the amount of \$5.2 million and \$5.0 million, respectively, on the deferred tax assets of Robertson Building Systems Ltd., our Canadian subsidiary. As of October 31, 2010, we expect to fully utilize the net U.S. deferred tax assets of \$5.8 million against future operating income. However, in the event our expectations of future operating results change, a valuation allowance may be required on our existing unreserved net U.S. deferred tax assets.

Accounting for acquisitions, intangible assets and goodwill. Accounting for the acquisition of a business requires the allocation of the purchase price to the various assets and liabilities of the acquired business. For most assets and liabilities, purchase price allocation is accomplished by recording the asset or liability at its estimated fair value. The most difficult estimations of individual fair values are those involving property, plant and equipment and identifiable intangible assets. We use all available information to make these fair value determinations and, for major business acquisitions such as RCC, typically engage an outside appraisal firm to assist in the fair value determination of the acquired long-lived assets.

In connection with the acquisition of Garco, we recorded intangible assets for trade names, backlog, customer relationships and non-competition agreements in the amount of \$0.8 million, \$0.7 million, \$2.5 million and \$1.8 million, respectively. All Garco intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives. Garco s trade names are being amortized over 15 years based on our expectation of our use of the trade names.

Garco s backlog was amortized over one year because items in Garco s backlog were expected to be delivered within one year. Garco s customer lists and relationships are being amortized over fifteen years based on a review of the historical length of Garco s customer retention experience. Garco s non-competition agreements are being amortized over their agreement terms of five years.

55

#### **Table of Contents**

In connection with the acquisition of RCC, we recorded intangible assets for trade names, backlog and customer relationships in the amount of \$24.7 million, \$2.3 million and \$6.3 million, respectively. Trade names were determined to have indefinite useful lives and so are not amortized. Trade names were determined to have indefinite lives due to the length of time the trade names have been in place, with some having been in place for decades. Our past practice with other acquisitions and our current intentions are to maintain the trade names indefinitely. This judgmental assessment of an indefinite useful life must be continuously evaluated in the future. If, due to changes in facts and circumstances, management determines that these intangible assets then have definite useful lives, amortization will commence at that time on a prospective basis. As long as these intangible assets are judged to have indefinite lives, they will be subject to periodic impairment tests that require management s judgment of the estimated fair value of these intangible assets. We assess impairment of our non-amortizing intangibles at least annually in accordance with ASC Topic 350, Intangibles Goodwill and Other (ASC 350). All other intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives. RCC s backlog was amortized over one year because items in RCC s backlog were expected to be delivered within one year. RCC s customer relationships are being amortized over fifteen years based on a review of the historical length of RCC s customer retention experience. See Note 6 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, for additional information.

We recorded approximately \$277.3 million of goodwill as a result of the RCC acquisition. Goodwill of \$17.0 million, \$17.8 million and \$242.5 million had been recorded in our metal coil coating, metal components and engineered building systems segments, respectively. We perform a test for impairment of all our goodwill annually as prescribed by ASC 350. The fair value of our reporting units is based on a blend of estimated discounted cash flows, publicly traded company multiples and acquisition multiples. The results from each of these models are then weighted and combined into a single estimate of fair value for our one remaining reporting unit. Estimated discounted cash flows are based on projected sales and related cost of sales. Publicly traded company multiples and acquisition multiples are derived from information on traded shares and analysis of recent acquisitions in the marketplace, respectively, for companies with operations similar to ours. The primary assumptions used in these various models include earnings multiples of acquisitions in a comparable industry, future cash flow estimates of each of our reporting units, weighted average cost of capital, working capital and capital expenditure requirements. During fiscal 2008, we adopted an approach to the computation of the terminal value in the discounted cash flow method, using the Gordon growth model instead of a market based EBITDA multiple approach. We have not made any material changes in our impairment assessment methodology during each fiscal year of 2010 and 2009. We do not believe the estimates used in the analysis are reasonably likely to change materially in the future but we will continue to assess the estimates in the future based on the expectations of the reporting units. Changes in assumptions used in the fair value calculation could result in an estimated reporting unit fair value that is below the carrying value, which may give rise to an impairment of goodwill.

We perform an annual assessment of the recoverability of goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles. Additionally, we assess goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that such carrying values may not be recoverable. Unforeseen events, changes in circumstances and market conditions and material differences in the value of intangible assets due to changes in estimates of future cash flows could negatively affect the fair value of our assets and result in a non-cash impairment charge. Some factors considered important that could trigger an impairment review include the following: significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business and significant sustained negative industry or economic trends. In Fiscal 2010, our one remaining reporting Units Fair Value would have had to have been lower by more than 20% compared to the fair value estimated in our impairment analysis before its carrying value would exceed the fair value of the reporting unit, indicating that goodwill was potentially impaired. See Note 6 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

As of October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, our goodwill was \$5.2 million. The results of our fiscal year 2010 annual assessment of the recoverability of goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles indicated that the fair value of the Company s one remaining reporting unit was in excess of the carrying value of that

56

#### **Table of Contents**

reporting unit, including goodwill, and thus no impairment existed in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010. In fiscal 2010, our one remaining reporting unit s fair value would have had to have been lower by more than 20% compared to the fair value estimated in our impairment analysis before its carrying value would exceed the fair value of the reporting unit, indicating that goodwill was potentially impaired.

Allowance for doubtful accounts. Our allowance for doubtful accounts reflects reserves for customer receivables to reduce receivables to amounts expected to be collected. Management uses significant judgment in estimating uncollectible amounts. In estimating uncollectible accounts, management considers factors such as current overall economic conditions, industry-specific economic conditions, historical customer performance and anticipated customer performance. While we believe these processes effectively address our exposure for doubtful accounts and credit losses have historically been within expectations, changes in the economy, industry, or specific customer conditions may require adjustments to the allowance for doubtful accounts. During fiscal years 2010, 2009 and 2008, we established new reserves for doubtful accounts of \$0.1 million, \$1.2 million and \$3.5 million, respectively. Additionally, in each of the three fiscal years ended October 31, 2010, we wrote off uncollectible accounts of \$3.9 million, \$2.5 million and \$2.1 million, respectively, all of which had been previously reserved.

Inventory valuation. In determining the valuation of inventory, we record an allowance for obsolete inventory using the specific identification method for steel coils and other raw materials. Management also reviews the carrying value of inventory for lower of cost or market. Our primary raw material is steel coils which have historically shown significant price volatility. We generally manufacture to customers—orders, and thus maintain raw materials with a variety of ultimate end uses. We record a lower of cost or market charge to cost of sales when the net realizable value (selling price less estimated cost of disposal), based on our intended end usage, is below our estimated product cost at completion. Estimated net realizable value is based upon assumptions of targeted inventory turn rates, future demand, anticipated finished goods sales prices, management strategy and market conditions for steel. If projected end usage or projected sales prices change significantly from management—s current estimates or actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, inventory write-downs may be required.

Steel prices have recently experienced an unusual level of volatility. As a result, we adjusted our raw material inventory to the lower of cost or market in fiscal 2008 because this inventory exceeded our current estimates of net realizable value less normal profit margins. At October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, all inventory with a lower of cost or market adjustment was fully utilized.

Property, plant and equipment valuation. We assess the recoverability of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the lowest level asset grouping for which cash flows can be separately identified, which may be at an individual asset level, plant level or divisional level depending on the intended use of the related asset, if certain events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the carrying amount of those assets. Events and circumstances which indicate an impairment include (a) a significant decrease in the market value of the assets; (b) a significant change in the extent or manner in which an asset is being used or in its physical condition; (c) a significant change in our business conditions; (d) an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected for the acquisition or construction of an asset; (e) a current-period operating or cash flow loss combined with a history of operating or cash flow losses or a projection that demonstrates continuing losses associated with the use of an asset; or (f) a current expectation that, more likely than not, an asset will be sold or otherwise disposed of significantly before the end of its previously estimated useful life. We assess our assets for impairment on a quarterly basis.

If we determine that the carrying value of an asset is not recoverable based on expected undiscounted future cash flows, excluding interest charges, we record an impairment loss equal to the excess of the carrying amount of the asset over its fair value. The fair value of assets is determined based on prices of similar assets adjusted for their remaining

useful life. During fiscal 2009, we adjusted our property, plant and equipment because we determined that the carrying value of certain assets were not recoverable based on expected undiscounted future cash flows. We recorded asset impairments of \$6.3 million in fiscal 2009.

57

#### **Table of Contents**

Contingencies. We establish reserves for estimated loss contingencies when we believe a loss is probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Our contingent liability reserves are related primarily to litigation and environmental matters. Revisions to contingent liability reserves are reflected in income in the period in which there are changes in facts and circumstances that affect our previous assumptions with respect to the likelihood or amount of loss. Reserves for contingent liabilities are based upon our assumptions and estimates regarding the probable outcome of the matter. We estimate the probable cost by evaluating historical precedent as well as the specific facts relating to each particular contingency (including the opinion of outside advisors, professionals and experts). Should the outcome differ from our assumptions and estimates or other events result in a material adjustment to the accrued estimated reserves, revisions to the estimated reserves for contingent liabilities would be required and would be recognized in the period the new information becomes known.

Beneficial conversion features and dividend policy. Our Convertible Preferred Stock contains beneficial conversion features. We recorded a beneficial conversion feature charge in the amount of \$230.9 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2010 related to the availability of shares of Common Stock into which the CD&R Funds may convert their Preferred Shares. In addition, we recorded an additional \$19.4 million beneficial conversion feature charge in fiscal 2010 related to dividends that have accrued and are convertible into shares of Common Stock. In addition, we expect to recognize additional beneficial conversion feature charges on paid-in-kind dividends to the extent that the Preferred Shares are accrued and the stock price is in excess of \$6.37. Our policy is to recognize beneficial conversion feature charges on paid-in-kind dividends based on a daily dividend recognition and the daily closing stock price of our Common Stock. We believe this recognition policy is reasonable as our policy matches the legal transfer and conversion rights of the majority shareholder.

At any time prior to the Dividend Rate Reduction Event, if dividends are not declared in cash on the applicable dividend declaration date, the rate at which the dividends are payable will be at least 12% per annum. Prior to the vote of the Dividend Payment Committee, the Company is obligated to the 12% dividend rate. Therefore, we accrue dividends based on the 12% rate and if and when we determine the dividends will be paid in cash on the applicable dividend declaration date, we will record a subsequent benefit of the excess 4% accrual upon our board s declaration of a cash dividend and reverse the beneficial conversion feature charge associated with such accrual.

### RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

None.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

#### Steel Prices

We are subject to market risk exposure related to volatility in the price of steel. For the fiscal year ended October 31, 2010, steel constituted approximately 70% of our cost of sales. Our business is heavily dependent on the price and supply of steel. Our various products are fabricated from steel produced by mills to forms including bars, plates, structural shapes, sheets, hot-rolled coils and galvanized or Galvalume®-coated coils. The steel industry is highly cyclical in nature, and steel prices have been volatile in recent years and may remain volatile in the future. Steel prices are influenced by numerous factors beyond our control, including general economic conditions domestically and internationally, the availability of raw materials, competition, labor costs, freight and transportation costs, production costs, import duties and other trade restrictions. Rapidly declining demand for steel due to the effects of the credit crisis and global economic slowdown on the construction, automotive and industrial markets has resulted in many steel manufacturers around the world cutting production by closing plants and furloughing workers throughout 2009. Steel suppliers such as US Steel and Arcelor Mittal are among these manufacturers who have cut production and some steel suppliers have been cautious to increase capacity in 2010 during the slow economic recovery. Given the level of

consolidation, the anticipated additional domestic market capacity and generally low inventories in the industry, we believe steel prices will continue to be volatile and will be moderately higher, on average, in fiscal 2011 as compared with the prices we experienced during fiscal 2010.

58

#### **Table of Contents**

Although we have the ability to purchase steel from a number of suppliers, a production cutback by one or more of our current suppliers could create challenges in meeting delivery schedules to our customers. Because we have periodically adjusted our contract prices, particularly in the engineered building systems segment, we have generally been able to pass increases in our raw material costs through to our customers. The graph below shows the monthly CRU Index data for the North American Steel Price Index over the historical five-year period. The CRU North American Steel Price Index has been published by the CRU Group since 1994 and we believe this index appropriately depicts the volatility of steel prices. The index, based on a CRU survey of industry participants, is now commonly used in the settlement of physical and financial contracts in the steel industry. The prices surveyed are purchases for forward delivery, according to lead time, which will vary. For example, the October index would likely approximate our fiscal December or January steel purchase deliveries based on current lead-times. The volatility in this steel price index is comparable to the volatility we experienced in our average cost of steel. Further, due to the market conditions described above, the most recent CRU prices have been based on a lower than normal trading volume.

Source: www.crugroup.com

We do not have any long-term contracts for the purchase of steel and normally do not maintain an inventory of steel in excess of our current production requirements. However, from time to time, we may purchase steel in advance of announced steel price increases. We can give no assurance that steel will remain available or that prices will not continue to be volatile. While most of our contracts have escalation clauses that allow us, under certain circumstances, to pass along all or a portion of increases in the price of steel after the date of the contract but prior to delivery, for competitive or other reasons, we may not be able to pass such price increases along. If the available supply of steel declines, we could experience price increases that we are not able to pass on to the end users. A deterioration of service from our suppliers or interruptions or delays that may cause us not to meet delivery schedules to our customers. Any of these problems could adversely affect our results of operations and financial position.

We rely on a few major suppliers for our supply of steel and may be adversely affected by the bankruptcy, change in control, financial condition or other factors affecting those suppliers. During fiscal 2010, we purchased approximately 36% of our steel requirements from two vendors in the United States. No other vendor accounted for over 10% of our steel requirements during fiscal 2010. Due to unfavorable market conditions and our inventory supply requirements, during fiscal 2010, we purchased insignificant amounts of

59

#### **Table of Contents**

steel from foreign suppliers. Limiting purchases to domestic suppliers further reduces our available steel supply base. Therefore, recently announced cutbacks, a prolonged labor strike against one or more of our principal domestic suppliers, or financial or other difficulties of a principal supplier that affects its ability to produce steel, could have a material adverse effect on our operations. Furthermore, if one or more of our current suppliers is unable for financial or any other reason to continue in business or to produce steel sufficient to meet our requirements, essential supply of our primary raw materials could be temporarily interrupted and our business could be adversely affected. However, alternative sources, including foreign steel, are currently believed to be sufficient to maintain required deliveries.

With steel accounting for approximately 70% of our cost of sales for fiscal 2010, a one percent change in the cost of steel would have resulted in a pre-tax impact on cost of sales of approximately \$5.0 million for our fiscal year ended October 31, 2010, if such costs were not passed on to our customers. The impact to our financial results of operations would be significantly dependent on the competitive environment and the costs of other alternative building products, which could impact our ability to pass on these higher costs.

#### **Interest Rates**

We are subject to market risk exposure related to changes in interest rates on our Amended Credit Agreement and ABL Facility. These instruments bear interest at an agreed upon percentage point spread from either the prime interest rate or LIBOR. Under our Amended Credit Agreement, we may, at our option, fix the interest rate for certain borrowings based on a spread over LIBOR for 30 days to six months. At October 31, 2010, we had \$136.3 million outstanding under our senior Amended Credit Agreement. Based on this balance, an immediate change of one percent in the interest rate would cause a change in interest expense of approximately \$1.4 million on an annual basis. While there were no Convertible Notes outstanding at October 31, 2010, the fair value of our Convertible Notes at November 1, 2009 was approximately \$0.1 million compared to the face value of \$0.1 million. The fair value of our Amended Credit Agreement at October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009 was approximately \$132.0 million and \$138.0 million, respectively, compared to the face value of \$136.3 million and \$150.0 million, respectively.

We may from time to time utilize interest rate swaps to manage overall borrowing costs and reduce exposure to adverse fluctuations in interest rates. We do not purchase or hold any derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. As disclosed in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we effectively converted \$160 million of the \$400 million term loan under the credit agreement as in effect prior to October 20, 2009 (subsequently amended and repaid in part) to fixed rate debt by entering into an interest rate swap agreement ( Swap Agreement ). The Swap Agreement expired on June 17, 2010. At November 1, 2009, the notional amount of the Swap Agreement was \$65 million. However, in connection with our refinancing, we concluded the Swap Agreement was no longer an effective hedge, based on the modified terms of the Amended Credit Agreement which includes a 2% LIBOR floor. The LIBOR rates over the remaining term of the Swap Agreement did not exceed the LIBOR floor stated in the Amended Credit Agreement which in effect resulted in fixed rate debt.

See Note 11 Long-term Debt to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on the material terms of our long-term debt.

The table below presents scheduled debt maturities and related weighted-average interest rates for each of the fiscal years relating to debt obligations as of October 31, 2010. Weighted-average variable rates are based on LIBOR rates with a 2% LIBOR floor at October 31, 2010, plus applicable margins.

						rair
		Schedule	d Maturity	Date(a)		Value
2011	2012	2013	2014	2015 Thereafter	<b>Total</b>	10/31/10

T7 - ---

## (In millions, except interest rate percentages)

Total Debt:												
Fixed Rate	\$	\$	5	\$		\$		\$	\$	\$		\$
Interest Rate												
Variable Rate	\$	\$		\$		\$	136.3	\$	\$	\$	136.3	\$ 132.0(b)
Average interest rate	8	3.0%	8.0%		8.0%		8.0%				8.0%	
60												

- (a) Expected maturity date amounts are based on the face value of debt and do not reflect fair market value of the debt.
- (b) Based on recent trading activities of comparable market instruments.

#### Foreign Currency Exchange Rates

We are exposed to the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on the U.S. dollar value of foreign currency denominated operating revenue and expenses. The functional currency for our Mexico operations is the U.S. dollar. Adjustments resulting from the re-measurement of the local currency financial statements into the U.S. dollar functional currency, which uses a combination of current and historical exchange rates, are included in net income in the current period. Net foreign currency re-measurement gains (losses) were immaterial for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009 and \$(1.1) million for the fiscal year ended November 2, 2008.

The functional currency for our Canada operations is the Canadian dollar. Translation adjustments resulting from translating the functional currency financial statements into U.S. dollar equivalents are reported separately in accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders—equity. The net foreign currency gains (losses) included in net income for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2010, November 1, 2009 and November 2, 2008 was \$0.5 million, \$0.4 million and \$(0.8) million, respectively. Net foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax, and included in other comprehensive income was immaterial for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2010 and \$(0.2) million for the fiscal year ended November 1, 2009.

#### Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

#### INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting	62
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting	63
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	64
Financial Statements:	
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Fiscal Years Ended October 31, 2010, November 1, 2009 and	
November 2, 2008	65
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009	66
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Fiscal Years Ended October 31, 2010, November 1, 2009 and	
November 2, 2008	67
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity for the Fiscal Years Ended October 31, 2010, November 1,	
2009 and November 2, 2008	68
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Fiscal Years Ended October 31, 2010,	
November 1, 2009 and November 2, 2008	69
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	70
61	

#### MANAGEMENT S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of NCI Building Systems, Inc. (the Company or our ) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company s management and board of directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Internal control over financial reporting includes the controls themselves, monitoring (including internal auditing practices), and actions taken to correct deficiencies as identified.

Internal control over financial reporting has inherent limitations and may not prevent or detect misstatements. The design of an internal control system is also based in part upon assumptions and judgments made by management about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that an internal control will be effective under all potential future conditions. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance with respect to the financial statement preparation and presentation. Further, because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting may vary over time.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2010. In making this assessment, management used the criteria for internal control over financial reporting described in *Internal Control Integrated Framework* by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Management's assessment included an evaluation of the design of the Company's internal control over financial reporting and testing of the operating effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting. Management reviewed the results of its assessment with the Audit Committee of the Company's Board of Directors. Based on this assessment, management has concluded that, as of October 31, 2010, the Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective.

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that has audited the Company s consolidated financial statements, has audited the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2010. Their report included elsewhere herein expresses an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2010.

62

### REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

## The Board of Directors and Shareholders of NCI Building Systems, Inc.

We have audited NCI Building Systems, Inc. s (the Company ) internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). The Company s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, NCI Building Systems, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2010, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders—equity, cash flows and comprehensive income (loss) for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2010 of the Company and our report dated December 21, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

### REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

## The Board of Directors and Shareholders of NCI Building Systems, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NCI Building Systems, Inc. (the Company) as of October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders equity, cash flows and comprehensive income (loss) for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2010. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company at October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended October 31, 2010, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company s internal control over financial reporting as of October 31, 2010, based on the criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated December 21, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Houston, Texas December 21, 2010

64

## CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

## NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC.

	October 2010		Fiscal Year End 1, November 1, 2009 nousands, except per			November 2, 2008		
		(III thous	usunus, except per snare uata)					
Sales	\$	870,526	\$	965,252	\$	1,762,740		
Cost of sales, excluding lower of cost or market adjustment and		COO C 41		740.756		1 202 152		
asset impairments		699,641		748,756		1,323,152		
Lower of cost or market adjustment		1 070		39,986		2,739		
Asset impairments		1,070		6,291		157		
Gross profit		169,815		170,219		436,692		
Selling, general and administrative expenses		190,870		210,753		280,686		
Goodwill and other intangible asset impairments				622,564				
Restructuring charges		3,532		9,052		1,059		
Change of control charges				11,168				
<b>7</b>		(0.4 EOE)		(602 210)		154045		
Income (loss) from operations		(24,587)		(683,318)		154,947		
Interest income		91		393		1,085		
Interest expense		(17,918)		(29,249)		(32,579)		
Debt extinguishment and refinancing costs, net		76		(97,580)		(2.4.60)		
Other (expense) income, net		2,131		2,045		(2,169)		
Income (loss) before income taxes		(40,207)		(807,709)		121,284		
Provision (benefit) for income taxes		(13,330)		(56,913)		48,006		
Tropisson (Conorty) for income units		(10,000)		(00,010)		.0,000		
Net income (loss)	\$	(26,877)	\$	(750,796)	\$	73,278		
Convertible preferred stock dividends and accretion		34,055		1,187				
Convertible preferred stock beneficial conversion feature		250,295		10,526				
Net income (loss) applicable to common shares	\$	(311,227)	\$	(762,509)	\$	73,278		
Earnings (loss) per common share:								
Basic	\$	(17.07)	\$	(171.18)	\$	18.58		
Dasic	φ	(17.07)	Ψ	(171.10)	Ψ	10.50		
Diluted	\$	(17.07)	\$	(171.18)	\$	18.49		
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:								
Basic		18 220		4 402		2 066		
		18,229		4,403		3,866		
Diluted		18,229		4,403		3,886		

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

# **Table of Contents**

# CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

# NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC.

	O		November 1 2009 ousands, hare data)		
ASSETS					
Current assets:	ф	<b>FF</b> 410	ф	00.410	
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	77,419	\$	90,419	
Restricted cash, current		2,839 81,896		5,154	
Accounts receivable, net Inventories, net		,		82,889 71,537	
Deferred income taxes		81,386 15,101		18,787	
Income tax receivable		15,919		27,622	
Investments in debt and equity securities, at market		3,738		3,359	
Prepaid expenses and other		13,923		14,494	
Assets held for sale		6,114		4,963	
Assets held for suic		0,114		1,703	
Total current assets		298,335		319,224	
Property, plant and equipment, net		214,453		232,510	
Goodwill		5,200		5,200	
Intangible assets, net		26,312		28,370	
Restricted cash, net of current portion		,		7,825	
Other assets, net		16,224		21,039	
Total assets	\$	560,524	\$	614,168	
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQU	IITV				
Current liabilities:					
Current portion of long-term debt	\$		\$	14,164	
Note payable		289		481	
Accounts payable		70,589		71,252	
Accrued compensation and benefits		31,569		37,215	
Accrued interest		1,536		776	
Other accrued expenses		46,723		54,797	
Total current liabilities		150,706		178,685	
Long-term debt		136,305		136,085	
Deferred income taxes		10,947		18,848	
Other long-term liabilities		4,820		7,657	
-		•		•	

Edgar Filing: SKTF ENTERPRISES INC - Form 10QSB

Total long-term liabilities	152,072	162,590
Series B cumulative convertible participating preferred stock Stockholders equity: Common stock, \$.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized; 19,564,287 and 18,082,029 shares issued in 2010 and 2009, respectively; and 19,564,287 and	256,870	222,815
18,082,029 shares outstanding in 2010 and 2009, respectively; and 19,564,287 and 18,082,029 shares outstanding in 2010 and 2009, respectively Additional paid-in capital Accumulated deficit Accumulated other comprehensive loss	924 258,826 (256,937) (1,937)	904 288,093 (230,060) (8,859)
Total stockholders equity	876	50,078
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 560,524	\$ 614,168

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

66

# **Table of Contents**

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

# NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC.

	October 31, 2010	Fiscal Year Ended November 1, 2009 (In thousands)	November 2, 2008
Cash flows from operating activities: Net income (loss) Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:	\$ (26,877)	\$ (750,796)	\$ 73,278
Depreciation and amortization Non-cash interest expense on Convertible Notes	34,504	33,531 8,394	36,333 8,507
Share-based compensation expense Accelerated vesting of share-based compensation Debt extinguishment and refinancing costs, net	4,953 (76)	4,835 9,066 91,937	9,504
Gain on embedded derivative (Gain) loss on sale of property, plant and equipment	(937) 180	(928)	(1,264)
Lower of cost or market reserve Provision for doubtful accounts Interest rate swap ineffectiveness	78	39,986 1,221 3,072	2,739 3,468
Provision (benefit) for deferred income taxes Asset impairments, net Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of	43 1,070	(26,841) 6,291 622,564	(3,227) 157
acquisitions: Accounts receivable Inventories Income tax receivable	915 (9,849) 12,434	78,895 79,362 (32,332)	(5,008) (57,182)
Prepaid expenses and other Accounts payable Accrued expenses Other, net	1,736 150 (12,975) 957	(1,423) (30,754) (41,599) 855	(9,724) (23,738) 7,445 (1,094)
Net cash provided by operating activities: Cash flows from investing activities:	6,306	95,336	40,194
Capital expenditures Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment Cash surrender value life insurance Other, net	(14,030) 767	(21,657) 2,589	(24,803) 4,238 2,101 (226)
Net cash used in investing activities: Cash flows from financing activities:	(13,263)	(19,068)	(18,690)
Proceeds from stock options exercised		12	698

Edgar Filing: SKTF ENTERPRISES INC - Form 10QSB

Decrease (increase) of restricted cash	10,140	(12,979)	
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation arrangements			215
Proceeds from ABL facility	245		
Payments on ABL facility	(246)		
Payment on term loan	(13,695)	(143,300)	(21,710)
Payments on other long-term debt	(190)	(910)	(927)
Payments on note payable	(1,724)	(1,693)	(3,892)
Issuance of convertible preferred stock		250,000	
Payment of convertible notes	(59)	(89,971)	
Payment of refinancing costs	(125)	(54,659)	(914)
Purchase of treasury stock	(381)	(451)	(2,226)
Net cash used in financing activities:	(6,035)	(53,951)	(28,756)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	(8)	(99)	399
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents	(13,000)	22,218	(6,853)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	90,419	68,201	75,054
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 77,419	\$ 90,419	\$ 68,201

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

67

# **Table of Contents**

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

# NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC.

	Common S	Stock		dditional Paid-In	Retained	om	umulated Other prehensive (Loss)	Treasur	ry S	Stock	Sto	ockholde
	Shares	Amount	(	Capital (Iı	(Deficit) ousands, ex	I	ncome pt share da	Shares ta)		Amount		Equity
ance, October 28, 2007 asury stock purchases mmon stock issued for	4,425,847	\$ 221	\$	215,520	\$ 447,819	\$	357	(518,081) (15,856)	\$	(114,373) (2,226)	\$	549,54 (2,22
ck option exercises  k benefit from employee	6,869			698								69
ck incentive plan uance of restricted stock	48,026	3		(566) (3)			(1.707)					(56)
ner comprehensive loss are-based compensation option of ASC 740-10				9,504			(1,797)					9,50
ote 16) t income					(361) 73,278							(36) 73,27
ance, November 2, 08 assury stock purchases	4,480,742	\$ 224	\$	225,153	\$ 520,736	\$	(1,440)	(533,937) (35,384)	\$	(116,599) (451)	\$	628,07 (45
irement of treasury res mmon stock issued for	(569,321)	(29)		(117,021)				569,321		117,050		
ck option exercises benefit from employee	165			12								1
ck incentive plan nvertible Notes				(5,073)								(5,07
hange nvertible Preferred	14,035,417	702		169,725								170,42
ck dividends payable benefit from nvertible Preferred				(1,187)								(1,18
ck issuance costs	125.026	7		2,585								2,58
nance of restricted stock her comprehensive loss her-based compensation t loss	135,026	7		(3) 13,902	(750,796)		(7,419)					(7,41 13,90 (750,79
ance, November 1,	18,082,029	\$ 904	\$	288,093	\$ (230,060)	\$	(8,859)		\$		\$	50,07

lance, October 31, l0	19,564,287	\$ 924	\$ 258,826	<b>\$</b> (256,937)	<b>\$</b> (1,937)	\$	:	\$ 87
t loss				(26,877)				(26,87
ire-based compensation			4,953		0,722			4,95
ner comprehensive ome					6,922			6,92
ck dividends payable nance of restricted stock	1,482,614	20	(34,055)					(34,05
ner transaction costs  nvertible Preferred			216					21
res	(356)		(381)			356	381	
asury stock purchases irement of treasury						(356)	(381)	(38

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

68

# **Table of Contents**

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC.

	October 31, November 1, 2010 2009 (In thousands)			November 2, 2008		
Comprehensive income (loss):						
Net income (loss)	\$	(26,877)	\$	(750,796)	\$ 73,278	
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:						
Foreign exchange translation gain (loss) and other (net of income		107		(100)	250	
tax of \$0 in 2010, \$107 in 2009 and \$140 in 2008) Unrecognized actuarial gain (loss) on pension obligation (net of		196		(198)	259	
income tax of \$(4,493) in 2010, \$6,010 in 2009 and \$1,046 in						
2008)		6,726		(9,641)	(1,628)	
Loss in fair value of interest rate swap (net of income tax of		,		, ,	( , , ,	
\$345 in 2009 and \$272 in 2008)				(554)	(428)	
Reclassification adjustment for losses on derivative instruments						
recognized during the period (net of income tax of \$1,854 in				2071		
2009)				2,974		
Other comprehensive income (loss)		6,922		(7,419)	(1,797)	
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$	(19,955)	\$	(758,215)	\$ 71,481	

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

69

#### **Table of Contents**

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC.

#### 1. NATURE OF BUSINESS AND PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

NCI Building Systems, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, unless otherwise indicated, the Company, we, us or our North America's largest integrated manufacturer and marketer of metal products for the nonresidential construction industry. We provide metal coil coating services and design, engineer, manufacture and market metal components and engineered building systems primarily for nonresidential construction use. We manufacture and distribute extensive lines of metal products for the nonresidential construction market under multiple brand names through a nationwide network of plants and distribution centers. We sell our products for both new construction and repair and retrofit applications.

On October 20, 2009 the Company issued and sold to Clayton, Dubilier & Rice Fund VIII, L.P. and CD&R Friends & Family Fund VIII, L.P. (together, the CD&R Funds ), an aggregate of 250,000 shares of a newly created class of convertible preferred stock, par value \$1.00 per share, of the Company, designated the Series B Cumulative Convertible Participating Preferred Stock (the Convertible Preferred Stock, and shares thereof, the Preferred Shares ), representing approximately 68.4% of the voting power and common stock of the Company on an as-converted basis (such purchase and sale, the Equity Investment ).

In connection with the closing of the Equity Investment, the Company, among other things took the following actions (together with the Equity Investment, the Recapitalization Plan ):

consummated its exchange offer (the Exchange Offer ) to acquire all of the Company s existing 2.125% convertible notes due 2024 in exchange for a combination of \$90 million in cash and 14.0 million shares of our common stock;

refinanced the Company s existing credit agreement, which included the partial prepayment of approximately \$143 million in principal amount of the existing \$293 million in principal amount of outstanding term loans thereunder and a modification of the terms and an amendment and extension of the maturity of the remaining \$150 million outstanding balance of the term loans (the Amended Credit Agreement ); and

entered into an asset-based revolving credit facility with a maximum available amount of up to \$125 million (the ABL Facility ). Borrowing availability on the asset-based revolving credit facility is determined by a monthly borrowing base collateral calculation that is based on specified percentages of the value of qualified cash, eligible inventory and eligible accounts receivable, less certain reserves and subject to certain other adjustments.

As of November 1, 2009, the Preferred Shares were convertible into 39.2 million shares of Common Stock at an initial conversion price of \$6.3740 (as adjusted for the Reverse Stock Split). However, as of November 1, 2009, only approximately 1.8 million shares of Common Stock were authorized and unissued, and therefore, the CD&R Funds were not able to fully convert the Preferred Shares. To the extent the CD&R Funds opted to convert their Preferred Shares, as of November 1, 2009, their conversion right was limited to conversion of that portion of their Preferred Shares into the approximately 1.8 million shares of Common Stock that were currently authorized and unissued. Upon previous action taken by the independent, non-CD&R board members, on March 5, 2010, we effected the Reverse Stock Split at an exchange ratio of 1-for-5. As of that date, the Preferred Shares accrued for and held by the CD&R Funds were fully convertible into 41.0 million Common Shares. As a result, we recorded an additional beneficial

conversion feature charge in the amount of \$230.9 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2010 related to the availability of shares of Common Stock into which the CD&R Funds may convert their Preferred Shares. In addition, we recorded an additional \$19.4 beneficial conversion feature charge in fiscal 2010 related to dividends that have accrued and are convertible into shares of Common Stock. In addition, we expect to recognize additional beneficial conversion feature charges on paid-in-kind dividends to the extent that the Preferred Shares are accrued and the stock price is in excess of \$6.37. Our policy is to recognize beneficial conversion feature charges on

70

#### **Table of Contents**

paid-in-kind dividends based on a daily dividend recognition and the daily closing stock price of our Common Stock.

Dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock are payable, on a cumulative daily basis, as, if and when declared by our board of directors, at a rate per annum of 12% of the liquidation preference of \$1,000 per Preferred Share, subject to certain adjustments, if paid in-kind or at a rate per annum of 8% of the liquidation preference of \$1,000 per Preferred Share, subject to certain adjustments, if paid in cash. On the Dividend Payment Committee date, we have the right to choose whether dividends are paid in cash or in-kind, subject to the conditions of the Amended Credit Agreement and ABL Facility including being contractually limited in our ability to pay cash dividends until the first quarter of fiscal 2011 under the Amended Credit Agreement and until October 20, 2010 under the ABL Facility. In addition, our Amended Credit Agreement currently restricts the payment of cash dividends to 50% of cumulative earnings beginning with the fourth quarter of 2009, and in the absence of accumulated earnings, cash dividends and other cash restricted payments are limited to \$14.5 million in the aggregate during the term of the loan.

At any time prior to the Dividend Rate Reduction Event, if dividends are not declared in cash on the applicable dividend declaration date, the rate at which such dividends are payable will be at least 12% per annum. Therefore, we accrue dividends daily based on the 12% rate and if and when we determine the dividends will be paid in cash on the applicable dividend declaration date, we will record a subsequent benefit of the excess 4% accrual upon our board s declaration of such cash dividend and reverse the beneficial conversion feature charge associated with such accrual.

On March 5, 2010, the Company effected a reverse stock split in which each five shares of the Company s common stock, par value \$0.01 (the Common Stock and shares thereof, the Common Shares ), was reclassified and combined into one share of Common Stock (the Reverse Stock Split ). As such, we have retrospectively adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share, Common Stock, stock options, Common Stock equivalents and prices per share information for the Reverse Stock Split in all periods presented.

We use a 52/53 week year with our fiscal year end on the Sunday closest to October 31. The year end for fiscal 2010 is October 31, 2010. Fiscal 2008 was a 53 week year.

We aggregate our operations into three reportable business segments: metal coil coating, metal components and engineered building systems. We base this aggregation on similarities in product lines, manufacturing processes, marketing and how we manage our business. We market the products in each of our business segments nationwide through a direct sales force and, in the case of our engineered building systems segment, through authorized builder networks.

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and all majority-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts, transactions and profits arising from consolidated entities have been eliminated in consolidation.

#### 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) *Use of Estimates*. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Examples include provisions for bad debts and inventory reserves and accruals for employee benefits, general liability insurance, warranties and certain contingencies. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash equivalents are stated at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value. Cash equivalents are highly liquid debt instruments with an original maturity of three months or less and may consist of time deposits with a number of commercial banks with high credit ratings, Eurodollar time deposits, money market instruments, certificates of deposit and commercial paper. Our policy allows us to also invest excess funds in no-load, open-end, management investment trusts ( mutual funds ). The mutual funds invest exclusively in high quality money market instruments. As of October 31, 2010, our cash equivalents were all invested in money market instruments.

71

#### **Table of Contents**

(c) Accounts Receivable and Related Allowance. We report accounts receivable net of the allowance for doubtful accounts. Trade accounts receivable are the result of sales of building systems, components and coating services to customers throughout the United States and affiliated territories, including international builders who resell to end users. Substantially all sales are denominated in U.S. dollars with the exception of sales at our Canadian operations which are denominated in Canadian dollars. Credit sales do not normally require a pledge of collateral; however, various types of liens may be filed to enhance the collection process. The balance of the accounts receivable aged over 90 days was \$4.5 million and \$6.0 million at October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, respectively.

We establish reserves for doubtful accounts on a customer by customer basis when we believe the required payment of specific amounts owed is unlikely to occur. In establishing these reserves, we consider changes in the financial position of a customer, availability of security, lien rights and bond rights as well as disputes, if any, with our customers. Our allowance for doubtful accounts reflects reserves for customer receivables to reduce receivables to amounts expected to be collected. We determine past due status as of the contractual payment date. Interest on delinquent accounts receivable is included in the trade accounts receivable balance and recognized as interest income when earned and collectability is reasonably assured. Uncollectible accounts are written off when a settlement is reached for an amount that is less than the outstanding historical balance or we have exhausted all collection efforts. The following table represents the rollforward of our uncollectible accounts activity for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2010, November 1, 2009 and November 2, 2008 (in thousands):

	ober 31, 2010	Nov	vember 1, 2009	November 2, 2008	
Beginning balance Provision for bad debts Amounts charged against allowance for bad debts, net of	\$ 9,039 78	\$	10,330 1,221	\$	8,975 3,468
recoveries	(3,885)		(2,512)		(2,113)
Ending balance	\$ 5,232	\$	9,039	\$	10,330

(d) Inventories. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value less allowance for inventory obsolescence, using specific identification or the weighted-average method for steel coils and other raw materials. During fiscal 2009, we incurred lower of cost or market adjustments of \$8.1 million in the metal coil coating segment, \$17.2 million in the metal components segment and \$14.7 million in the engineered building systems segment for a total of \$40.0 million. During fiscal 2008, we incurred lower of cost or market adjustment \$2.7 million in the metal coil coating segment. Lower of cost or market adjustments were recorded because this inventory exceeded our estimated net realizable value less normal profit margins. All inventory with a lower of cost or market adjustment was fully utilized by July 2009. The balance of the lower of cost or market adjustment was \$2.7 million at November 2, 2008.

The components of inventory are as follows (in thousands):

	Oc	tober 31, 2010	November 1, 2009		
Raw materials Work in process and finished goods	\$	56,834 24,552	\$	48,081 23,456	

**\$ 81,386** \$ 71,537

72

#### **Table of Contents**

The following table represents the rollforward of reserve for obsolete materials and supplies activity for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2010, November 1, 2009 and November 2, 2008 (in thousands):

	October 31, 2010		November 1, 2009		November 2, 2008	
Beginning balance Provisions Dispositions	\$	1,592 639 (1,000)	\$	1,807 1,409 (1,624)	\$	4,433 252 (2,878)
Ending balance	\$	1,231	\$	1,592	\$	1,807

During fiscal 2010, we purchased approximately 36% of our steel requirements from two vendors in the United States. No other vendor accounted for over 10% of our steel requirements during fiscal 2010.

(e) Assets Held for Sale. We record assets held for sale at the lower of the carrying value or fair value less costs to sell. The following criteria are used to determine if land is held for sale: (i) management has the authority and commits to a plan to sell the property; (iii) the property is available for immediate sale in its present condition; (iii) there is an active program to locate a buyer and the plan to sell the property has been initiated; (iv) the sale of the property is probable within one year; (v) the property is being actively marketed at a reasonable sale price relative to its current fair value; and (vi) it is unlikely that the plan to sell will be withdrawn or that significant changes to the plan will be made.

In determining the fair value of the assets less cost to sell, we considered factors including current sales prices for comparable assets in the area, recent market analysis studies, appraisals and any recent legitimate offers. If the estimated fair value less cost to sell of an asset is less than its current carrying value, the asset is written down to its estimated fair value less cost to sell. During fiscal 2010, we recorded impairments on assets held for sale of \$1.2 million.

Due to uncertainties in the estimation process, it is reasonably possible that actual results could differ from the estimates used in our historical analyses. Our assumptions about property sales prices require significant judgment because the current market is highly sensitive to changes in economic conditions. We calculated the estimated fair values of assets held for sale based on current market conditions and assumptions made by management, which may differ materially from actual results and may result in additional impairments if market conditions continue to deteriorate.

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment and Leases. Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Leasehold improvements are capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the term of the underlying lease. Computer software developed or purchased for internal use is depreciated using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life. Depreciation and amortization are recognized in Cost of Sales and Selling, General and Administrative Expenses based on the nature and use of the underlying asset(s). Operating leases are expensed using the straight-line method over the term of the underlying lease.

Depreciation expense for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 was \$27.7 million, \$29.9 million and \$32.5 million, respectively. Of this depreciation expense, \$6.3 million, \$7.1 million and \$4.5 million was related to software depreciation for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

73

#### **Table of Contents**

Property, plant and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

	Oe	November 1, 2009		
Land	\$	22,368	\$	22,141
Buildings and improvements		168,126		165,846
Machinery, equipment and furniture		223,041		226,168
Transportation equipment		3,023		3,326
Computer software and equipment		77,482		77,407
Less accumulated depreciation		494,040 (279,587)		494,888 (262,378)
	\$	214,453	\$	232,510

Estimated useful lives for depreciation are:

Buildings and improvements	10	39 years
Machinery, equipment and furniture	3	10 years
Transportation equipment	5	10 years
Computer software and equipment	3	7 years

We capitalize interest on capital invested in projects in accordance with ASC Topic 835, *Interest*. For fiscal 2010, the total amount of interest capitalized was immaterial and for fiscal 2009 and 2008, the total amount of interest capitalized was \$0.7 million and \$1.1 million, respectively. Upon commencement of operations, capitalized interest, as a component of the total cost of the asset, is amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset.

- (g) Internally Developed Software. Internally developed software is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and is amortized using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life ranging from 3 to 7 years. Software assets are reviewed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable over the remaining lives of the assets. During the software application development stage, capitalized costs include external consulting costs, cost of software licenses and internal payroll and payroll related costs for employees who are directly associated with a software project. Upgrades and enhancements are capitalized if they result in added functionality which enable the software to perform tasks it was previously incapable of performing. Software maintenance, training, data conversion and business process reengineering costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
- (h) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. We review the carrying values of goodwill and identifiable intangibles whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that such carrying values may not be recoverable and annually for goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets as required by ASC Topic 350, Intangibles Goodwill and Other. Unforeseen events, changes in circumstances, market conditions and material differences in the value of intangible assets due to changes in estimates of future cash flows could negatively affect the fair value of our assets and result in a non-cash impairment charge. Some factors considered important that could trigger an impairment review include the following: significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of our use of acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business and significant

negative industry or economic trends.

- (i) Revenue Recognition. We recognize revenues when the following conditions are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. Generally, these criteria are met at the time product is shipped or services are complete. Provisions are made upon sale for estimated product returns.
- (*j*) Equity Raising and Deferred Financing Costs. Equity raising costs are recorded as a reduction to additional paid in capital upon the execution of an equity transaction. In connection with the Exchange Offer on the Convertible Notes, we incurred \$5.7 million in equity raising costs. Deferred financing costs are

74

#### **Table of Contents**

capitalized as incurred and amortized using the effective interest method over the expected life of the debt. In a modification of debt, costs paid to the creditor are capitalized and costs paid to non-creditors are expensed as incurred.

Costs related to potential pre-packaged bankruptcy related to our 2009 financial restructuring were expensed as incurred. During fiscal 2009, we expensed \$4.8 million of pre-packaged bankruptcy costs which were included in debt extinguishment and refinancing costs in our Consolidated Statement of Operations. All potential pre-packaged bankruptcy costs were incurred in connection with the Recapitalization Plan and were expensed in fiscal 2009.

- (k) Cost of sales. Cost of sales includes the cost of inventory sold during the period, including costs for manufacturing, inbound freight, receiving, inspection, warehousing, and internal transfers less vendor rebates. Costs associated with shipping and handling our products are included in cost of sales. Cost of sales is exclusive of lower of cost or market adjustments and asset impairments because these items are shown below cost of sales on our Consolidated Statement of Operations. Purchasing costs and engineering and drafting costs are included in selling, general and administrative expense. Purchasing costs were \$2.5 million, \$3.2 million and \$3.7 million and engineering and drafting costs were \$39.6 million, \$38.2 million and \$53.9 million in each of fiscal 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively. Approximately \$1.7 million and \$2.2 million of these selling, general and administrative costs were capitalized and remained in inventory at the end of fiscal 2010 and 2009, respectively.
- (1) Warranty. We sell weathertightness warranties to our customers for protection from leaks in our roofing systems related to weather. These warranties range from two years to 20 years. We sell two types of warranties, standard and Single Source<sup>tm</sup>, and three grades of coverage for each. The type and grade of coverage determines the price to the customer. For standard warranties, our responsibility for leaks in a roofing system begins after 24 consecutive leak-free months. For Single Source<sup>tm</sup> warranties, the roofing system must pass our inspection before warranty coverage will be issued. Inspections are typically performed at three stages of the roofing project: (i) at the project start-up; (ii) at the project mid-point; and (iii) at the project completion. These inspections are included in the cost of the warranty. If the project requires or the customer requests additional inspections, those inspections are billed to the customer. Upon the sale of a warranty, we record the resulting revenue as deferred revenue, which is included in other accrued expenses in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We recognize deferred warranty revenue over the warranty coverage period in a manner that matches our estimated expenses relating to the warranty. Additionally, we maintain an accrued warranty at Robertson-Ceco II Corporation (RCC) in which the balance was \$3.1 million at October 31, 2010. RCC s accrued warranty programs have similar terms and characteristics to our other warranty programs although this warranty is not amortized in the same manner as our other warranty programs. See Note 10 Warranty.
- (m) Insurance. Group medical insurance is purchased through Blue Cross Blue Shield (BCBS). The plans include a Preferred Provider Organization (PPO) plan and an Exclusive Provider Organization (EPO) plan. These plans are managed-care plans utilizing networks to achieve discounts through negotiated rates with the providers within these networks. The claims incurred under these plans are self-funded for the first \$250,000 of each claim. We purchase individual stop loss reinsurance to limit our claims liability to \$250,000 per claim. BCBS administers all claims, including claims processing, utilization review and network access charges.

Insurance is purchased for workers compensation and employer liability, general liability, property and auto liability/auto physical damage. We utilize either deductibles or self-insurance retentions (SIR) to limit our exposure to catastrophic loss. The workers compensation insurance has a \$500,000 per occurrence deductible. The property and auto liability insurances have per-occurrence deductibles of \$250,000. The general liability insurance has a \$350,000 SIR. Umbrella insurance coverage is purchased to protect us against claims that exceed our per-occurrence or aggregate limits set forth in our respective policies. All claims are adjusted utilizing a third-party claims administrator.

Each reporting period, we record the costs of our health insurance plan, including paid claims, an estimate of the change in incurred but not reported ( IBNR ) claims, taxes and administrative fees, when

75

#### **Table of Contents**

applicable, (collectively the Plan Costs ) as general and administrative expenses in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. The estimated IBNR claims are based upon (i) a recent average level of paid claims under the plan, (ii) an estimated lag factor and (iii) an estimated growth factor to provide for those claims that have been incurred but not yet paid. We use an independent actuary to determine the claims lag and estimated liability for IBNR claims.

For workers compensation costs, we monitor the number of accidents and the severity of such accidents to develop appropriate estimates for expected costs to provide both medical care and indemnity benefits, when applicable, for the period of time that an employee is incapacitated unable to work. These accruals are developed using independent third-party actuarial estimates of the expected cost for medical treatment, and length of time an employee will be unable to work based on industry statistics for the cost of similar disabilities, to include statutory impairment ratings. For general liability and automobile claims, accruals are developed based on independent third-party actuarial estimates of the expected cost to resolve each claim, including damages and defense costs, based on legal and industry trends and the nature and severity of the claim. Accruals also include estimates for IBNR claims, and taxes and administrative fees, when applicable. Each reporting period, we record the costs of our workers compensation, general liability and automobile claims, including paid claims, an estimate of the change in IBNR claims, taxes and administrative fees as general and administrative expenses in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

- (n) Advertising Costs. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense was \$4.6 million, \$5.4 million and \$6.9 million in fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
- (o) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. We assess impairment of property, plant, and equipment in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment. We assess the recoverability of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment if certain events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable, such as a significant decrease in market value of the assets or a significant change in our business conditions. If we determine that the carrying value of an asset is not recoverable based on expected undiscounted future cash flows, excluding interest charges, we record an impairment loss equal to the excess of the carrying amount of the asset over its fair value. The fair value of assets is determined based on prices of similar assets adjusted for their remaining useful life. During fiscal 2009, we adjusted our property, plant and equipment because we determined that the carrying value of certain assets were not recoverable based on expected undiscounted future cash flows. During fiscal 2010, we recorded impairments on assets held for sale of \$1.2 million. We recorded asset impairments of \$6.3 million in fiscal 2009, which included \$1.2 million related to assets held for sale. See Note 4 for asset impairments in fiscal 2010 and 2009. We had no impairments in fiscal 2008.
- (p) Share-Based Compensation. Compensation expense recorded for restricted stock awards under the intrinsic value method is consistent with the expense that is recorded under the fair value-based method. We recorded the recurring pretax compensation expense relating to restricted stock awards of \$3.3 million, \$4.3 million and \$7.8 million for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The acceleration of the unamortized compensation expense upon the change in control was \$9.0 million and was included in change of control charges on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
- (q) Foreign Currency Re-measurement and Translation. In accordance ASC Topic 830, Foreign Currency Matters, the functional currency for our Mexico operations is the U.S. dollar. Adjustments resulting from the re-measurement of the local currency financial statements into the U.S. dollar functional currency, which uses a combination of current and historical exchange rates, are included in net income in the current period. Net foreign currency re-measurement gains (losses) are reflected in income for the period. Net foreign currency re-measurement gains (losses) were immaterial for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009 and \$(1.1) million for the fiscal year ended November 2, 2008.

The functional currency for our Canada operations is the Canadian dollar. Translation adjustments resulting from translating the functional currency financial statements into U.S. dollar equivalents are reported separately in accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders equity. The net foreign currency gains (losses) included in net income for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2010, November 1, 2009 and November 2, 2008 was \$0.5 million, \$0.4 million and \$(0.8) million. Net foreign currency translation gain

76

#### **Table of Contents**

(loss), net of tax, and included in other comprehensive income was immaterial for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2010 and \$(0.2) million for the fiscal year ended November 1, 2009.

(r) Reclassifications. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts in our Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Operations to conform to the current presentation. These reclassifications were the result of further integration of Robertson-Ceco II Corporation (RCC) and the rationalization of our operations. The net effect of these reclassifications was not material to our consolidated financial statements.

#### 3. ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

## Defined Benefit Plans Adoption

In December 2008, the FASB issued ASC Subtopic 715-20, *Defined Benefit Plans General* (ASC 715-20). This statement provides guidance on an employer s disclosures about plan assets of a defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan. We adopted the disclosure provisions required by ASC 715-20 in fiscal 2010 but are not required to implement the disclosures for earlier periods presented for comparative purposes. See Note 21 Employee Benefit Plans.

# Debt with Conversion and Other Options and Earnings per Share Adoption

On November 2, 2009, we adopted ASC Subtopic 470-20, *Debt with Conversion and Other Options*, which clarifies the accounting for convertible debt instruments that may be settled entirely or partially in cash upon conversion. This standard has been applied retrospectively to fiscal years 2005 through 2009 as it relates to our now retired 2.125% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes (the Convertible Notes). This standard changed the accounting for certain convertible debt instruments, including our Convertible Notes. Under the new rules, an entity shall separately account for the liability and equity components of the instrument in a manner that reflects the issuer s economic interest cost or the issuer s nonconvertible debt (unsecured debt) borrowing rate when interest cost is recognized. This results in the bifurcation of a component of the debt, classification of that component in equity and the accretion of the resulting discount on the debt to be recognized as part of interest expense. Once adopted, this standard requires retrospective application to the terms of the instrument as it existed for all periods presented.

The effect of this standard for our Convertible Notes is that the equity component has been included in the paid-in-capital section of stockholders—equity on our consolidated balance sheet and the value of the equity component is treated as an original issue discount for purposes of accounting for the debt component of the Convertible Notes. Higher interest expense is recorded by recognizing the accretion of the discounted carrying value of the Convertible Notes to their face amount as interest expense over the term of the Convertible Notes using an effective interest rate method. Income taxes have been recorded on the foregoing adjustments. While this accounting pronouncement does not change the economic substance or cash flow requirements for the Convertible Notes, the amount reported as interest expense in our historical consolidated statement of operations increased due to the accretion of the discounted carrying value of the Convertible Notes to their face amount. The impact of adopting this standard has resulted in the reported interest expense on our Convertible Notes increasing from 2.125% to 7.5%. See Note 11—Long-term Debt.

We capitalize interest on capital invested in projects in accordance with ASC Topic 835, *Interest*. As a result of adopting ASC Subtopic 470-20, *Debt with Conversion and Other Options*, capitalized interest for fiscal 2009 increased by \$0.2 million. Upon commencement of the asset s operations, capitalized interest, as a component of the total cost of the asset, is amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset.

In June 2008, the FASB issued ASC Subtopic 260-10, *Earnings per Share*. This pronouncement provides that unvested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents are participating securities—and, therefore, should be included in computing earnings per share using the two-class method. We adopted this standard on November 2, 2009. All prior period earnings per share data have been adjusted retrospectively to conform to the provisions of this pronouncement. See Note 8—Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share.

77

#### **Table of Contents**

## Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Adoption

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, *Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements*. This update amends FASB ASC 820-10-50 to require new disclosures concerning (1) transfers into and out of Levels 1 and 2 of the fair value measurement hierarchy, and (2) activity in Level 3 measurements. In addition, this update clarifies certain existing disclosure requirements regarding the level of disaggregation and inputs and valuation techniques. Finally, this update makes conforming amendments to the guidance on employers—disclosures about postretirement benefit plan assets. We adopted this update on May 2, 2010, except for the requirement to separately disclose activity in Level 3 measurements which is effective for our fiscal year ended October 28, 2012. With the exception of additional fair value measurement disclosures, the adoption of this update did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. See Note 15—Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued ASC Subtopic 820-10, *Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures* (ASC 820-10). This Statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. We adopted this standard on November 3, 2008 for financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value and non-financial assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value on a recurring basis. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. See Note 15 Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements.

In February 2008, the FASB issued ASC 820-10. This Statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. ASC 820-10 partially delays the effective date for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually). We have adopted ASC 820-10 in our fiscal year that began on November 2, 2009 for nonrecurring, non-financial assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value. The adoption of this accounting pronouncement for nonrecurring, non-financial assets and liabilities did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. See Note 15 Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements.

# Financial Instruments Adoption

In April 2009, the FASB issued ASC Subtopic 825-10, *Financial Instruments* ( ASC 825-10 ). ASC 825-10 amends previous guidance to increase the frequency of fair value disclosures to a quarterly basis instead of an annual basis. The guidance relates to fair value disclosures for any financial instruments that are not currently reflected on the balance sheet at fair value. This guidance also amends previous guidance to require those disclosures in all interim financial statements. We adopted ASC 825-10 on May 4, 2009. See Note 15 Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements.

#### **Derivatives and Hedging Adoption**

In March 2008, the FASB issued ASC Subtopic 815-10, *Derivatives and Hedging* ( ASC 815-10 ). This Statement requires enhanced disclosures about an entity s derivative and hedging activities and thereby improves the transparency of financial reporting. Disclosing the fair values of derivative instruments and their gains and losses in a tabular format provides a more complete picture of the location in an entity s financial statements of both the derivative positions existing at period end and the effect of using derivatives during the reporting period. Entities are required to provide enhanced disclosures about (a) how and why an entity uses derivative instruments; (b) how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under Statement 133 and its related interpretations; and (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity s financial position, financial performance and cash flows. We adopted ASC 815-10 on February 2, 2009. See Note 14 Derivative Instruments and Hedging

78

#### **Table of Contents**

## **Income Taxes Adoption**

In June 2006, the FASB issued ASC Subtopic 740-10, *Income Taxes* ( ASC 740-10 ) which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. ASC 740-10 prescribes a recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. ASC 740-10 requires that we recognize in the financial statements the impact of a tax position only if that position is more likely than not of being sustained upon examination, based on the technical merits of the position. ASC 740-10 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. We adopted ASC 740-10 on October 29, 2007. See discussion of the impact of adoption in Note 16 Income Taxes.

## Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements Adoption

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-13, Revenue Recognition (Topic 605): Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force, which provides guidance on whether multiple deliverables exist, how the arrangement should be separated and the consideration allocated. This update requires an entity to allocate revenue in an arrangement using estimated selling prices of deliverables if a vendor does not have vendor-specific objective evidence or third-party evidence of selling price. This update is effective for the first annual reporting period beginning on or after June 15, 2010 and may be applied retrospectively for all periods presented or prospectively to arrangements entered into or materially modified after the adoption date. Early adoption is permitted provided that the revised guidance is retroactively applied to the beginning of the year of adoption. We early adopted this update on November 2, 2009. The adoption of this update did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

#### 4. PLANT RESTRUCTURING AND ASSET IMPAIRMENTS

As a result of the market downturn in 2008 and 2009, we implemented a phased process to resize and realign our manufacturing operations. The purpose of these activities was to close some of our least efficient facilities and to retool certain of these facilities to allow us to better utilize our assets and expand into new markets or better provide products to our customers, such as insulated panel systems.

In November 2008, we approved the Phase I plan to close three of our engineered building systems manufacturing plants and retool one of these facilities. In addition, as part of the Phase I restructuring, we implemented a general employee reduction program ( General ). In a continuing effort to rationalize our least efficient facilities, in February 2009, we approved the Phase II plan to close one of our facilities within the engineered building systems segment, and in April 2009, we approved the Phase III plan to close or idle three of our manufacturing facilities within the engineered building systems segment and two facilities within the metal components segment. In addition, manufacturing at one of our metal components facilities was temporarily suspended and currently functions as a distribution and customer service site. As part of the Phase III plan, we also increased General.

As a result of actions taken in our restructuring, certain facilities in our engineering building systems and metal components segments are being actively marketed for sale and have been classified as held for sale in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. During fiscal 2010, we recorded impairments for facilities within the engineered metal buildings and metal components segments in the amount of \$1.0 million and \$0.2 million, respectively, related to facilities classified as held for sale as a result of determining market conditions. We plan to sell these facilities within the next 12 months.

Table of Contents 99

79

# **Table of Contents**

**Table of Contents** 

The following table summarizes our restructuring plan costs and charges related to the General, Phase I, Phase II and Phase III restructuring plans during each of the fiscal years presented (in thousands):

	I	Fiscal			F	iscal	To	tal Cost
	2010		Fiscal 2009		2008		Incurred	
General								
Severance	\$	18	\$	2,987	\$	87	\$	3,092
Asset Relocation								
Other Cash Costs		88		57				145
Asset Impairment		4		1,234				1,238
Total General Program		110		4,278		87		4,475
Repurposing and Phase I								
Severance	\$	102	\$	1,016	\$	106	\$	1,224
Asset Relocation				303				303
Other Cash Costs		285		199				484
Asset Impairment		971		1,634		157		2,762
<b>Total Plant Closing Phase I</b>		1,358		3,152		263		4,773
Plant Closing Phase II								
Severance	\$		\$	399	\$		\$	399
Asset Relocation				22				22
Other Cash Costs				442				442
Asset Impairment				30				30
<b>Total Plant Closing Phase II</b>				893				893
Plant Closing Phase III								
Severance	\$	10	\$	2,349	\$		\$	2,359
Asset Relocation		26		219				245
Other Cash Costs		3,002		1,060				4,068
Asset Impairment		96		3,393				3,489
<b>Total Plant Closing Phase III</b>		3,134		7,021				10,155
Total All Programs	\$	4,602	\$	15,344	\$	350	\$	20,296
Restructuring by Segment								
Buildings		3,022		7,522		61		10,605
Components		510		1,216		106		1,832
Coaters				103				103
Corporate				211		27		238
Total	\$	3,532	\$	9,052	\$	194	\$	12,778
Asset Impairments by Segment(1)								
Buildings		923		4,316		157		5,396
Components		147		766				913

100

Coaters

Corporate 1,209 1,209 Total \$ 1,070 \$ 6,291 157 \$ 7,518

(1) The fair value of assets was determined based on prices of similar assets in similar condition, adjusted for their remaining useful life.

80

#### **Table of Contents**

The following table summarizes our restructuring liability related to the Phase I, Phase II and Phase III restructuring plans (in thousands):

	Employee or Severance Costs			Other Costs		Total	
Balance at November 2, 2008	\$	193	\$		\$	193	
Costs incurred		6,751		2,303		9,054	
Cash payments		(5,622)		(2,303)		(7,925)	
Other adjustments(1)		65				65	
Balance at November 1, 2009	\$	1,387	\$		\$	1,387	
Costs incurred		130		3,402		3,532	
Cash payments		(1,533)		(3,402)		(4,935)	
Other adjustments(1)		16				16	
Balance at October 31, 2010	\$		\$		\$		

(1) Relates to the foreign currency translation.

### Fiscal 2007 Plan

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, we committed to a plan to exit our residential overhead door product line, included in our metal components segment. During the fiscal year ended November 2, 2008, we incurred expenses of \$0.9 million related to this exit plan. In fiscal 2007, the residential door business produced revenue of \$12.4 million and pretax loss of \$0.5 million. This line of business is not considered material and is, therefore, not presented as discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements.

#### 5. RESTRICTED CASH

On May 21, 2009, we entered into a cash collateral agreement with our agent bank to obtain letters of credit secured by cash collateral. The restricted cash is invested in a cash bank account securing our agent bank. As of October 31, 2010, we had restricted cash in the amount of \$2.8 million as collateral related to our \$2.7 million of letters of credit, exclusive of letters of credit under our ABL Facility. Restricted cash as of October 31, 2010 is classified as current as the underlying letters of credit expire by September 2011. As of November 1, 2009, we had restricted cash in the amount of \$13.0 million as collateral related to our \$12.1 million of letters of credit. Restricted cash as of November 1, 2009 is classified as current and non-current based upon the expiration of the underlying letters of credit. The letters of credit have either automatically renewed or will be renewed upon expiration.

#### 6. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Our goodwill balance and changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by operating segment are as follows (in thousands):

	Metal Coil Coating		Metal Components		Engineered Building Systems		Total		
Balance as of November 2, 2008 Impairments	\$	98,959 (98,959)	\$	147,240 (147,240)	\$	370,427 (365,227)	\$	616,626 (611,426)	
Balance as of October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009	\$		\$		\$	5,200	\$	5,200	

In accordance with ASC Topic 350, *Intangibles Goodwill and Other*, goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually at the reporting unit level, which is defined as an operating segment or a component of an operating segment that constitutes a business for which financial information is available and is regularly

81

#### **Table of Contents**

reviewed by management. Prior to the impairments discussed below, management determined that we had six reporting units for the purpose of allocating goodwill and the subsequent testing of goodwill for impairment. Our metal components and engineered building systems segments were each split into two reporting units and the metal coil coating segment was its own reporting unit for goodwill impairment testing purposes.

Based on lower than projected sales volumes in our first quarter of fiscal 2009 and based on a revised lower outlook for nonresidential construction activity in 2009, management reduced the Company s cash flow projections for fiscal 2009. We concluded that this reduction was an impairment indicator requiring us to perform an interim goodwill impairment test for each of our six reporting units as of February 1, 2009. As a result of this impairment indicator, we updated the first step of our goodwill impairment test in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. The first step of our goodwill impairment test determines fair value of the reporting unit based on a blend of estimated discounted cash flows, publicly traded company multiples and acquisition multiples reconciled to our recent publicly traded stock price, including a reasonable control premium. The result from this model was then weighted and combined into a single estimate of fair value. We determined that our carrying value exceeded our fair value at most of our reporting units in each of our operating segments, indicating that goodwill was potentially impaired. As a result, we initiated the second step of the goodwill impairment test which involved calculating the implied fair value of our goodwill by allocating the fair value of the reporting unit to all assets and liabilities other than goodwill and comparing it to the carrying amount of goodwill. The fair value of each of the reporting unit s assets and liabilities were determined based on a combination of prices of comparable businesses and present value techniques.

As of February 1, 2009, we estimated the market implied fair value of our goodwill was less than its carrying value by approximately \$508.9 million, which was recorded as a goodwill impairment charge in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. This charge was an estimate based on the result of the preliminary allocation of fair value in the second step of the goodwill impairment test. However, due to the timing and complexity of the valuation calculations required under the second step of the test, we were not able to finalize our allocation of the fair value until the second quarter of fiscal 2009 with regard to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets in which their respective values were dependent on property, plant and equipment. The finalization was included in our goodwill impairment charge of \$102.5 million that was recorded in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 as discussed further below.

Further declines in cash flow projections and the corresponding implementation of the Phase III restructuring plan caused management to determine that there was an impairment indicator requiring us to perform another interim goodwill impairment test for each of our reporting units with goodwill remaining as of May 3, 2009. As a result of this impairment indicator, we again performed the first step of our goodwill impairment test in the second quarter of fiscal 2009. The results showed that our carrying value exceeded our fair value at most of our reporting units with goodwill remaining, indicating that goodwill was potentially impaired. We therefore initiated the second step of the goodwill impairment test. As of May 3, 2009, we determined the market implied fair value of our goodwill was less than the carrying value for certain reporting units by approximately \$102.5 million, which was recorded as a goodwill impairment charge in the second quarter of fiscal 2009. As of October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, the remaining goodwill was \$5.2 million.

At the beginning of the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, we perform an annual assessment of the recoverability of goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles. Additionally, we assess goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that such carrying values may not be recoverable. We completed our annual assessment of the recoverability of goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 and determined that no further impairments of our goodwill or long-lived intangibles were required.

#### **Table of Contents**

The following table represents all our intangible assets activity for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009 (in thousands):

	Range of Life		October 31,		November 1,		
	(Years)		2010	2009			
Amortized intangible assets: Cost: Trade names Customer lists and relationships Non-competition agreements Property rights	15 15 5-10 7	\$	5,588 8,710 8,132 990	\$	5,588 8,710 8,132 990		
		\$	23,420	\$	23,420		
Accumulated Amortization: Trade names Customer lists and relationships Non-competition agreements Property rights		\$	(2,090) (2,518) (5,201) (754) (10,563)	\$	(1,719) (1,937) (4,236) (613) (8,505)		
Net book value		\$	12,857	\$	14,915		
Indefinite-lived intangible assets: Trade names, beginning of year Impairments		\$	13,455	\$	24,704 (11,249)		
Trade names, end of year			13,455		13,455		
Total intangible assets at net book value		\$	26,312	\$	28,370		

RCC s Star and Ceco trade name assets have an indefinite life and are not amortized, but are reviewed annually and tested for impairment. The RCC trade names were determined to have indefinite lives due to the length of time the trade names have been in place, with some having been in place for decades. Our past practice with other significant acquisitions and current intentions are to maintain the trade names indefinitely.

As a result of the aforementioned goodwill impairment indicators and in accordance with ASC Subtopic 350-20, we performed an impairment analysis on our indefinite lived intangible asset related to trade names of our subsidiary, RCC in our engineered building systems segment, to determine the fair value in the first and second quarters of fiscal 2009. Based on changes to our projected cash flows in the first quarter of fiscal 2009 and based on the lower projected cash flows and related Phase III restructuring plan in the second quarter of fiscal 2009, we determined the carrying value exceeded the future fair value attributable to the indefinite-lived intangible asset, and therefore we recorded impairment charges of \$8.7 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2009 and \$2.4 million in the second quarter of fiscal

2009 related to the indefinite-lived intangible asset.

All other intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives. As of October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, the weighted average amortization period for all our intangible assets was 13.6 years and 13.3 years, respectively.

83

#### **Table of Contents**

Amortization expense of intangibles was \$2.1 million, \$2.1 million and \$2.2 million for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. We expect to recognize amortization expense over the next five fiscal years as follows (in thousands):

2011	\$ 2,058
2012	1,746
2013	1,563
2014	1,563
2015	1,004

In accordance with ASC Topic 350, *Intangibles Goodwill and Other*, we evaluate the remaining useful life of these intangible assets on an annual basis. We also review for recoverability when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying values may not be recoverable in accordance with ASC Topic 360, *Property, Plant and Equipment*.

#### 7. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

During the first quarter of fiscal 2010, our board of directors unanimously adopted a resolution to submit to a vote of our stockholders a proposal to approve an amendment and restatement of our Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares of Common Stock reserved for issuance under the Incentive Plan by 5.7 million shares of Common Stock (after giving effect to the Reverse Stock Split). On February 19, 2010, the stockholders approved the amendment and restatement of the Company s Incentive Plan. The amendment and restatement of the Incentive Plan increased the number of Common Shares reserved for issuance under the Incentive Plan by 5.7 million to a total of 6.4 million Common Shares (in each case, after giving effect to the Reverse Stock Split), increased the maximum number of shares that may be granted to an individual in any fiscal year to 0.9 million and extended the effective date of the Incentive Plan to 10 years after the date the Compensation Committee of the Company s board of directors approved the amendments.

Our 2003 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan ( Incentive Plan ) is an equity-based compensation plan that allows us to grant a variety of types of awards, including stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance share awards, phantom stock awards and cash awards. On December 11, 2009, our board of directors approved the right of employees and officers to receive grants of 1.5 million shares of restricted stock and the right of officers to receive grants of 1.8 million stock options, both of which were conditioned upon shareholder approval. Our majority stockholder, had informed the Company in writing of its intention to vote in favor of the amendment and restatement of the Incentive Plan. Based on the approval of our board of directors and our majority stockholder, we determined that the finalization of stockholder vote to approve the amendment and restatement of the Incentive Plan was perfunctory and we established a grant date of December 11, 2009 for the restricted stock and stock option awards. As discussed in Note 12 Series B Cumulative Convertible Participating Preferred Stock, at January 31, 2010, the Company did not have sufficient common shares available to settle the restricted stock and stock option awards, and thus, we classified a portion of the awards as liability awards in accordance with ASC Subtopic 718-10, Compensation-Stock Compensation ( ASC 718-10 ). ASC 718-10 requires that liability awards be remeasured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognized in earnings. During fiscal 2010, the changes in fair value were immaterial. On March 5, 2010, the Company effected a Reverse Stock Split at an exchange ratio of 1-for-5 which caused the shares to become available and resulted in all restricted stock and stock option awards being classified as equity awards. As such, on March 5, 2010, all liability awards were reclassified to equity awards and remeasured using a valuation date of March 5, 2010. The total unrecognized compensation cost related to the share-based compensation arrangements reclassified from liability awards to equity awards was \$9.9 million.

As a general rule, awards terminate on the earlier of (i) 10 years from the date of grant, (ii) 30 days after termination of employment or service for a reason other than death, disability or retirement, (iii) one year after death or (iv) one year for incentive stock options or five years for other awards after disability or retirement. Awards are non-transferable except by disposition on death or to certain family members, trusts and other family entities as the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors (the Committee ) may approve.

84

#### **Table of Contents**

Awards may be paid in cash, shares of our common stock or a combination, in lump sum or installments and currently or by deferred payment, all as determined by the Committee. As of October 31, 2010, and for all periods presented, our share-based awards under this plan have consisted of restricted stock grants and stock option grants, neither of which can be settled through cash payments. Both our stock options and restricted stock awards contain only service condition requirements and typically vest over four years, although from time to time certain individuals have received special one-time restricted stock awards that vest at retirement, upon a change of control or on termination without cause or for good reason, as defined by the agreements governing such awards. In addition, our December 11, 2009 stock option grants contain restrictions on the employees ability to exercise and sell the options prior to January 1, 2013, or if earlier, the employees death, disability, or qualifying termination (as defined in the Incentive Plan), or upon a change in control of the Company. A total of approximately 2,500,000 and 113,400 shares were available at October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, respectively, under the Incentive Plan for the further grants of awards.

Since December 2006, the Committee s policy has been to provide for grants of restricted stock once per year, with the size of the awards based on a dollar amount set by the Committee. For executive officers and designated members of senior management, a portion of the award may be fixed and a portion may be subject to adjustment, up or down, depending on the average rate of growth in NCI s earnings per share over the three fiscal years ended prior to the award date. The number of shares awarded on the grant date equals the dollar value specified by the Committee (after adjustment with regard to the variable portion) divided by the closing price of the stock on the grant date, or if the grant date is not a trading day, the trading day prior to the grant date. All restricted stock awards to all award recipients, including executive officers, are subject to a cap in value set by the Committee.

Our option awards and restricted stock awards are typically subject to graded vesting over a service period, which is typically four years. We recognize compensation cost for these awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award. In addition, certain of our awards provide for accelerated vesting upon qualified retirement, after a change of control or upon termination without cause or for good reason. We recognize compensation cost for such awards over the period from grant date to the date the employee first becomes eligible for retirement. On October 20, 2009, we completed a financial restructuring that resulted in a change of control of the Company. With the exception of certain executive officers who received 2004 Long-Term Restricted Stock Awards that vest in full only on retirement, the vesting of all unvested restricted stock and stock options within our Incentive Plan accelerated upon the change of control. As a result, we recorded \$9.1 million in share-based compensation expense upon the accelerated vesting under our Incentive Plan. None of the fiscal 2010 option grants vested during fiscal 2010.

The fair value of each option award is estimated as of the date of grant using a Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing formula. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility of our stock over a preceding period commensurate with the expected term of the option. The risk-free rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. Expected dividend yield was not considered in the option pricing formula since we historically have not paid dividends and have no current plans to do so in the future. There were no options granted during the fiscal years ended November 1, 2009 and November 2, 2008. We have estimated a forfeiture rate of 10% for our non-officers and 0% to 10% for our officers in our calculation of share-based compensation expense for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2010, November 1, 2009 and November 2, 2008. These estimates are based on historical forfeiture behavior exhibited by our employees.

The weighted average assumptions for the equity awards granted on December 11, 2009 are noted in the following table:

Expected volatility	46.05%
Expected term (in years)	5.75
Risk-free interest rate	2.44%

85

#### **Table of Contents**

The weighted average assumptions for the liability awards at the December 11, 2009 grant date and the subsequent reclassification to equity awards remeasured on March 5, 2010 are noted in the following table:

	December 11, 2009	March 5, 2010	
Expected volatility	46.05%	47.01%	
Expected term (in years)	5.75	5.52	
Risk-free interest rate	2.44%	2.49%	

The weighted average grant-date fair value of options granted during fiscal 2010 was \$4.29. There were no options granted during the fiscal years ended November 1, 2009 and November 2, 2008.

The following is a summary of stock option transactions during fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 (in thousands, except weighted average exercise prices and weighted average remaining life):

	Number		/eighted Average	Weighted Average	Aggregate
	of Shares	F	Exercise Price	Remaining Life	Intrinsic Value
Balance October 28, 2007 Granted	149	\$	138.92		
Cancelled	(3)		(156.03)		
Exercised	(7)		(99.28)		
Balance November 2, 2008 Granted	139	\$	140.45		
Cancelled	(8)		(138.91)		
Exercised	(1)		(75.75)		
Balance November 1, 2009	130	\$	140.63		
Granted	1,782		8.85		
Cancelled	(10)		(113.26)		
Exercised					
Balance October 31, 2010	1,902	\$	17.33	8.8 years	\$ 1,889
Exercisable at October 31, 2010	120	\$	142.96	3.3 years	

There were no options exercised during fiscal 2010. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2009 was insignificant and during fiscal 2008 was \$0.4 million. The following summarizes additional information concerning outstanding options at October 31, 2010 (in thousands, except weighted average remaining life and weighted average exercise prices):

	Options Outstanding Weighted Average	Weigl	nted Average
Number of Options			rcise Price
1,803	9.0 years	\$	9.76
43	3.3 years		136.32
48	3.8 years		161.68
8	5.2 years		225.21
1,902	8.8 years	\$	17.33
	86		

#### **Table of Contents**

The following summarizes additional information concerning options exercisable at October 31, 2010 (in thousands, except weighted average exercise prices):

<b>Options</b>	Exercisable	

Number of Options		Weighted Average
		Exercise Price
	22	\$ 84.55
	43	136.32
	48	161.67
	7	225.22
	120	\$ 142.96

The fair value of restricted stock awards classified as equity awards is based on the Company s stock price as of the date of grant. The fair value of restricted stock awards previously classified as liability awards on March 5, 2010 is based on the Company s stock price as of March 5, 2010, the date the contingency was resolved. Restricted stock transactions during fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 were as follows (in thousands, except weighted average grant prices):

	Number of Shares	Weighted Average Grant Price			
Balance October 28, 2007	103	\$	189.83		
Granted	50		130.05		
Distributed	(55)		173.19		
Forfeited	(2)		195.46		
Balance November 2, 2008	96	\$	167.97		
Granted	142		43.27		
Distributed	(27)		180.38		
Forfeited	(7)		142.43		
Balance November 1, 2009	204	\$	80.57		
Granted	1,499		9.10		
Distributed					
Forfeited	(6)		9.10		
Balance October 31, 2010	1,697	\$	17.70		

The total recurring pre-tax share-based compensation cost that has been recognized in results of operations was \$5.0 million, \$4.8 million and \$9.5 million for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2010, November 1, 2009 and November 2, 2008, respectively. Of these amounts, \$4.8 million, \$4.3 million and \$8.5 million were included in

selling, general and administrative expense for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2010, November 1, 2009 and November 2, 2008, respectively, with the remaining costs in each period in cost of goods sold. On October 20, 2009, upon the change of control, we recorded \$9.1 million of accelerated unamortized compensation expense which was included in the change of control charges on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. As of October 31, 2010, we do not have any amounts capitalized for share-based compensation cost in inventory or similar assets. The total income tax benefit recognized in results of operations for share-based compensation arrangements was \$1.9 million, \$5.3 million and \$3.6 million for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2010, November 1, 2009 and November 2, 2008, respectively. As of October 31, 2010, there was approximately \$18.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to share-based compensation arrangements and this cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average remaining period of 3.7 years. As a result of the change of control in fiscal 2009, all compensation cost related to share-based compensation arrangements were recognized as of November 1, 2009.

87

#### **Table of Contents**

There was no cash received from option exercises during fiscal 2010. Cash received from option exercises was insignificant during fiscal 2009 and was \$0.7 million during fiscal 2008. The actual tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from option exercises totaled \$0.2 million for fiscal 2008.

## 8. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE

Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) allocated to common shares by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings (loss) per common share considers the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents. The reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used for the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

	Fiscal Year Ended October 31, November 1, No 2010 2009		November 1,		d November 2, 2008	
Numerator for Basic and Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share Net income (loss) allocated to common shares Less net income (loss) allocated to participating securities(1)	\$	(311,227)	\$	(762,509) 8,877	\$	73,278 1,445
Net income (loss) allocated to common shares	\$	(311,227)	\$	(753,632)	\$	71,833
Denominator for Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share Weighted average common shares outstanding for basic earnings (loss) per share Common stock equivalents: Employee stock options		18,229		4,403		3,866
Adjusted weighted average shares and assumed conversions for diluted earnings (loss) per share		18,229		4,403		3,886
Earnings (loss) per common share Basic	\$	(17.07)	\$	(171.18)	\$	18.58
Diluted	\$	(17.07)	\$	(171.18)	\$	18.49

(1) Participating securities consist of the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock, as defined below, and the unvested restricted Common Stock related to our Incentive Plan. Participating securities do not have a contractual obligation to share in losses, therefore, no losses were allocated in fiscal 2010 above. These participating securities will be allocated earnings when applicable.

The indenture under which the Convertible Notes were issued contains a net share settlement provision as described in ASC Subtopic 260-10, *Earnings Per Share Overall* (ASC 260-10), whereby conversions are settled for a combination of cash and shares, and shares are only issued to the extent the conversion value exceeds the principal

amount. The incremental shares that we would have been required to issue had the Convertible Notes been converted at the average trading price during the period have been included in the diluted earnings (loss) per common share calculation because our average stock trading price had exceeded the \$200.70 conversion threshold. However, during fiscal 2009, the Convertible Notes could only be converted by the holders if our stock price traded above the initial conversion price of our Convertible Notes (see Note 11) for at least 20 trading days in each of the 30 consecutive trading day period of the preceding calendar quarter or upon other specified events. At November 1, 2009, the Convertible Notes were not convertible and, as a result, had no impact on earnings (loss) per common share.

As discussed in Note 3, we adopted ASC Subtopic 260-10, ASC 260-10 on November 2, 2009. This pronouncement provides that unvested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to

88

#### **Table of Contents**

dividends or dividend equivalents are participating securities and, therefore, should be included in computing earnings per share using the two-class method. The calculation of earnings per share for Common Stock presented here has been reclassified to exclude the income, if any, attributable to the unvested restricted stock awards from the numerator and exclude the dilutive impact of those shares from the denominator. There was no income amount attributable to unvested restricted stock for fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2009 as the restricted stock does not share in the net losses. However, in periods of net income, a portion of this income will be allocable to the restricted stock. All prior period earnings per share data have been adjusted retrospectively to conform to the provisions of this pronouncement.

The weighted average number of common shares outstanding increased by 0.5 million due to the completion of the Exchange Offer in October 2009. In connection with the exchange offer, we issued 14.0 million shares of Common Stock. In addition to the Exchange Offer, our 2009 refinancing transaction included the issuance of \$250.0 million in shares of a newly created series of our preferred stock, par value \$1.00 per share, designated the Series B Cumulative Convertible Participating Preferred Stock ( Convertible Preferred Stock, and shares thereof, Preferred Shares ) which required the use of the two-class method in determining diluted earnings per share, but did not increase the weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding because the Convertible Preferred Stock does not share in losses of the Company. As of October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, the Preferred Shares were convertible into 44.3 million and 39.2 million shares of Common Stock, respectively.

Dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock are payable, on a cumulative daily basis, as, if and when declared by our board of directors, at a rate per annum of 12% of the liquidation preference of \$1,000 per Preferred Share, subject to certain adjustments, if paid in-kind or at a rate per annum of 8% of the liquidation preference of \$1,000 per Preferred Share if paid in cash on the declaration date. On the Dividend Payment Committee date, we have the right to choose whether dividends are paid in cash or in-kind, subject to the conditions of the Amended Credit Agreement and ABL Facility including being contractually limited in our ability to pay cash dividends until the first quarter of fiscal 2011 under the Amended Credit Agreement and until October 20, 2010 under the ABL Facility. In addition, our Amended Credit Agreement currently restricts the payment of cash dividends to 50% of cumulative earnings beginning with the fourth quarter of 2009, and in the absence of accumulated earnings, cash dividends and other cash restricted payments are limited to \$14.5 million in the aggregate during the term of the loan.

The number of weighted average options that were not included in the diluted earnings per share calculation because the effect would have been anti-dilutive was approximately 61,800 shares for the fiscal year ended November 2, 2008. The anti-dilutive weighted average unvested restricted shares that were not included in the diluted earnings per share calculation was approximately 28,400 shares for the fiscal year ended November 2, 2008. For the fiscal years ended October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, all options and unvested restricted shares were anti-dilutive and, therefore, not included in the diluted loss per share calculation.

## 9. OTHER ACCRUED EXPENSES

Other accrued expenses are comprised of the following (in thousands):

	October 31, 2010		November 1, 2009	
Customer deposits	\$	5,815	\$	5,123
Accrued warranty obligation and deferred warranty revenue		16,977		16,116
Accrued workers compensation and general liability insurance		7,400		8,967
Ad valorem tax payable		3,427		4,067

Accrued transaction costs Other accrued expenses	13,104	4,762 15,762
Total other accrued expenses	\$ 46,723	\$ 54,797

89

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 10. WARRANTY

The following table represents the rollforward of our accrued warranty obligation and deferred warranty revenue activity for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009 (in thousands):

	October 31, 2010			November 1, 2009		
Beginning balance	\$	16,116	\$	16,484		
Warranties sold		2,885		2,628		
Revenue recognized		(1,408)		(1,273)		
Costs incurred		(313)		(259)		
Adjustment(1)				(1,313)		
Other		(303)		(151)		
Ending balance	\$	16,977	\$	16,116		

<sup>(1)</sup> This adjustment relates to certain of the RCC warranty claims liabilities that were updated based on a change in our claims processing procedures and revised analysis. This change was recorded as a reduction of cost of sales in our Consolidated Statement of Operations during the first quarter of fiscal 2009.

#### 11. LONG-TERM DEBT

Debt is comprised of the following (in thousands):

	October 31, 2010		November 1, 2009	
Amended and Restated Term Loan Credit Agreement (due April 2014, interest at 8.0%) Asset-Based Lending Facility (due April 2014, interest at 6.50%) 2.125% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes Industrial Revenue Bond	\$	136,305	\$	150,000 59 190
Current portion of long-term debt		136,305		150,249 (14,164)
Total long-term debt, less current portion	\$	136,305	\$	136,085

The scheduled maturity of our debt is as follows (in thousands):

2011 \$

2012 2013

2014 136,305

2015 and thereafter

\$ 136,305

#### **Summary**

We have an Amended Credit Agreement (the Amended Credit Agreement ) which includes \$150 million in term loans. The term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement will mature on April 20, 2014 and, prior to that date, will amortize in nominal quarterly installments equal to 0.25% of the principal amount of the term loan then outstanding as of the last day of each calendar quarter. However, we made a mandatory prepayment on the Amended Credit Agreement in May 2010 in connection with our refund received resulting from the carry back of the 2009 net operating loss. As a result, we are not required to make the quarterly principal payments for the remainder of the term loan, except as required by the mandatory prepayment provisions. At October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, amounts outstanding under our Amended Credit Agreement were \$136.3 million and \$150.0 million, respectively.

90

## **Table of Contents**

In addition to our Amended Credit Agreement, we have an ABL Facility which allows aggregate maximum borrowings by NCI Group, Inc. and Robertson-Ceco II Corporation of up to \$125.0 million. Borrowing availability on the ABL Facility is determined by a monthly borrowing base collateral calculation that is based on specified percentages of the value of qualified cash, eligible inventory and eligible accounts receivable, less certain reserves and subject to certain other adjustments. The ABL Facility has a maturity of April 20, 2014 and includes borrowing capacity of up to \$25 million for letters of credit and up to \$10 million for swingline borrowings. At October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, our excess availability under the ABL Facility was \$73.8 million and \$70.4 million, respectively. There were no amounts outstanding under the ABL Facility at both October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009. In addition, at October 31, 2010, letters of credit totaling approximately \$8.1 million were outstanding under the ABL Facility. There were no letters of credit outstanding under the ABL Facility at November 1, 2009.

On December 3, 2010, we finalized an amendment of our ABL Facility that reduces the unused commitment fee from 1% or 0.75% based on the average daily balance of loans and letters of credit obligations outstanding to an annual rate of 0.5%, reduces the effective interest rate on borrowings, if any, by nearly 40% or 175 basis points and relaxes the prohibitions against paying cash dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock to allow, in the aggregate, up to \$6.5 million of cash dividends or other payments each calendar quarter, provided certain excess availability conditions or excess availability conditions and a fixed charge coverage ratio under the ABL Facility are satisfied.

#### Amended Credit Agreement

On October 29, 2009, we entered into the Amended Credit Agreement, pursuant to which we repaid \$143.3 million of the \$293.3 million in principal amount of term loans outstanding under such credit agreement and modified the terms and maturity of the remaining \$150.0 million balance. The modified terms of the term loan require quarterly principal payments in the amount of 0.25% of the principal amount of the term loan then outstanding as of the last day of each calendar quarter and a final payment of approximately \$136.3 million at maturity on April 20, 2014. We made a mandatory prepayment on the Amended Credit Agreement in May 2010 in connection with our refund received resulting from the carry back of the 2009 net operating loss. An additional \$13.3 million in principal amount of the term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement was classified as current portion of long-term debt in our Consolidated Balance Sheet at November 1, 2009 as a result of this expected mandatory prepayment.

The Company s obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement and any interest rate protection agreements or other permitted hedging agreement entered into with any lender under the Amended Credit Agreement are irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several basis by each direct and indirect domestic subsidiary of the Company (other than any domestic subsidiary that is a foreign subsidiary holding company or a subsidiary of a foreign subsidiary).

The obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement and under any permitted hedging agreement and the guarantees thereof are secured by (i) all of the capital stock and other equity interests of all direct domestic subsidiaries owned by the Company and the guarantors, (ii) up to 65% of the capital stock of certain direct foreign subsidiaries of the Company or any guarantor (it being understood that a foreign subsidiary holding company or a domestic subsidiary of a foreign subsidiary will be deemed a foreign subsidiary) and (iii) substantially all other tangible and intangible assets owned by the Company and each guarantor, including liens on material real property, in each case to the extent permitted by applicable law. The liens securing the obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement, the permitted hedging agreements and the guarantees thereof are first in priority (as between the Amended Credit Agreement and the ABL Facility) with respect to stock, material real property and assets other than accounts receivable, inventory, certain deposit accounts, associated intangibles and certain other specified assets of the Company and the guarantors. Such liens are second in priority (as between the Amended Credit Agreement and the ABL Facility) with respect to accounts receivable, inventory, associated intangibles and certain other specified assets of the Company and the

91

#### **Table of Contents**

The Amended Credit Agreement contains a number of covenants that, among other things, limit or restrict our ability to dispose of assets, incur additional indebtedness, incur guarantee obligations, prepay other indebtedness, make dividends and other cash restricted payments, create liens, make investments, make acquisitions, engage in mergers, change the nature of their business and engage in certain transactions with affiliates.

The Amended Credit Agreement has no financial covenant test until October 30, 2011, at which time the maximum consolidated leverage ratio of net indebtedness to EBITDA is 5 to 1. This ratio steps down by 0.25 each quarter until October 28, 2012 at which time the maximum ratio is 4 to 1. The ratio continues to step down by 0.125 each quarter until November 3, 2013 to a ratio of 3.5 to 1, which remains the maximum ratio for each fiscal quarter thereafter. We will, however, not be subject to this financial covenant with respect to a specified period if certain prepayments or repurchases of the term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement are made in the specified period. Based on our prepayments made through October 31, 2010, including the mandatory prepayment in connection with our tax refund, the leverage ratio covenant has been effectively deferred until at least the third quarter of fiscal 2012. Net indebtedness is defined as consolidated debt less the lesser of cash or \$50 million. At October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, our Amended Credit Agreement did not require any financial covenant compliance.

Term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement may be repaid at any time, without premium or penalty but subject to customary LIBOR breakage costs. We also have the ability to repurchase a portion of the term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement, subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement. In addition, the Amended Credit Agreement requires mandatory prepayment and reduction in an amount equal to:

the net cash proceeds of (1) certain asset sales, (2) certain debt offerings and (3) certain insurance recovery and condemnation events:

50% of annual excess cash flow (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) for any fiscal year ending on or after October 31, 2010, unless a specified leverage ratio target is met; and

the greater of \$10.0 million and 50% of certain tax refunds received by the Company resulting from the carry back of the 2009 net operating loss received by the Company.

The Amended Credit Agreement limits our ability to pay cash dividends on or prior to October 31, 2010 after which time we may pay any dividend in an amount not to exceed the available amount (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement). The available amount is defined in the Amended Credit Agreement as the sum of 50% of the consolidated net income from August 2, 2009 to the end of the most recent fiscal quarter, less 100% of any negative consolidated net income amount, plus net proceeds of property or assets received as capital contributions, less the sum of all dividends, payments or other distributions of such available amounts, in each case subject to certain adjustments and exceptions as specified in the Amended Credit Agreement. In the absence of accumulated earnings, cash dividends and other cash restricted payments are limited to \$14.5 million in the aggregate during the term of the loan.

The term loan under the Amended Credit Agreement bears interest, at our option, at either LIBOR or Base Rate plus an applicable margin. We had selected LIBOR interest rates for the period from November 2, 2009 through August 1, 2010 during which the applicable margin was 6%. Overdue amounts will bear interest at a rate that is 2% higher than the rate otherwise applicable. Base Rate is defined as the highest of (i) the Wachovia Bank, National Association prime rate, (ii) the overnight Federal Funds rate plus 0.5%, and (iii) 3%. LIBOR is defined as the applicable London interbank offered rate (not to be less than 2%) adjusted for reserves. The applicable margin until October 30, 2011 will be 5.00% on Base Rate loans and 6.00% on LIBOR loans under the Amended Credit Agreement.

In accordance with ASC Subtopic 470-50, *Debt Modifications and Extinguishments*, we accounted for the amendment to our Amended Credit Agreement as a modification, and we have expensed \$6.4 million of legal and other professional fees paid to third-parties in connection with amending the facility in fiscal 2009.

92

#### **Table of Contents**

During June 2006, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement relating to \$160 million of the term credit agreement then in effect, prior to its amendment and restatement as the Amended Credit Agreement due June 2010. The interest rate swap agreement expired in June 2010. At November 1, 2009, the notional amount of the interest rate swap agreement was \$65 million. See Note 14 for further information.

#### ABL Facility

On October 20, 2009, the subsidiaries of the Company, NCI Group, Inc. and RCC and the Company entered into the ABL Facility pursuant to a loan and security agreement that provided for a \$125.0 million asset-based loan facility. The ABL Facility allows us an aggregate maximum borrowing of up to \$125.0 million. Borrowing availability under the ABL Facility is determined by a monthly borrowing base collateral calculation that is based on specified percentages of the value of qualified cash, eligible inventory and eligible accounts receivable, less certain reserves and subject to certain other adjustments. The ABL Facility has a maturity of April 20, 2014 and includes borrowing capacity of up to \$25 million for letters of credit and up to \$10 million for swingline borrowings.

On December 3, 2010, we finalized an amendment of our ABL Facility that reduces the unused commitment fee from 1% or 0.75% based on the average daily balance of loans and letters of credit obligations outstanding to an annual rate of 0.5%. The calculation is determined on the amount by which the maximum credit exceeds the average daily principal balance of outstanding loans and letter of credit obligations. Additional customary fees in connection with the ABL Facility also apply. In addition, the amendment reduces the effective interest rate on borrowings, if any, by nearly 40% or 175 basis points and relaxes the prohibitions against paying cash dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock to allow, in the aggregate, up to \$6.5 million of cash dividends or other payments each calendar quarter, provided certain excess availability conditions or excess availability conditions and a fixed charge coverage ratio under the ABL Facility are satisfied.

The obligations of the borrowers under the ABL Facility are guaranteed by us and each direct and indirect domestic subsidiary of the Company (other than any domestic subsidiary that is a foreign subsidiary holding company or a subsidiary of a foreign subsidiary) that is not a borrower under the ABL Facility. Our obligations under certain specified bank products agreements are guaranteed by each borrower and each other direct and indirect domestic subsidiary of the Company and the other guarantors. These guarantees are made pursuant to a guarantee agreement, dated as of October 20, 2009, entered into by the Company and each other guarantor with Wells Fargo Foothill, LLC, as administrative agent.

The obligations under the ABL Facility and the guarantees thereof are secured by a first priority lien on our accounts receivable, inventory, certain deposit accounts, associated intangibles and certain other specified assets of the Company and a second priority lien on the assets securing the term loans under the Amended Credit Agreement on a first-lien basis.

The ABL Facility contains a number of covenants that, among other things, limit or restrict our ability to dispose of assets, incur additional indebtedness, incur guarantee obligations, engage in sale and leaseback transactions, prepay other indebtedness, modify organizational documents and certain other agreements, create restrictions affecting subsidiaries, make dividends and other cash restricted payments, create liens, make investments, make acquisitions, engage in mergers, change the nature of their business and engage in certain transactions with affiliates.

Under the ABL Facility, a Dominion Event occurs if either an event of default is continuing or excess availability falls below certain levels, during which period, and for certain periods thereafter, the administrative agent may apply all amounts in the Company s, the borrowers and other guarantors concentration accounts to the repayment of the loans outstanding under the ABL Facility, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement. In addition, during such Dominion Event,

we are required to make mandatory payments on our ABL Facility upon the occurrence of certain events, including the sale of assets and the issuance of debt, in each case subject to certain limitations and conditions set forth in the ABL Facility.

93

#### **Table of Contents**

The ABL Facility includes a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of one to one, which will apply if we fail to maintain a specified minimum level of borrowing capacity. The minimum level of borrowing capacity as of both October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009 was \$15.0 million.

Loans under the ABL Facility bear interest, at our option, as follows:

- (1) Base Rate loans at the Base Rate plus a margin. The margin was 3.50% through April 30, 2010 and thereafter ranges from 3.25% to 3.75% depending on the quarterly average excess availability under such facility, and
- (2) LIBOR loans at LIBOR plus a margin. The margin was 4.50% through April 30, 2010 and thereafter ranges from 4.25% to 4.75% depending on the quarterly average excess availability under such facility.

On December 3, 2010, we finalized an amendment of our ABL Facility that, among other items, reduces the effective interest rate on borrowings, if any, by nearly 40% or 175 basis points. As a result, Base Rate loans bear interest at the Base Rate plus a margin of 1.50% to 2.00% depending on the quarter average excess availability under such facility. LIBOR loans bear an interest at the Base Rate plus a margin of 2.50% to 3.0%.

During an event of default, loans under the ABL Facility will bear interest at a rate that is 2% higher than the rate otherwise applicable. Base rate is defined as the higher of the Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. prime rate or the overnight Federal Funds rate plus 0.5% and LIBOR is defined as the applicable London interbank offered rate adjusted for reserves.

#### Convertible Notes

As discussed in Note 3 Adopted and Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements, on November 2, 2009, we adopted ASC 470-20 which clarifies the accounting for convertible debt instruments that may be settled entirely or partially in cash upon conversion. ASC 470-20 has been applied retrospectively to fiscal years 2005 through 2009 as it relates to our Convertible Notes. As a result, we recorded a cumulative effect of the change to retained earnings in the amount of \$9.5 million. The debt and equity components recognized for our Convertible Notes were as follows (in thousands):

	October 31, 2010	vember 1, 2009
Principal amount of Convertible Notes Unamortized discount	\$	\$ 59
Net carrying amount Additional paid-in capital	24,473	59 24,473

In October 2009, we consummated the Exchange Offer to acquire \$180 million aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Notes, which resulted in the tender offer of \$179.9 million in principal amount of the Convertible Notes in exchange for 14.0 million shares of our Common Stock and \$90 million in cash. On December 29, 2009, we redeemed the \$58,750 principal amount of the Convertible Notes that remained outstanding after the closing of the Exchange Offer. The remaining unamortized discount was reversed upon the consummation of the Exchange Offer. The amount of contractual coupon interest and amortization of the discount was \$3.8 million and \$8.4 million, respectively, during fiscal 2009. The effective interest rate was 7.5% during fiscal 2009.

During fiscal 2009, in accordance with ASC Subtopic 470-50, *Debt Modifications and Extinguishments*, we recorded \$85.3 million of debt extinguishment costs and \$5.7 million of capitalized equity raising costs.

The debt extinguishment costs were determined based on the net of the inducement loss and the settlement gain. As the Convertible Notes were Instrument C as defined in ASC Subtopic 815-15, *Embedded Derivatives*, we applied the guidance in ASC Subtopic 470-20, *Debt with Conversion and Other Options ( ASC 470-20 )*, for any inducement to convert, and then applied the guidance in ASC 470-20 on the conversion of an instrument that would normally settle the conversion spread in shares and the face amount in

94

#### **Table of Contents**

cash. As a result, we recorded a loss of \$85.3 million, which was the net impact of the loss incurred through the induced conversion offset by the gain recorded for the extinguishment of the recognized liability under conversion accounting. In accordance with the original conversion terms of the Convertible Notes, the expected fair value of Common Stock issuable upon conversion is approximately \$11.3 million (based on a \$12.55 closing stock price for Common Stock as of October 19, 2009) as compared to the expected fair value of Common Stock issuable pursuant to the Exchange Offer of approximately \$266.1 million (\$176.1 million in Common Stock plus \$90 million in cash paid). This resulted in an induced conversion charge of \$254.9 million. Additionally, we also had to consider the original terms of the Convertible Notes, which required us to satisfy the accreted value of the obligation in cash and allowed us to satisfy the excess conversion value over the accreted value in either cash or shares. However, as of the date the Convertible Notes were converted, the stated conversion price of the Convertible Notes was less than the stock price. Based upon the stated conversion terms of the Convertible Notes and the stock price on the date the Convertible Notes were converted, the value of the Company s cash settlement to the holders of the Convertible Notes would have been approximately \$11.3 million. Upon settlement of a security with the characteristics of Instrument C, ASC 470-20-40-12 requires only the cash payment be considered in the computation of the gain or loss on the extinguishment of the recognized liability. As of the close of the market on October 19, 2009, each conversion feature was worth a value of approximately \$62.53 (\$12.55 closing stock price x conversion rate of 4.9824 shares per \$1,000 of principal). Accordingly, the Company recognized a gain of \$169.6 million which included \$0.8 million of unamortized debt discount and a gain of \$937.47 for each note. The change in conversion rate based on a \$12.55 closing stock price for Common Stock as of October 19, 2009 resulted in a gain on extinguishment of the recognized liability of \$169.6 million.

## **Deferred Financing Costs**

At October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, the unamortized balance in deferred financing costs was \$16.2 million and \$20.6 million, respectively.

## 12. SERIES B CUMULATIVE CONVERTIBLE PARTICIPATING PREFERRED STOCK

## The CD&R Equity Investment

On August 14, 2009, the Company entered into an Investment Agreement (as amended, the Investment Agreement ), by and between the Company and Clayton, Dubilier & Rice Fund VIII, L.P. ( CD&R Fund VIII ), pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue and sell to CD&R Fund VIII, and CD&R Fund VIII agreed to purchase from the Company, for an aggregate purchase price of \$250 million (less reimbursement to CD&R Fund VIII or direct payment to its service providers of up to \$14.5 million in the aggregate of transaction expenses and a deal fee, paid to Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, Inc., the manager of CD&R Fund VIII, of \$8.25 million), 250,000 shares of Convertible Preferred Stock. Pursuant to the Investment Agreement, on October 20, 2009 (the Closing Date ), the Company issued and sold to the CD&R Fund VIII and CD&R Friends & Family Fund VIII, L.P. (the CD&R Funds ), and the CD&R Funds purchased from the Company, an aggregate of 250,000 Preferred Shares, representing approximately 39.2 million shares of Common Stock (after giving effect to the Reverse Stock Split) or 68.4% of the voting power and Common Stock of the Company on an as-converted basis as of the Closing Date (such purchase and sale, the CD&R Equity Investment ). At October 31, 2010, the CD&R Funds own 69.4% of the voting power and Common Stock of the Company on an as-converted basis.

#### Certain Terms of the Convertible Preferred Stock

In connection with the consummation of the Equity Investment, on October 19, 2009 we filed the Certificate of Designations, setting forth the terms, rights, powers, and preferences, and the qualifications, limitations and

restrictions thereof, of the Convertible Preferred Stock.

Liquidation Value. Each Preferred Share has an initial liquidation preference of \$1,000.

*Rank.* The Convertible Preferred Stock ranks senior as to dividend rights, redemption payments and rights upon liquidation to the Common Stock and each other class of series of our equity securities, whether

95

#### **Table of Contents**

currently issued or to be issued in the future, that by its terms ranks junior to the Convertible Preferred Stock, and junior to each class or series of equity securities of the Company, whether currently issued or issued in the future, that by its terms ranks senior to the Convertible Preferred Stock. We have no outstanding securities ranking senior to the Convertible Preferred Stock. Pursuant to the Certificate of Designations, the issuance of any senior securities of the Company requires the approval of the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock.

Dividends. Dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock are payable, on a cumulative daily basis, as and if declared by the our board of directors, at a rate per annum of 12% of the sum of the liquidation preference of \$1,000 per Preferred Share plus accrued and unpaid dividends thereon or at a rate per annum of 8% of the sum of the liquidation preference of \$1,000 per Preferred Share plus any accrued and unpaid dividends thereon if paid in cash on the dividend declaration date on which such dividends would otherwise compound. If dividends are not paid in cash or in kind, such dividends compound on the dividend payment date. Members of our board of directors who are not affiliated with the CD&R Funds have the right to choose whether such dividends are paid in cash or in-kind, subject to the conditions of the Amended Credit Agreement and ABL Facility which limit or restrict our ability to pay cash dividends until the first quarter of fiscal 2011 under the Amended Credit Agreement and until October 20, 2010 under the ABL Facility. In addition, our Amended Credit Agreement currently restricts the payment of cash dividends to 50% of cumulative earnings beginning with the fourth quarter of 2009, and in the absence of accumulated earnings, cash dividends and other cash restricted payments are limited to \$14.5 million in the aggregate during the term of the loan.

At any time prior to the Dividend Rate Reduction Event, if dividends are not declared in cash on the applicable dividend declaration date, the rate at which such dividends are payable will be at least 12% per annum. Prior to the vote of the Dividend Payment Committee, the Company is obligated to the 12% dividend rate. Therefore, we accrue dividends daily based on the 12% rate and if and when we determine the dividends will be paid in cash on the applicable dividend declaration date, we will record a subsequent benefit of the excess 4% accrual upon our board s declaration of such cash dividend and reverse the beneficial conversion feature charge associated with such accrual.

The dividend rate will increase by 3% per annum above the rates described in the preceding paragraph upon and during certain defaults specified in the Certificate of Designations of the Convertible Preferred Stock (the Certificate of Designations ) and, after June 30, 2011, will increase by up to 6% per annum above the rates described in the preceding paragraph upon and during any such specified default involving the Company s failure to have a number of authorized and unissued shares of Common Stock reserved and available sufficient for the conversion of all outstanding Preferred Shares. The Company currently has sufficient authorized, unissued and reserved shares of Common Stock.

On the Dividend Payment Committee date, we have the right to choose whether dividends are paid in cash or in-kind. However, the first dividend payment which was scheduled to be paid on December 15, 2009, was required to be paid in cash by the Certificate of Designations but could not be paid in cash based on the terms of our Amended Credit Agreement and Asset-Based Lending Facility (ABL Facility) which restricts our ability to pay cash dividends until the first quarter of fiscal 2011 under the Amended Credit Agreement and until October 20, 2010 under the ABL Facility. As a result, the dividend for the period up to the December 15, 2009 dividend declaration date compounded at a rate of 12% per annum.

In addition to any dividends declared and paid as described in the preceding paragraphs, holders of the outstanding Preferred Shares also have the right to participate equally and ratably, on an as-converted basis, with the holders of shares of Common Stock in all cash dividends and distributions paid on the Common Stock.

On December 15, 2010, the Dividend Payment Committee of our board of directors declared and paid to the holders of Convertible Preferred Stock, the CD&R Funds, a \$5.55 million Convertible Preferred Stock dividend in cash at a pro rata rate of 8% per annum. On September 15, 2010, the Dividend Payment Committee of our board of directors declared and paid to the holders of Convertible Preferred Stock, the CD&R Funds, a dividend of 8,169.8438 shares of Convertible Preferred Stock for the period from June 16, 2010 through September 15, 2010. On June 15, 2010, the Dividend Payment Committee of our board of

96

#### **Table of Contents**

directors declared and paid to the holders of Convertible Preferred Stock, the CD&R Funds, a dividend of 7,971.8137 shares of Convertible Preferred Stock for the period from March 16, 2010 through June 15, 2010. On March 17, 2010, the Dividend Payment Committee of our board of directors declared and paid to the holders of Convertible Preferred Stock, the CD&R Funds, a dividend of 6,361.5815 shares of Convertible Preferred Stock for the period from December 16, 2009 through March 15, 2010.

If, at any time after the 30-month anniversary of the Closing Date of October 20, 2009, the trading price of the Common Stock exceeds 200% of the initial conversion price of the Convertible Preferred Stock (\$6.3740, as adjusted for any stock dividends, splits, combinations or similar events) for each of 20 consecutive trading days (the Dividend Rate Reduction Event ), the dividend rate (excluding any applicable adjustments as a result of a default) will become 0.00%. However, this does not preclude the payment of default dividends after the 30-month anniversary of the Closing Date. As a result of certain restrictions on dividend payments in our Amended Credit Agreement and ABL Facility, the dividends for each quarter of fiscal 2010 were paid in-kind, at a pro rata rate of 12% per annum. See Note 11 Long-term Debt for more information on our Amended Credit Agreement and ABL Facility.

Convertibility and Antidilution Adjustments. To the extent that we have authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock, holders of Preferred Shares have the right, at any time and from time to time, at their option, to convert any or all of their Preferred Shares, in whole or in part, into fully paid and non-assessable shares of our Common Stock at the conversion price set forth in the Certificate of Designations. The number of shares of Common Stock into which a Preferred Share is convertible is determined by dividing the sum of the liquidation preference of \$1,000 per Preferred Share and the accrued and unpaid dividends of such share as of the time of conversion by the conversion price in effect at the time of conversion.

The initial conversion price of the Convertible Preferred Stock was equal to \$6.3740 as of October 31, 2010, as adjusted for the Reverse Stock Split. The conversion price is subject to adjustment as set forth in the Certificate of Designations and is subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments, including stock dividends, splits, combinations or similar events and issuance of our Common Stock at a price below the then-current market price and, within the first three years after the Closing Date, issuances of our Common Stock below the then applicable conversion price.

Milestone Redemption Right. The Company has the right, at any time on or after the tenth anniversary of the Closing Date, to redeem in whole, but not in part, all then-issued and outstanding shares of Convertible Preferred Stock in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Certificate of Designations. Any holder of Convertible Preferred Stock has the right, at any time on or after the tenth anniversary of the Closing Date, to require that the Company redeem all, but not less than all, of its shares of Convertible Preferred Stock in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Certificate of Designations. In each case, such right (the Milestone Redemption Right), is exercisable at a redemption price for each Preferred Share equal to the sum of the liquidation preference of \$1,000 per Preferred Share and the accrued and unpaid dividends of such share as of the time of redemption.

Change of Control Redemption Right. Upon certain change of control events specified in the Certificate of Designations, including certain business combinations involving the Company and certain changes to the beneficial ownership of the voting power of the Company, so long as the CD&R Funds do not own 45% or more of the voting power of the Company and directors designated by the CD&R Funds are not entitled to cast a majority of the total number of votes that can be cast by the Company s board of directors or by the directors constituting the quorum approving or recommending such change of control event, holders of Preferred Shares are able to require redemption by the Company, in whole but not in part, of the Convertible Preferred Stock (1) if redeemed after the fourth anniversary of the Closing Date, at a purchase price equal to the sum of the liquidation value of such Preferred Shares and the accrued and unpaid dividends thereon as of the redemption date or (2) if redeemed prior to the fourth anniversary of the Closing Date, at a purchase price equal to the sum of (a) the liquidation value of such Preferred

Shares plus the accrued and unpaid dividends thereon as of the redemption date and (b) a make-whole premium equal to the net present value of the sum of all dividends that would otherwise be payable on and after the redemption date, to and including such fourth anniversary date, assuming that such dividends are paid in cash. In addition, upon change of control events

97

#### **Table of Contents**

pursuant to the Amended Credit Agreement or the ABL Facility, holders of Preferred Shares are able to require redemption by the Company, in whole but not in part, of the Convertible Preferred Stock, at a purchase price equal to 101% of the sum of the liquidation value of such Preferred Shares and the accrued and unpaid dividends thereon as of the redemption date.

In the event of a merger or other business combination resulting in a change of control in which the holders of shares of our Common Stock receive cash or securities of an unaffiliated entity as consideration for such shares, if the holder of Preferred Shares does not exercise the change of control redemption right described in the paragraph above or is not entitled to the change of control redemption right in connection with such event, such holder will be entitled to receive, pursuant to such merger or business combination, the consideration such holder would have received for its Preferred Shares had it converted such shares immediately prior to the merger or business combination transaction. In the event of a merger or other business combination not resulting in a change of control in which the holders of shares of our Common Stock receive cash or securities of an unaffiliated entity as consideration for such shares, holders of Convertible Preferred Stock shall have the option to exchange their Preferred Shares for shares of the surviving entity s capital stock having terms, preferences, rights, privileges and powers no less favorable than the terms, preferences, rights, privileges and powers under the Certificate of Designations.

*Vote.* Holders of Preferred Shares generally are entitled to vote with the holders of the shares of our Common Stock on all matters submitted for a vote of holders of shares of our Common Stock (voting together with the holders of shares of our Common Stock as one class) and are entitled to a number of votes equal to the number shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of such holder s Preferred Shares (without any limitations based on our authorized but unissued shares of our Common Stock) as of the applicable record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote on such matters.

Certain matters require the approval of the holders of a majority of the outstanding Preferred Shares, voting as a separate class, including (1) amendments or modifications to the Company s Certificate of Incorporation, by-laws or the Certificate of Designations, that would adversely affect the terms or the powers, preferences, rights or privileges of the Convertible Preferred Stock, (2) authorization, creation, increase in the authorized amount of, or issuance of any class or series of senior securities or any security convertible into, or exchangeable or exercisable for, shares of senior securities and (3) any increase or decrease in the authorized number of Preferred Shares or the issuance of additional Preferred Shares.

In addition, in the event that the Company fails to fulfill its obligations to redeem the Convertible Preferred Stock in accordance with the terms of the Certificate of Designations following the exercise of the Milestone Redemption Right or change of control redemption rights described above, until such failure is remedied, certain additional actions of the Company shall require the approval of the holders of a majority of the outstanding Preferred Shares, voting as a separate class, including the adoption of an annual budget, the hiring and firing, or the changing of the compensation, of executive officers and the commitment, resolution or agreement to effect any business combination.

Restriction on Dividends on Junior Securities. The Company is prohibited from (i) paying any dividend with respect to our Common Stock or other junior securities, except for ordinary cash dividends in which the Convertible Preferred Stock participates and which are declared, paid or set aside after the base dividend rate for the Convertible Preferred Stock has been reduced to 0.00% as described above and dividends payable solely in shares of our Common Stock or other junior securities, or (ii) repurchasing or redeeming any shares of our Common Stock or other junior securities, unless, in each case, we have sufficient access to lawful funds immediately following such action such that we would be legally permitted to redeem in full all Preferred Shares then outstanding.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Accounting for Convertible Preferred Stock

The following is a reconciliation of the initial proceeds to the opening balance of our Convertible Preferred Shares (in thousands):

	Convertible Preferred Stock		
Initial proceeds	\$ 250,000		
Direct transaction costs	(27,730)		
Bifurcated embedded derivative liability, net of tax	(641)		
Balance at October 20, 2009	221,629(1)		

(1) The \$28.4 million difference between the book value and the initial liquidation preference is accreted using the effective interest rate method from the execution of the contract to the Milestone Redemption Right date or 10 years.

Our Convertible Preferred Shares balance and changes in the carrying amount of the Convertible Preferred Stock are as follows (in thousands):

	Convertible Preferred Stock	
Balance at October 20, 2009 Accretion Accrued paid-in-kind dividends(1)	\$	221,629 118 1,068
Balance as of November 1, 2009 Accretion Accrued paid-in-kind dividends(1)	\$	222,815 2,681 31,374
Balance as of October 31, 2010	\$	256,870

(1) Dividends are accrued at the 12% rate.

In accordance with ASC Topic 815, *Derivatives and Hedging*, and ASC Topic 480, *Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity*, we classified the Convertible Preferred Stock as mezzanine equity because the Convertible Preferred Stock (1) can be settled in cash or shares of our Common Stock, (2) contains change of control rights allowing for early redemption, and (3) contains Milestone Redemption Rights which allow the Convertible Preferred Stock to remain outstanding without a stated maturity date.

In addition, the Certificate of Designations, which is the underlying contract of the Convertible Preferred Stock, includes features that are required to be bifurcated and recorded at fair value. We classified the Convertible Preferred Stock as an equity host contract because of (1) the voting rights, (2) the participating dividends on Common Stock and mandatory, cumulative preferred stock dividends, and (3) the Milestone Redemption Right which allows the Convertible Preferred Stock to remain outstanding without a stated maturity date. We then determined that the conditions resulting in the application of the default dividend rate are not clearly and closely related to this equity host contract and we bifurcated and separately recorded these features at fair value (See Note 14 Derivative Instruments and Hedging Strategy).

Because the dividends accrue and accumulate on a daily basis and the amount payable upon redemption of the Convertible Preferred Stock is the liquidation preference plus accrued and unpaid dividends, accrued dividends are recorded into Convertible Preferred Stock.

In accordance with ASC Subtopic 470-20, *Debt with Conversion and Other Options*, the Convertible Preferred Stock contains a beneficial conversion feature because it was issued with an initial conversion price of \$6.3740 (as adjusted for the Reverse Stock Split) and the closing stock price per Common Stock just prior to the execution of the CD&R Equity Investment was \$12.55 (as adjusted for the Reverse Stock Split). The

99

#### **Table of Contents**

intrinsic value of the beneficial conversion feature cannot exceed the issuance proceeds of the Convertible Preferred Stock less the cash paid to the CDR Funds, and thus is \$241.4 million. At October 31, 2010, all of the potentially 44.3 million shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Preferred Shares, which includes paid-in-kind dividends, were authorized and unissued. At November 1, 2009, 1.8 million of the potentially 39.2 million shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Preferred Shares were authorized and unissued.

As of October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, the Preferred Shares are convertible into 44.3 million and 39.2 million shares of Common Stock, respectively, at an initial conversion price of \$6.3740 (as adjusted for the Reverse Stock Split). However, as of November 1, 2009, only approximately 1.8 million shares of Common Stock were authorized and unissued, and therefore, the CD&R Funds were not able to fully convert the Preferred Shares. To the extent the CD&R Funds opted to convert their Preferred Shares, as of November 1, 2009, their conversion right was limited to conversion of that portion of their Preferred Shares into the approximately 1.8 million shares of Common Stock that were currently authorized and unissued. Upon previous action taken by the independent, non-CD&R board members, on March 5, 2010, we effected the Reverse Stock Split at an exchange ratio of 1-for-5. As of that date, the Preferred Shares accrued for and held by the CD&R Funds were fully convertible into 41.0 million Common Shares. As a result, we recorded an additional beneficial conversion feature charge in the amount of \$230.9 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2010 related to the availability of shares of Common Stock into which the CD&R Funds may convert their Preferred Shares. In addition, we recorded an additional \$19.4 million beneficial conversion feature charge in fiscal 2010 related to dividends that have accrued and are convertible into shares of Common Stock. In addition, we expect to recognize additional beneficial conversion feature charges on paid-in-kind dividends to the extent that the Preferred Shares are accrued and the stock price is in excess of \$6.37. Our policy is to recognize beneficial conversion feature charges on paid-in-kind dividends based on a daily dividend recognition and the daily closing stock price of our Common Stock.

Our aggregate liquidation preference plus accrued dividends of the Convertible Preferred Stock for fiscal 2010 and 2009 are as follows (in thousands):

	October 31, 2010		November 1, 2009	
Liquidation preference Accrued cash and Preferred Stock dividends	\$ 272,50 9,98		250,000 1,068	
Total	\$ 282,48	86 \$	251,068	

At October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, we had Preferred Shares outstanding of 272,503 and 250,000, respectively.

#### 13. RELATED PARTIES

Pursuant to the Investment Agreement and a Stockholders Agreement (the Stockholders Agreement), dated as of the Closing Date between the Company and the CD&R Funds, the CD&R Funds have the right to designate a number of directors to our board of directors that is equivalent to the CD&R Funds percentage interest in the Company. Among other directors appointed by the CD&R Funds, our board of directors appointed to the board of directors James G. Berges, Nathan K. Sleeper and Jonathan L. Zrebiec. Messrs. Berges and Sleeper are partners and Mr. Zrebiec is a principal of Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, LLC, (CD&R, LLC), an affiliate of the CD&R Funds.

As a result of their respective positions with CD&R, LLC and its affiliates, one or more of Messrs. Berges, Sleeper and Zrebiec may be deemed to have an indirect material interest in certain agreements executed in connection with the Equity Investment. Messrs. Berges, Sleeper and Zrebiec may be deemed to have an indirect material interest in the following agreements:

the Investment Agreement, pursuant to which the CD&R Funds acquired a 68.4% interest in the Company, CD&R Fund VIII s transaction expenses were reimbursed and a deal fee of \$8.25 million was paid to CD&R, Inc., the predecessor to the investment management business of CD&R, LLC, on the Closing Date;

100

#### **Table of Contents**

the Stockholders Agreement, which sets forth certain terms and conditions regarding the Equity Investment and the CD&R Funds—ownership of the Preferred Shares, including certain restrictions on the transfer of the Preferred Shares and the shares of our common stock issuable upon conversion thereof and on certain actions of the CD&R Funds and their controlled affiliates with respect to the Company, and to provide for, among other things, subscription rights, corporate governance rights and consent rights as well as other obligations and rights;

a Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date (the Registration Rights Agreement ), between the Company and the CD&R Funds, pursuant to which the Company granted to the CD&R Funds, together with any other stockholder of the Company that may become a party to the Registration Rights Agreement in accordance with its terms, certain customary registration rights with respect to the shares of our common stock issuable upon conversion of the Preferred Shares; and

an Indemnification Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date between the Company, NCI Group, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Robertson-Ceco II Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, the CD&R Funds and CD&R, Inc., pursuant to which the Company, NCI Group, Inc. and Robertson-Ceco II Corporation agreed to indemnify CD&R, Inc., the CD&R Funds and their general partners, the special limited partner of CD&R Fund VIII and any other investment vehicle that is a stockholder of the Company and is managed by CD&R, Inc. or any of its affiliates, their respective affiliates and successors and assigns and the respective directors, officers, partners, members, employees, agents, representatives and controlling persons of each of them, or of their respective partners, members and controlling persons, against certain liabilities arising out of the Equity Investment and transactions in connection with the Equity Investment, including, but not limited to, the Amended Credit Agreement, the ABL Facility, the Exchange Offer, and certain other liabilities and claims.

#### 14. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING STRATEGY

#### Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk associated with fluctuations in the interest rates on our variable interest rate debt. In order to manage this risk, on June 15, 2006, we entered into a forward interest rate swap agreement ( Swap Agreement ) hedging a portion of our then \$400 million Credit Agreement with a notional amount of \$65 million on November 1, 2009. The Swap Agreement expired on June 17, 2010 and, therefore, there was no remaining notional amount outstanding on October 31, 2010. At inception, we designated the Swap Agreement as a cash flow hedge. The fair value of the Swap Agreement as of November 1, 2009 was a liability of approximately \$2.2 million and was included in other accrued expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The fair value of the Swap Agreement excludes accrued interest and takes into consideration current interest rates and current creditworthiness of us or the counterparty, as applicable.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, in connection with our refinancing and Amended Credit Agreement, we modified the terms of our credit agreement to include a 2% LIBOR minimum market interest rate. At that time, based on the current expected LIBOR rates over the remaining term of the Swap Agreement, the forecasted market rate interest payments have been effectively converted to fixed rate interest payments making the Swap Agreement both ineffective and the underlying hedged cash flow no longer probable. Therefore, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, we reclassified to interest expense the remaining \$3.1 million of deferred losses recorded to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and all subsequent changes in fair market value were recorded directly to earnings. For fiscal 2009, we reduced interest expense by \$2.6 million as a result of the changes in fair value of the hedge and we

reclassified \$4.8 million into earnings as a result of the discontinuance of the hedge designation of the Swap Agreement. During fiscal 2010, we reduced interest expense by \$1.2 million as a result of the changes in fair value of the hedge.

## Embedded Derivative Bifurcated From Convertible Preferred Stock (See Note 12)

The terms of the Convertible Preferred Stock include a default dividend rate of 3% per annum if we fail to (1) pay holders of Convertible Preferred Stock, in cash on an as-converted basis, dividends paid on shares of our common stock; (2) following the date that there are no Convertible Notes outstanding, pay, in cash or

101

#### **Table of Contents**

kind, any dividend (other than dividends payable pursuant to the preceding clause (1)) payable to holders of Preferred Shares pursuant to the Certificate of Designations, on the applicable quarterly dividend declaration date; (3) after June 30, 2010, reserve and keep available for issuance the number of shares of our Common Stock equal to 110% of the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of all outstanding shares of Convertible Preferred Stock; (4) maintain the listing of our Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange or another U.S. national securities exchange; (5) comply with our obligations to convert the Convertible Preferred Stock in accordance with our obligations under the Certificate of Designations; (6) redeem Convertible Preferred Stock in compliance with the Certificate of Designations; or (7) comply with any dividend payment restrictions with respect to junior securities dividends. If, at a time when a 3% per annum default dividend rate is in effect after June 30, 2011 we fail to reserve and keep available authorized common shares pursuant to the terms of the Certificate of Designations the default dividend rate shall increase to 6% until such default is no longer continuing. The default dividend represents an embedded derivative which is bifurcated from the CD&R Equity Investment host contract (i.e., the Certificate of Designations). See Note 12 Series B Cumulative Convertible Participating Preferred Stock for further discussion of the Convertible Preferred Stock.

To determine the Level 3 fair value of the embedded derivative, we used a probability-weighted discounted cash flow model and assigned probabilities for each qualified default event. At November 1, 2009, we recorded the fair value of the embedded derivative of \$1.0 million in other accrued liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The majority of the value of the derivative was derived from the default dividend rate. As discussed further in Note 12, on December 14, 2009, the CD&R Funds, our majority equity holders expressed their intention to vote in favor of the proposed Reverse Stock Split, which became effective on March 5, 2010. Based upon these events, we reevaluated the assigned probabilities used previously in the probability-weighted discounted cash flow model. As a result, we have recorded a \$0.9 million decrease in fair value of the embedded derivative during fiscal 2010 which was recorded in other income and expense during the fiscal year.

At October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, the fair value carrying amount of our derivative instruments were recorded as follows (in thousands):

	Liability Derivatives			
	<b>Balance Sheet Location</b>	October 31, 2010 Fair Value		ovember 1, 2009 Fair Value
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments under ASC 815: Interest rate contract Embedded derivative	Other accrued expenses Other accrued expenses	\$ 104	\$	2,208 1,041
Total derivatives not designated as hedging instruments under ASC 815	Guier accraca expenses	\$ 104	\$	3,249

The effect of derivative instruments on the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009 was as follows (in thousands):

				Re	unt of Loss classified Accumulated
Amount of Loss Derivative in ASC Recognized in OCI on Derivative Hedging (Effective Portion)		Location of Loss Reclassified from Accumulated OCI into Income (Loss)	d OCI into Income (Effective Portion) October 31, November 1		
Relationship	October 31, 2010	November 1, 2009	(Effective Portion)	2010	2009
Interest rate contract	\$	\$ (739)	Interest expense	\$	\$ (1,756)
			102		

	Amoun	t of Loss							
	Reco	gnized							
in Income (Loss) on									
<b>Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging</b>	Deri	vative	<b>Location of Loss Recognized in Income</b>						
	October 31,	November 1,							
<b>Instruments Under ASC 815</b>	2010	2009	(Loss) on Derivative						
Interest rate contract	\$ 2,208	\$ (3,072)	Interest expense						
Embedded derivative	\$ 937	\$	Other income, net						

### 15. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

### Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value as of October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009 because of the relatively short maturity of these instruments. The fair values of the remaining financial instruments not currently recognized at fair value on our Consolidated Balance Sheets at the respective fiscal year ends were:

October	31, 2010	Novembe	er 1, 2009
Carrying Amount (In tho	Fair Value usands)	Carrying Amount (In tho	Fair Value usands)
\$ \$ 126.205	\$ \$ 122.046	\$ 59	\$ 97 \$ 138,000
	Carrying Amount	Amount Fair Value (In thousands)  \$	Carrying Amount Fair Value (In thousands)  Carrying Amount (In tho

The fair value of the Convertible Notes was determined from the market rates on the redemption date prior to our fiscal year end. The fair value of each of the Amended Credit Agreement was based on recent trading activities of comparable market instruments.

### Fair Value Measurements

Effective November 3, 2008, we adopted ASC 820-10 related to assets and liabilities recognized or disclosed in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis. ASC 820-10 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. ASC 820-10 applies to other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements, but does not require any new fair value measurements. The adoption of these provisions did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

ASC 820-10 clarifies that fair value is an exit price, representing the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants based on the highest and best use of the asset or liability. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. ASC 820-10 requires us to use valuation techniques to measure fair value that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

In February 2008, the FASB issued ASC 820-10, *Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures* (ASC 820-10). This Statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. ASC 820-10 partially delays the effective date for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually). On November 2, 2009, we adopted ASC 820-10 for nonrecurring, non-financial assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value. The adoption of these provisions for nonrecurring, non-financial assets and liabilities did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

These inputs are prioritized as follows:

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2: Other inputs that are observable directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities or market-corroborated inputs.

103

#### **Table of Contents**

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data and which require us to develop our own assumptions about how market participants would price the assets or liabilities.

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities measured at fair value. There have been no changes in the methodologies used at October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009.

*Money market:* Money market funds have original maturities of three months or less. The original cost of these assets approximates fair value due to their short-term maturity.

*Mutual funds:* Mutual funds are valued at the closing price reported in the active market in which the mutual fund is traded.

Assets held for sale: Assets held for sale are valued based on current market conditions, prices of similar assets in similar condition and expected proceeds from the sale of the assets.

Deferred compensation plan liability: Deferred compensation plan liability comprises of phantom investments in the deferred compensation plan and is valued at the closing price reported in the active market in which the money market, mutual fund or NCI stock phantom investments are traded.

*Interest rate contract:* The fair value of the Swap Agreement is based on an income approach, excludes accrued interest, and takes into consideration current interest rates and current creditworthiness of us or the counterparty, as applicable.

*Embedded derivative:* The embedded derivative value is based on an income approach in which we used a probability-weighted discounted cash flow model and assigned probabilities for each qualified default event.

The following table summarizes information regarding our financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value as of October 31, 2010 (in thousands):

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Assets:				
Short-term investments in deferred compensation plan(1):				
Money market	\$ 366			366
Mutual funds Growth	394			394
Mutual funds Blend	1,595			1,595
Mutual funds Foreign blend	637			637
Mutual funds Fixed income	746			746
Total short-term investments in deferred compensation plan	3,738			3,738
Assets held for sale		6,114		6,114
Total assets	\$ 3,738	6,114		9,852
Liabilities:				
Deferred compensation plan liability	\$ (3,920)			(3,920)
Embedded derivative			(104)	(104)

Total liabilities \$ (3,920) (104) (4,024)

(1) Unrealized holding gains (losses) for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2010 was \$0.4 million. These unrealized holding gains (losses) are primarily offset by changes in the deferred compensation plan liability.

104

### **Table of Contents**

The following table summarizes information regarding our financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value as of November 1, 2009 (in thousands):

		L	evel 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Assets:						
	estments in deferred compensation plan(1):					
Money market		\$	351			351
Mutual funds	Growth		618			618
Mutual funds	Blend		744			744
Mutual funds	Foreign blend		1,022			1,022
Mutual funds	Fixed income		624			624
Total short-terr	n investments in deferred compensation plan		3,359			3,359
Assets held for	sale			4,963		4,963
Total assets		\$	3,359	4,963		8,322
Liabilities:						
Deferred comp	ensation plan liability	\$	(3,480)			(3,480)
Interest rate con	ntract			(2,208)		(2,208)
Embedded deri	vative				(1,041)	(1,041)
Total liabilities		\$	(3,480)	(2,208)	(1,041)	(6,729)

<sup>(1)</sup> Unrealized holding gains (losses) for the fiscal year ended November 1, 2009 was \$0.9 million. These unrealized holding gains (losses) are primarily offset by changes in the deferred compensation plan liability.

The following table summarizes the activity in Level 3 financial instruments during fiscal 2010 and 2009:

	October 31, 2010			November 1, 2009		
Beginning balance Addition	\$	(1,041)	\$	(1,041)		
Realized gains		937		(1,041)		
Ending balance	\$	(104)	\$	(1,041)		

As of October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, the fair value of our Level 3 embedded derivative was \$0.1 million and \$1.0 million, respectively. To estimate its fair value, we used an income approach. The significant inputs for the valuation model include the following:

	October 31, 2010	<b>November 1, 2009</b>
Risk-free interest rate	1.2% - 3.6%	0.3% - 3.6%
Discount rate	6.3% - 9.8%	6.1% - 9.8%
Credit spread	5.1% - 6.3%	5.1% - 6.2%
Probability of failure to have common shares authorized by		
June 30, 2010		1.0%

## 16. INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense is based on pretax financial accounting income. Deferred income taxes are recognized for the temporary differences between the recorded amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting

105

### **Table of Contents**

purposes and such amounts for income tax purposes. The income tax provision (benefit) for the fiscal years ended 2010, 2009 and 2008, consisted of the following (in thousands):

	October 31, 2010	al Year Ende vember 1, 2009	November 2, 2008	
Current: Federal State	\$ (15,506) 2,133	\$ (28,706) (1,366)	\$	44,330 6,903
Total current Deferred: Federal State	(13,373) 123 (80)	(30,072) (23,545) (3,296)		51,233 (3,005) (222)
Total deferred	43	(26,841)		(3,227)
Total provision (benefit)	\$ (13,330)	\$ (56,913)	\$	48,006

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the United States federal statutory tax rate to the effective income tax rate is as follows:

		Fiscal Year Ended	I
	October 31, 2010	November 1, 2009	November 2, 2008
Statutory federal income tax rate	35.0%	35.0%	35.0%
State income taxes	1.5%	3.3%	3.5%
Non-deductible goodwill impairment		(27.0)%	
Canadian valuation allowance	0.1%	(0.1)%	1.3%
Non-deductible interest expense		(0.2)%	1.2%
Production activities deduction	(2.5)%		(2.0)%
Premium on Convertible Notes exchange offer		(4.1)%	
Other	(0.9)%	0.1%	0.6%
Effective tax rate	33.2%	7.0%	39.6%

The increase in our effective tax rate for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2010 as compared to the prior year period was primarily due to the \$611.4 million goodwill impairment charges in fiscal 2009 which is discussed in Note 6 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.

The decrease in our effective tax rate for the fiscal year ended November 1, 2009 as compared to the prior year period was primarily due to the following:

The \$611.4 million goodwill impairment charges discussed in Note 6 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.

The \$85.3 million premium paid on the exchange offer to retire our Convertible Notes which is not deductible.

106

### **Table of Contents**

Deferred income taxes reflect the net impact of temporary differences between the amounts of assets and liabilities recognized for financial reporting purposes and such amounts recognized for income tax purposes. The tax effects of the temporary differences for fiscal 2010 and 2009 are as follows (in thousands):

	As of October 31, 2010			As of November 1, 2009		
Deferred tax assets: Inventory obsolescence Bad debt reserve Accrued and deferred compensation Accrued insurance reserves Deferred revenue Interest rate swap Net operating loss carryover Depreciation and amortization	\$	969 1,128 11,755 1,446 7,340 6,936 530	\$	1,008 2,137 11,545 1,878 6,266 847 6,469 454		
Deferred financing costs Pension Other reserves		1,924 1,574 41		2,390 725		
Total deferred tax assets Less valuation allowance		33,643 (5,192)		33,719 (5,018)		
Net deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities: Depreciation and amortization Pension Other		28,451 (23,022) (1,275)		28,701 (25,420) (2,566) (776)		
Total deferred tax liabilities  Total deferred tax asset/(liability)	\$	(24,297) 4,154	\$	(28,762)		

We carry out our business operations through legal entities in the U.S., Canada and Mexico. These operations require that we file corporate income tax returns that are subject to U.S., state and foreign tax laws. We are subject to income tax audits in these multiple jurisdictions.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we must consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We consider all available evidence in determining whether a valuation allowance is required. Such evidence includes the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment, and judgment is required in considering the relative weight of negative and positive evidence. As of October 31, 2010, we expect to fully utilize the net U.S. deferred tax assets of \$5.8 million against future operating income. However, in the event our expectations of future operating results change, a valuation allowance may be required on our existing unreserved net U.S. deferred

tax assets.

The entire U.S. federal net operating loss will be fully utilized through carryback against taxable income generated in fiscal 2008. We have deferred tax assets of \$2.0 million related to state net operating loss carryforwards which will expire in 5 to 20 years if unused. Our foreign operations have a net operating loss carryforward of approximately \$16.8 million that will start to expire in fiscal 2025 if unused. The utilization of these foreign losses is uncertain and we currently have a full valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset related to this loss carryforward. The following table represents the rollforward of the valuation

107

#### **Table of Contents**

allowance on deferred taxes activity for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2010, November 1, 2009 and November 2, 2008 (in thousands):

	October 31, 2010		November 1, 2009		November 2, 2008	
Beginning balance Additions	\$	5,018 174	\$	4,972 46	\$	4,603 369
Ending balance	\$	5,192	\$	5,018	\$	4,972

### Uncertain tax positions

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits at October 31, 2010 was \$0.5 million, of which \$0.5 million would impact the Company s effective tax rate if recognized. The total amount of unrecognized tax benefit at November 1, 2009 was \$0.7 million, of which \$0.7 million would impact the Company s effective tax rate if recognized. We do not anticipate any material change in the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits to occur within the next twelve months.

The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company s unrecognized tax benefits during fiscal 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):

	ober 31, 2010	ember 1, 2009	
Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year Additions for tax positions related to prior years Reductions due to lapse of applicable statute of limitations	\$ 685 29 (252)	\$ 1,321 239 (875)	
Unrecognized tax benefits at end of year	\$ 462	\$ 685	

We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. To the extent accrued interest and penalties do not ultimately become payable, amounts accrued will be reduced and reflected as a reduction of the overall income tax provision in the period that such determination is made. We did not have a material amount of accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as of October 31, 2010.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and multiple state and foreign jurisdictions. Our tax years are closed with the IRS through the year ended October 30, 2006 as the statute of limitations related to these tax years has closed. In addition, open tax years related to state and foreign jurisdictions remain subject to examination but are not considered material.

# 17. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Accumulated other comprehensive loss consists of the following (in thousands):

		October 31, 2010		November 1, 2009	
Foreign exchange translation adjustments Defined benefit pension plan		\$	587 (2,524)	\$	391 (9,250)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		\$	(1,937)	\$	(8,859)
	108				

### 18. SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION

The following table sets forth interest and taxes paid in each of the three fiscal years presented (in thousands):

	October 31, 2010	,		
Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized	\$ 13,683	\$ 18,445	\$ 26,872	
Taxes paid (refunded)	(26,332)	5,645	57,837	

In October 2009, we completed an exchange offer to acquire our existing \$180 million aggregate principal amount 2.125% convertible senior subordinated notes due 2024 (the Convertible Notes) in exchange for a combination of \$500 in cash and 78 shares of NCI common stock for each \$1,000 of Convertible Notes tendered and not withdrawn, with approximately 99.9% of the outstanding Convertible Notes tendered and not withdrawn as of the expiration of the offer and by which we subsequently accepted. This resulted in a non-cash reclassification from long-term debt to stockholders equity on our consolidated balance sheet as we issued approximately 14.0 million shares. See further discussion of these Convertible Notes in Note 11 Long-term Debt.

The dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock accrue and accumulate on a daily basis and are included in the liquidation preference. Accrued dividends are recorded into Convertible Preferred Stock on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. Dividends are accrued at the 12% paid in-kind rate and increased the Convertible Preferred Stock by \$31.4 million and \$1.1 million during fiscal 2010 and 2009, respectively.

### 19. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

We have operating lease commitments expiring at various dates, principally for real estate, office space, office equipment and transportation equipment. Certain of these operating leases have purchase options that entitle us to purchase the respective equipment at fair value at the end of the lease. In addition, many of our leases contain renewal options at rates similar to the current arrangements. As of October 31, 2010, future minimum rental payments related to noncancellable operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

2011	\$ 4,565
2012	2,325
2013	911
2014	488
2015	401
Thereafter	1.059

Rental expense incurred from operating leases, including leases with terms of less than one year, for fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 was \$10.3 million, \$11.9 million and \$12.4 million, respectively.

### 20. STOCK REPURCHASE PROGRAM

Our board of directors has authorized a stock repurchase program. Subject to applicable federal securities law, such purchases occur at times and in amounts that we deem appropriate. Shares repurchased are used primarily for later

re-issuance in connection with our equity incentive and 401(k) profit sharing plans. Although we did not repurchase any shares of our common stock during fiscal 2010 and 2009, we did withhold shares of restricted stock to satisfy tax withholding obligations arising in connection with the vesting of awards of restricted stock, which are included in treasury stock purchases in the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity. At October 31, 2010, there were 0.1 million shares remaining authorized for repurchase under the program. While there is no time limit on the duration of the program, our Amended Credit Agreement and ABL Facility apply certain limitations on our repurchase of shares of our common stock. During fiscal 2010 and 2009, we retired all treasury shares outstanding.

109

#### **Table of Contents**

Changes in treasury common stock, at cost, were as follows (in thousands):

	Number of Shares	Amount
Balance, November 2, 2008	534	116,599
Purchases	35	451
Retirements	(569)	(117,050)
Balance, November 1, 2009		\$
Purchases	0	381
Retirements	(0)	(381)
Balance, October 31, 2010		\$

### 21. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Defined Contribution Plan We have a 401(k) profit sharing plan (the Savings Plan ) that covers all eligible employees. The Savings Plan requires us to match employee contributions up to 6% of a participant s salary. On February 27, 2009, the Savings Plan was amended, effective January 1, 2009, to make the matching contributions fully discretionary and future contributions were temporarily suspended. Additional amounts may be contributed depending upon our annual return on assets. No contributions were made to the Savings Plan during fiscal 2010. Contributions expense for the fiscal years ended 2009 and 2008 were \$0.8 million and \$8.6 million, respectively, for contributions to the Savings Plan.

As a result of the economic downturn and restructuring, we have determined our Savings Plan has experienced a partial plan termination which is defined by the IRS as 20% or more of the participating employees being involuntarily terminated. As a result, the affected employee participants of the Savings Plan become fully vested upon termination. As of October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, the impact of this partial plan termination was immaterial, excluding the impact of the employer contributions.

Deferred Compensation Plan On October 23, 2006, the board of directors approved an Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan for NCI (as amended and restated, the Deferred Compensation Plan ) effective for compensation beginning in calendar 2007. The Deferred Compensation Plan allows our officers and key employees to defer up to 80% of their annual salary and up to 90% of their bonus until a specified date in the future, including at or after retirement. Additionally, the Deferred Compensation Plan allows our directors to defer up to 100% of their annual fees and meeting attendance fees until a specified date in the future, including at or after retirement. The Deferred Compensation Plan also permits us to make contributions on behalf of our key employees who are impacted by the federal tax compensation limits under the NCI 401(k) plan, and to receive a restoration matching amount which, under the current NCI 401(k) terms, will be at 4% and up to 6% of compensation in excess of those limits, based on our Company s performance. On February 27, 2009, restoration matching contributions were indefinitely suspended, effective January 1, 2009. In addition, the Deferred Compensation Plan provides for us to make discretionary contributions to employees who have elected to defer compensation under the plan. Deferred Compensation Plan participants will vest in our discretionary contributions in a participant s Deferred Compensation Plan account became vested upon consummation of the Equity Investment on October 20, 2009. In addition, the

Deferred Compensation Plan also permitted participants to have their account balances paid out upon a change of control which reduced the rabbi trust assets and corresponding liability by \$2.6 million on October 28, 2009. As of October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, the liability balance of the Deferred Compensation Plan is \$3.9 million and \$3.5 million, respectively, and is included in accrued compensation and benefits in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. We have not made any discretionary contributions to the Deferred Compensation Plan.

With the Deferred Compensation Plan, the Board also approved the establishment of a rabbi trust to fund the Deferred Compensation Plan and the formation of an administrative committee to manage the Deferred Compensation Plan and its assets. The investments in the rabbi trust are \$3.7 million and \$3.4 million at

110

#### **Table of Contents**

October 31, 2010 and November 1, 2009, respectively. The rabbi trust investments include debt and equity securities, along with cash equivalents and are accounted for as trading securities.

Defined Benefit Plan As a result of the closing of the RCC acquisition on April 7, 2006, we assumed a defined benefit plan (the RCC Benefit Plan ). Benefits under the RCC Benefit Plan are primarily based on years of service and the employee s compensation. The RCC Benefit Plan is frozen and, therefore, employees do not accrue additional service benefits. Plan assets of the RCC Benefit Plan are invested in broadly diversified portfolios of government obligations, hedge funds, mutual funds, stocks, bonds and fixed income securities. In accordance with ASC 805, we quantified the projected benefit obligation and fair value of the plan assets of the RCC Benefit Plan and recorded the difference between these two amounts as an assumed liability.

As a result of the economic downturn and restructuring, we have determined our RCC Benefit Plan has experienced a partial plan termination which is defined by the IRS as 20% or more of the participating employees being involuntarily terminated. As a result, the affected employee participants become fully vested upon termination. However, the RCC Benefit Plan is frozen, therefore, accrued benefits are already fully vested. As of November 1, 2009, the impact of this partial plan termination was immaterial.

Defined Benefit Plans Adoption. On October 31, 2010, we adopted ASC Subtopic 715-20, Defined Benefit Plans General (ASC 715-20). This statement provides guidance on an employer s disclosures about plan assets of a defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan. We adopted the disclosure provisions required by ASC 715-20 in fiscal 2010 but are not required to implement the disclosures for earlier periods presented for comparative purposes.

The following table reconciles the change in the benefit obligation for the RCC Benefit Plan from the beginning of the fiscal year to the end of the fiscal year (in thousands):

		October 31, 2010		November 1, 2009	
Accumulated benefit obligation	on	\$	44,697	\$	46,091
Projected benefit obligation Interest cost Benefit payments Actuarial losses (gains) Plan amendments	beginning of fiscal year	\$	46,091 2,534 (4,165) 237	\$	38,127 3,077 (4,253) 9,236 (96)
Projected benefit obligation	end of fiscal year	\$	44,697	\$	46,091

Actuarial assumptions used to determine benefit obligations were as follows:

	October 31, 2010	November 1, 2009
Assumed discount rate	4.75%	5.75%

The following table reconciles the change in plan assets of the RCC Benefit Plan from the beginning of the fiscal year to the end of the fiscal year (in thousands):

	October 31, 2010		November 1, 2009	
Fair value of assets beginning of fiscal year Actual return on plan assets Benefit payments	\$	39,474 4,672 (4,165)	\$	38,859 4,868 (4,253)
Fair value of assets end of fiscal year	\$	39,981	\$	39,474

111

### **Table of Contents**

The following table sets forth the funded status of the RCC Benefit Plan and the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet (in thousands):

	October 31, 2010		November 1, 2009	
Fair value of assets Benefit obligation	\$	39,981 44,697	\$	39,474 46,091
Funded status Unrecognized actuarial loss (gain) Unrecognized prior service cost	\$	(4,716) 4,186 (87)	\$	(6,617) 6,428 (95)
Prepaid benefit cost (benefit)	\$	(617)	\$	(284)

The amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income that have not yet been recognized as components of net periodic benefit income (in thousands):

	October 31 2010	, No	November 1, 2009	
Unrecognized actuarial loss (gain) Unrecognized prior service cost	4,18i (8'		6,428 (95)	
Total	\$ 4,099	9 \$	6,333	

The following table sets forth the components of the net periodic benefit income (in thousands):

	ober 31, 2010	ember 1, 2009
Interest cost Expected return on assets Amortization of prior service cost Amortization of loss (gain)	\$ 2,534 (2,363) (9) 171	\$ 3,077 (2,695)
Net periodic benefit cost (income)	\$ 333	\$ 382

The following table sets forth the changes in plan assets and benefit obligation recognized in other comprehensive income (in thousands):

	October 31, 2010		November 1, 2009	
Net actuarial loss (gain)	\$	(2,071)	\$	7,062
Amortization of net actuarial (loss) gain		(171)		(0.0)
Prior service cost (credit)				(96)
Amortization of prior service cost (credit)		9		
Total recognized in other comprehensive income	\$	(2,233)	\$	6,966

The estimated amortization payments for the next fiscal year for amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income into the consolidated income statement (in thousands):

	Octobe 201	
Amortization of prior service cost Amortization of loss (gain)		(9)
Total estimated amortized payments	\$	(9)

112

### **Table of Contents**

Actuarial assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit income were as follows:

	Fiscal 2010	Fiscal 2009
Assumed discount rate	5.75%	8.50%
Expected rate of return on plan assets	7.0%	8.0%

The basis used to determine the overall expected long-term asset return assumption was a ten year forecast of expected return based on the target asset allocation for the plan. The expected return for this portfolio over the forecast period is 7.0%, net of investment related expenses. In determining the expected return over the forecast period, we used a 10-year median expected return, taking into consideration historical experience, anticipated asset allocations, investment strategies and the views of various investment professionals.

The weighted-average asset allocations by asset category are as follows:

Investment Type	October 31, 2010	November 1, 2009
Equity securities	28%	27%
Debt securities	42	38
Hedge funds	13	13
Cash and cash equivalents	1	9
Real estate	5	4
Other	11	9
Total	100%	100%

The investment policy is to maximize the expected return for an acceptable level of risk. Our expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on a target allocation of assets, which is based on our goal of earning the highest rate of return while maintaining risk at acceptable levels. The RCC Benefit Plan strives to have assets sufficiently diversified so that adverse or unexpected results from one security class will not have an unduly detrimental impact on the entire portfolio. We regularly review our actual asset allocation and the RCC Benefit Plan s investments are periodically rebalanced to our target allocation when considered appropriate. We have set the target asset allocation for the plan as follows: 2% cash, 40% US bonds, 13% alpha strategies (hedge funds), 17% large cap US equities, 6% small cap US equities, 4% real estate investment trusts, 8% foreign equity, 4% emerging markets and 6% commodity futures.

113

### **Table of Contents**

The table below presents the fair values of the assets in our RCC Benefit Plan at October 31, 2010, by asset category and by levels of fair value as further defined in Note 15 Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements.

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Asset category:				
Cash	\$ 602			602
Mutual funds:				
Growth funds(1)	1,848			1,848
Real estate funds(2)	1,863			1,863
Commodity linked funds(3)	2,452			2,452
Government securities(4)	9,827			9,827
Corporate bonds(5):				
Aaa credit rating	616			616
Aa2 credit rating	634			634
A1 credit rating	2,011			2,011
AA1 credit rating				
Aa1 credit rating	219			219
A2 credit rating	1,355			1,355
A3 credit rating	478			478
Aa3 credit rating	1,021			1,021
Baa1 credit rating	250			250
Common/collective trusts(6)		11,584		11,584
Partnerships/Joint venture interest(7)			5,221	5,221
Total	\$ 23,176	11,584	5,221	39,981

- (1) The strategy seeks long-term growth of capital. The fund currently invests in common stocks and other securities of companies in countries with developing economies and/or markets.
- (2) The portfolio is constructed of Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs) with the potential to provide strong and consistent earnings growth. Eligible investments for the portfolio include publicly traded equity REITs, Real Estate Operating Companies, homebuilders and commercial REITs. The portfolio invests across various sectors and is geographically diverse to manage potential risk.
- (3) The strategy seeks to replicate a diversified basket of commodity futures consistent with the composition of the Dow Jones UBS Commodity index. The strategy is defined to be a hedge against risking inflation and from time to time will allocate a portion of the portfolio to inflation-protected securities and other fixed income securities.
- (4) These holdings represent fixed-income securities issued and backed by the full faith of the United States government. The strategy is designed to lengthen duration to match the duration of the pension plan liabilities.
- (5) These holdings represent fixed-income securities with varying maturities diversified by issuer, sector and industry. At the time of purchase, the securities must be rated investment grade. This strategy is also taken into

consideration with the government bond holdings when matching duration of the liabilities.

- (6) The collective trusts seek long-term growth of capital through index replication strategies designed to match the holdings of the S&P 500, Russell 2000 and MSCI EAFE.
- (7) The strategy seeks long-term growth of capital through a diversified hedge fund of fund offering. The hedge fund of fund will be diversified by strategy and firm seeking bond-like volatility over a full market cycle. When observable prices are not available for these securities, the value is based on a market approach, as defined in the authoritative guidance on fair value measurements, to evaluate the fair value of such Level 3 instruments.

114

#### **Table of Contents**

The following table summarizes the fair value activity of partnerships/joint venture interest in the RCC Benefit Plan in Level 3 during fiscal 2010:

	O	ctober 31, 2010
Beginning balance Purchases, sales and settlements, net	\$	5,057
Actual return on plan assets		164
Ending balance	\$	5,221

We do not expect to contribute any amount to the RCC Benefit Plan in fiscal 2011.

We expect the following benefit payments to be made (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended	Pension Benefits
2011	\$ 4,054
2012	4,095
2013	3,920
2014	3,934
2015	3,750
2016-2020	17,348

### 22. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

We have aggregated our operations into three reportable segments based upon similarities in product lines, manufacturing processes, marketing and management of our businesses: metal coil coating; metal components; and engineered building systems. All business segments operate primarily in the nonresidential construction market. Sales and earnings are influenced by general economic conditions, the level of nonresidential construction activity, metal roof repair and retrofit demand and the availability and terms of financing available for construction. Products of our business segments use similar basic raw materials. The metal coil coating segment consists of cleaning, treating, painting and slitting continuous steel coils before the steel is fabricated for use by construction and industrial users. The metal components segment products include metal roof and wall panels, doors, metal partitions, metal trim and other related accessories. The engineered building systems segment includes the manufacturing of main frames, Long Bay® Systems and value-added engineering and drafting, which are typically not part of metal components or metal coil coating products or services. The reporting segments follow the same accounting policies used for our Consolidated Financial Statements.

We evaluate a segment sperformance based primarily upon operating income before corporate expenses. Intersegment sales are recorded based on standard material costs plus a standard markup to cover labor and overhead and consist of (i) hot-rolled, light gauge painted and slit material and other services provided by the metal coil coating segment to

both the metal components and engineered building systems segments; (ii) building components provided by the metal components segment to the engineered building systems segment; and (iii) structural framing provided by the engineered building systems segment to the metal components segment.

Corporate assets consist primarily of cash but also include deferred financing costs, deferred taxes and property, plant and equipment associated with our headquarters in Houston, Texas. These items (and income and expenses related to these items) are not allocated to the business segments. Unallocated expenses include interest income, interest expense, debt extinguishment and refinancing costs and other (expense) income.

115

# **Table of Contents**

The following table represents summary financial data attributable to these business segments for the periods indicated (in thousands):

	2010	2009	2008
Total sales: Metal coil coating Metal components Engineered building systems Intersegment sales	\$ 181,874 415,857 490,746 (217,951)	\$ 169,897 458,734 538,938 (202,317)	\$ 305,657 715,255 1,109,115 (367,287)
Total net sales	\$ 870,526	\$ 965,252	\$ 1,762,740
External sales: Metal coil coating Metal components Engineered building systems	\$ 65,240 328,077 477,209	\$ 53,189 389,132 522,931	\$ 96,957 600,010 1,065,773
Total net sales	\$ 870,526	\$ 965,252	\$ 1,762,740
Operating income (loss):  Metal coil coating  Metal components  Engineered building systems  Corporate	\$ 16,166 26,791 (18,438) (49,106)	\$ (99,689) (130,039) (389,007) (64,583)	\$ 29,312 82,102 108,152 (64,619)
Total operating income (loss) Unallocated other expense	\$ (24,587) (15,620)	\$ (683,318) (124,391)	\$ 154,947 (33,663)
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$ (40,207)	\$ (807,709)	\$ 121,284
Depreciation and amortization: Metal coil coating Metal components Engineered building systems Corporate	\$ 5,242 9,130 13,701 6,431	\$ 5,483 9,299 14,838 3,911	\$ 6,601 9,394 15,952 4,386
Total depreciation and amortization expense	\$ 34,504	\$ 33,531	\$ 36,333
Capital expenditures:  Metal coil coating  Metal components  Engineered building systems  Corporate	\$ 6,308 3,830 1,328 2,564	\$ 1,865 14,726 1,347 3,719	\$ 3,073 9,109 10,912 1,709
Total capital expenditures	\$ 14,030	\$ 21,657	\$ 24,803

i i ubci i v. biani ana caanbinciii. nci.	Property.	plant and	l equipment,	net:
---	-----------	-----------	--------------	------

Metal coil coating Metal components Engineered building systems Corporate	\$ 37,229 83,807 66,078 27,339	\$ 36,162 89,690 77,740 28,918
Total property, plant and equipment, net	\$ 214,453	\$ 232,510
Total assets as of fiscal year end 2010 and 2009: Metal coil coating Metal components Engineered building systems Corporate	\$ 57,137 167,542 208,232 127,613	\$ 57,254 160,124 241,099 155,691
	\$ 560,524	\$ 614,168

116

### 23. CONTINGENCIES

From time to time, we are involved in various legal proceedings and contingencies, including environmental matters, considered to be in the ordinary course of business. While we are not able to predict whether we will incur any liability in excess of insurance coverages or to accurately estimate the damages, or the range of damages, if any, we might incur in connection with these legal proceedings, we believe these legal proceedings and claims will not have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated financial position or results of operations.

## 24. QUARTERLY RESULTS (Unaudited)

Shown below are selected unaudited quarterly data (in thousands, except per share data):

	(	First Quarter	Second Quarter				hird Four arter Quar	
FISCAL YEAR 2010								
Sales	\$	182,207	\$	201,573	\$	245,292	\$	241,454
Gross profit	\$	32,438	\$	40,663	\$	50,357	\$	46,357
Net income (loss)	\$	(10,486)	\$	(7,656)	\$	(3,299)	\$	(5,436)
Net income (loss) applicable to common shares(3)	\$	(18,807)	\$	(257,345)	\$	(16,519)	\$	(18,556)
Earnings (loss) per common share:(1)								
Basic	\$	(1.04)	\$	(14.15)	\$	(0.90)	\$	(1.01)
Diluted	\$	(1.04)	\$	(14.15)	\$	(0.90)	\$	(1.01)
FISCAL YEAR 2009								
Sales	\$	259,803	\$	224,281	\$	237,860	\$	243,308
Gross profit	\$	17,010	\$	31,681	\$	61,270	\$	60,258
Net income (loss)	\$	(529,981)	\$	(121,571)	\$	2,607	\$	(101,851)(2)
Net income (loss) applicable to common shares(4)	\$	(529,981)	\$	(121,571)	\$	2,607	\$	(113,564)
Earnings (loss) per common share:(1)								
Basic	\$	(136.32)	\$	(31.22)	\$	0.65	\$	(17.66)
Diluted	\$	(136.32)	\$	(31.22)	\$	0.65	\$	(17.66)

- (1) The sum of the quarterly income per share amounts may not equal the annual amount reported, as per share amounts are computed independently for each quarter and for the full year based on the respective weighted average common shares outstanding.
- (2) Included in net income (loss) is pre-tax debt extinguishment and refinancing costs of \$96.5 million incurred as a result of the completion of the Recapitalization Plan.
- (3) Included in net income (loss) applicable to common shares is the beneficial conversion feature of \$0.2 million, \$241.3 million, \$4.6 million and \$4.2 million for the first, second, third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2010, respectively.
- (4) Included in net income (loss) applicable to common shares is the beneficial conversion feature of \$10.5 million for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009.

The quarterly income (loss) amounts were impacted by the following special income (expense) items:

	(	First Quarter	Second Quarter	Third uarter	Fourth Juarter
FISCAL YEAR 2010 Restructuring charges	\$	(524)	\$ (829)	\$ (551)	\$ (1,628)
Asset (impairments) recovery Pre-acquisition contingency adjustments		(1,029)	116	64	(221) (178)
Total special charges in operating income (loss)	\$	(1,553)	\$ (713)	\$ (487)	\$ (2,027)
FISCAL YEAR 2009					
Goodwill and other intangible asset impairment Lower of cost or market charge	\$	(517,628) (29,378)	\$ (104,936) (10,608)	\$	\$
Restructuring charges Change in control charges		(2,479)	(3,796)	(1,213)	(1,564) (11,168)
Asset (impairments) recovery Environmental and other contingency adjustments		(623)	(5,295)	(26)	(347) (1,115)
Total special charges in operating income (loss)	\$	(550,108)	\$ (124,635)	\$ (1,239)	\$ (14,194)

### 25. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On December 3, 2010, we finalized an amendment of our ABL Facility that reduces the unused commitment fee from 1% or 0.75% based on the average daily balance of loans and letters of credit obligations outstanding to an annual rate of 0.5%, reduces the effective interest rate on borrowings, if any, by nearly 40% or 175 basis points and relaxes the prohibitions against paying cash dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock to allow, in the aggregate, up to \$6.5 million of cash dividends or other payments each calendar quarter, provided certain excess availability conditions or excess availability conditions and a fixed charge coverage ratio under the ABL Facility are satisfied.

In addition, on December 6, 2010, the Preferred Dividend Committee of the Board of Directors elected to pay the \$5.55 million preferred dividend in cash on December 15, 2010. The determination of cash payment versus payment in-kind or PIK of the preferred dividends hereafter will be made each quarter adhering to the limitations of the Company s term loan and ABL credit facilities as well as the Company s intermediate and long term cash flow requirements. The Company s term loan currently restricts the payment of cash dividends to 50% of cumulative earnings beginning with the fourth quarter of 2009, and in the absence of accumulated earnings, cash dividends and other cash restricted payments are limited to \$14.5 million in the aggregate during the term of the loan. As a result of paying an 8% cash dividend, we will record a dividend accrual reversal of \$1.4 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2011. In addition, we will record a beneficial conversion feature reversal of \$2.3 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2011.

118

### **Table of Contents**

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

### Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of October 31, 2010. The term disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding the required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Management believes that our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of October 31, 2010, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at such reasonable assurance level.

Management s report on internal control over financial reporting is included in the financial statement pages at page 62.

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter ended October 31, 2010 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

### **PART III**

### Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, a copy of which is available on our website at <a href="https://www.ncilp.com">www.ncilp.com</a> under the heading Corporate Governance NCI Guidelines. Any amendments to, or waivers from the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that apply to our executive officers and directors will be posted on the Corporate Governance NCI Guidelines section of our Internet web site located at <a href="https://www.ncilp.com">www.ncilp.com</a>. However, the information on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K.

The information under the captions Election of Directors, Management, Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance, Board of Directors and Corporate Governance in our definitive proxy statement for our annual meeting of shareholders to be held on February 18, 2011 is incorporated by reference herein.

### Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information under the captions Compensation Discussion and Analysis, Report of the Compensation Committee and Executive Compensation in our definitive proxy statement for our annual meeting of shareholders to be held on February 18, 2011 is incorporated by reference herein.

119

### **Table of Contents**

### Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information under the captions Outstanding Capital Stock and Securities Reserved for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans in our definitive proxy statement for our annual meeting of shareholders to be held on February 18, 2011 is incorporated by reference herein.

### Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information under the captions Board of Directors and Transactions with Directors, Officers and Affiliates in our definitive proxy statement for our annual meeting of shareholders to be held on February 18, 2011 is incorporated by reference herein.

### Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information under the caption Audit Committee and Auditors Our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm and Audit Fees in our definitive proxy statement for our annual meeting of shareholders to be held on February 18, 2011 is incorporated by reference herein.

#### **PART IV**

### Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

- (a) The following documents are filed as a part of this report:
- 1. Consolidated Financial Statements (see Item 8).
- 2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules.

All schedules have been omitted because they are inapplicable, not required, or the information is included elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

### 3. Exhibits

Those exhibits required to be filed by Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed in the Index to Exhibits immediately preceding the exhibits filed herewith and such listing is incorporated herein by reference.

120

### **Table of Contents**

### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NCI BUILDING SYSTEMS, INC.

By: /s/ Norman C. Chambers
Norman C. Chambers, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Date: December 21, 2010

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated per Form 10-K.

Name	Title	Date
/s/ Norman C. Chambers  Norman C. Chambers	Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)	December 21, 2010
/s/ Mark E. Johnson	Executive Vice President, Chief Financial	December 21, 2010
Mark E. Johnson	Officer and Treasurer (Principal Financial Officer)	,
/s/ Richard Allen	Vice President Finance and Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting	December 21, 2010
Richard Allen	Officer)	
*	Director	December 21, 2010
Kathleen J. Affeldt		
*	Director	December 21, 2010
James G. Berges		
*	Director	December 21, 2010
Gary L. Forbes		
*	Director	December 21, 2010
John J. Holland		
*	Director	December 21, 2010

# Lawrence J. Kremer

\* Director December 21, 2010

**George Martinez** 

121

# **Table of Contents**

Name Title Date

\* Director December 21, 2010

Nathan K. Sleeper

\* Director December 21, 2010

Jonathan L. Zrebiec

\*By: /s/ Norman C.Chambers
Norman C. Chambers, Attorney-in-Fact

### **Index to Exhibits**

- 2.1 Stockholders Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2009, by and between the Company, Clayton, Dubilier & Rice Fund VIII, L.P. and CD&R Friends & Family Fund VIII, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 26, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 2.2 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2009, by and between the Company, Clayton, Dubilier & Rice Fund VIII, L.P. and CD&R Friends & Family Fund VIII, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 2.2 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 26, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 2.3 Indemnification Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2009, by and between the Company, NCI Group, Inc., Robertson-Ceco II Corporation, Clayton, Dubilier & Rice Fund VIII, L.P., CD&R Friends & Family Fund VIII, L.P. and Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 2.3 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 26, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 2.5 Investment Agreement, dated as of August 14, 2009, by and between NCI Building Systems, Inc. and Clayton, Dubilier & Rice Fund VIII, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 19, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 2.6 Amendment, dated as of August 28, 2009, to the Investment Agreement, dated as of August 14, 2009, by and between NCI Building Systems, Inc. and Clayton, Dubilier & Rice Fund VIII, L.P. (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 28, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 2.7 Amendment No. 2, dated as of August 31, 2009, to the Investment Agreement (as amended), dated as of August 14, 2009, by and between NCI Building Systems, Inc. and Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, Fund VIII, L.P., including exhibits thereto (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 1, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 2.8 Amendment No. 3, dated as of October 8, 2009, to the Investment Agreement (as amended), dated as of August 14, 2009, by and between NCI Building Systems, Inc. and Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, Fund VIII, L.P., including exhibits thereto (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 8, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 2.9 Amendment No. 4, dated as of October 16, 2009, to the Investment Agreement (as amended), dated as of August 14, 2009, by and between NCI Building Systems, Inc. and Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, Fund VIII, L.P., including exhibits thereto (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 19, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 2.10 Lock-Up and Voting Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2009, by and among NCI Building Systems, Inc. and the signatories thereto (incorporated by reference to exhibit 2.2 to Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 1, 2009)
- 2.11 Amendment No. 1 to Lock-Up and Voting Agreement, dated as of October 8, 2009, by and among NCI Building Systems, Inc. and the signatories thereto (incorporated by reference to exhibit 2.3 to Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 8, 2009)
- 2.12 Lock-Up and Voting Agreement, dated as of October 8, 2009, by and among NCI Building Systems, Inc. and the signatories thereto (incorporated by reference to exhibit 2.2 to Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 8, 2009)
- 3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended through September 30, 1998 (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to NCI s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 2, 2002 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation, effective as of March 12, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to NCI s Quarter Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 29, 2007 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 3.3 Second Amended and Restated By-Laws, effective as of October 20, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 3.4 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 26, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)

- 3.4 Third Amended and Restated By-laws of NCI Building Systems, Inc., effective as of February 19, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 24, 2010 and incorporated by reference herein).
- 3.5 Certificate of Designations, preferences, limitations and relative rights of Series B Cumulative Convertible Participating Preferred Stock of the Company (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 26, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)

123

### **Table of Contents**

- 3.6 Certificate of Elimination of the Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of the Company (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 26, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 3.7 Certificate of Increase of Number of Shares of Series B Cumulative Convertible Participating Preferred Stock of the Company (filed as Exhibit 3.3 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 26, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 4.1 Form of certificate representing shares of NCI s common stock (filed as Exhibit 1 to NCI s registration statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on July 20, 1998 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 4.2 Credit Agreement, dated June 18, 2004, by and among NCI, certain of its subsidiaries, as guarantors, Wachovia Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, Bank of America, N.A., as syndication agent, and the several lenders named therein (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to NCI s Form 10-Q/A, filed with the SEC on September 16, 2004, amending its quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 31, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 4.3 First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2004, between NCI Building Systems, Inc, as borrower, certain of its subsidiaries, as guarantors, Wachovia National Bank, National Association, as administrative agent and lender, and the several lenders named therein (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 16, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 4.4 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of October 14, 2005, between NCI Building Systems, Inc, as borrower, certain of its subsidiaries, as guarantors, Wachovia National Bank, National Association, as administrative agent and lender, and the several lenders named therein (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 14, 2005 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 4.5 Third Amendment, dated April 7, 2006, to Credit Agreement, dated June 18, 2004, by and among NCI Building Systems, Inc. as borrower, certain of its subsidiaries, as guarantors, Wachovia Bank, National Association, as administrative agent and lender, and the several lenders parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 7, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 4.6 Indenture, dated November 16, 2004, by and among NCI, and The Bank of New York (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 16, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 4.7 Amended Credit Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2009, among the Company, as borrower, Wachovia Bank, National Association, as administrative agent and collateral agent and the several lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 26, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 4.8 Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2009, by and among NCI Group, Inc. and Robertson-Ceco II Corporation, as borrowers, the Company and Steelbuilding.Com, Inc., as guarantors, Wells Fargo Foothill, LLC, as administrative and co-collateral agent, Bank of America, N.A. and General Electric Capital Corporation, as co-collateral agents and the lenders and issuing bank party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 26, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 4.9 Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2009, by and among the Company, as borrower or guarantor, certain domestic subsidiaries of the Company, as borrowers or guarantors, Wachovia Bank, National Association, as term loan agent and term loan administrative agent, Wells Fargo Foothill, LLC, as working capital agent and working capital administrative agent and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as control agent (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 26, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 4.10 Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2009 by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries in favor of Wachovia Bank, National Association as administrative agent and collateral agent (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 26, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)

4.11 Guaranty Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2009 by NCI Group, Inc., Robertson-Ceco II Corporation, the Company and Steelbuilding.com, Inc., in favor of Wells Fargo Foothill, LLC as administrative agent and collateral agent (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 26, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)

124

### **Table of Contents**

- 4.12 Pledge and Security Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2009, by and among the Company, NCI Group, Inc. and Robertson-Ceco II Corporation, to and in favor of Wells Fargo Foothill, LLC in its capacity as administrative agent and collateral agent (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 26, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 10.1 Employment Agreement, dated April 12, 2004, among the Company, NCI Group, L.P. and Norman C. Chambers (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to NCI s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 1, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 10.2 Amendment Agreement, dated August 14, 2009, among the Company, NCI Group, L.P. and Norman C. Chambers (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to NCI s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal ended November 1, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- \*10.3 Amended and Restated Bonus Program, as amended and restated as of December 6, 2010
  - 10.4 Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated on December 14, 2000 (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to NCI s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2000 and incorporated by reference herein)
  - 10.5 Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to NCI s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2000 and incorporated by reference herein)
  - 10.6 2003 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated March 12, 2009 (filed as Annex A to NCI s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting held March 12, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
  - 10.7 Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to NCI s registration statement no. 333-111139 and incorporated by reference herein)
  - 10.8 Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to NCI s registration statement no. 333-111139 and incorporated by reference herein)
  - 10.9 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Senior Executive Officers (Electronic) (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 7, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)
  - 10.10 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Key Employees (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 7, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)
  - 10.11 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 7, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)
  - 10.12 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Non-Employee Directors (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 23, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)
  - 10.13 Restricted Stock Agreement, dated April 26, 2004, between NCI and Norman C. Chambers (filed as exhibit 10.2 to NCI s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 1, 2004 and incorporated by reference herein)
  - 10.14 First Amendment, dated October 24, 2005, to Restricted Stock Agreement, dated April 26, 2004, between NCI and Norman C. Chambers (filed as Exhibit 10.21 to NCI s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005 and incorporated by reference herein)
  - 10.15 Restricted Stock Agreement, effective August 26, 2004, between NCI and Mark Dobbins (filed as Exhibit 10.15 to NCI s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal ended November 1, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
  - 10.16 Restricted Stock Agreement, effective August 26, 2004 between NCI and Charles Dickinson (filed as Exhibit 10.16 to NCI s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal ended November 1, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
  - 10.17 Amended and Restated NCI Building Systems, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (as amended and restated effective January 1, 2007) (filed as Exhibit 10.23 to NCI s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein)

10.18

First Amendment to the NCI Building Systems, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (as amended and restated effective October 20, 2009) (filed as Exhibit 10.18 to NCI s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal ended November 1, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)

10.19 Form of Employment Agreement between NCI and executive officers (filed as Exhibit 10.25 to NCI s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 28, 2007 and incorporated by reference herein)

125

### **Table of Contents**

- 10.20 Form of Amendment Agreement, dated August 14, 2009, among the Company, NCI Group, L.P. and executive officers (filed as Exhibit 10.20 to NCI s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal ended November 1, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 10.21 Form of Indemnification Agreement for Officers and Directors (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 22, 2008 and incorporated by reference herein)
- 10.22 Form of Director Indemnification Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to NCI s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 26, 2009 and incorporated by reference herein)
- \*21.1 List of Subsidiaries
- \*23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
- \*24.1 Powers of Attorney
- \*31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications (Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
- \*31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications (Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
- \*\*32.1 Certifications pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
- \*\*32.2 Certifications pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
- \* Filed herewith
- \*\* Furnished herewith

Management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements

126